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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be
a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Kingwisoft
Technology Group Company Limited & 2RI % (7 G IR A 7l
(the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having
made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.

Should there be any discrepancy between the English and Chinese versions, the
English version shall prevail, except for the details of main acquisitions completed
during the Year, business review and outlook under “Management Discussion and
Analysis”, for which the Chinese version shall prevail.
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Kingwisoft Technology Group Company Limited & 2R EE WK
B HBBRAF] (formerly known as ZZ Technology Group Company
Limited FIEEHEERZHD BB A R)]) (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”) (Stock Code: 08295)
is an investment holding company with its headquarter based in
Hong Kong. It was established in 2010 and is listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Group has acquired KingNine Holdings Limited (“KingNine")
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “KingNine Group”) on 15
October 2020 (the "Acquisition”), which constituted a very
substantial acquisition and connected transaction of the Company
under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”). The KingNine Group’s
principal activities include the provision of the following services in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"):

(@)  Back-office services (primarily provision of customer service
solutions, and setting up of contact service systems and
centres);

(b)  Comprehensive marketing and agency services; and

(c)  Data centre services.

The Group’s another subsidiary, Kingwisoft Credit Limited
(formerly known as ZZCl Credit Limited), holds a money lenders
licence, where the Group can complement its financial services

capabilities by providing finance against marketable securities.

Further information about the Group is available on the
Company'’s website at www.kwtech-group.com.
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Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to present the 2022/2023 annual report of Kingwisoft
Technology Group Company Limited & Z R EBRHBER A 7]
(formerly known as ZZ Technology Group Company Limited FRiE 7}
HEERKRMDAER AR (the “Company”),and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023 (the
“Year"/the “Reporting Period”).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

During the Year, the Group completed the following main
acquisitions:

1. 40% equity interest in Mianyang Kingwisoft Zhiyuan
Internet Service Co., Ltd.* (45 EBCE A BNRBER A
Al) (“Mianyang Zhiyuan”) which was a 60% non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group prior to the acquisition at a
cash consideration of RMB5 million.

Mianyang Zhiyuan is principally engaged in the provision of
back-office services (primarily provision of customer service
solutions and setting up of contact service systems and
centres) in the PRC. Mianyang Zhiyuan has been 100%
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group after completion of
the acquisition.

2. 100% equity interest in Beijing Huiweilai Technology Co.,
Ltd.* (AL R EBRREHLER A F]) (“Beijing Huiweilai”) at a
cash consideration of RMB 20 million.

Beijing Huiweilai is a technology service company focusing
on the local life service sector. It focuses on top customers in
many domestic cities in the emerging consumption sectors,
including food and beverage, leisure, shopping and
entertainment, hotel and traveling, and mobility. It helps
customers build a healthy local life ecosystem through
precise customer acquisition, scenario marketing, quality
supply chain, and local life e-commerce services to achieve
omni-channel smart growth. Beijing Huiweilai has been
accounted for as a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group
since the completion of the acquisition.

*  For identification purposes only

FR

KRR 2 Kingwisoft Technology Group Company
Limited @ ERIHEE R B R A AR EZZ
Technology Group Company Limited 7 {8 £} i &£ ]
RHBRAT) (ARE]) REMB AT (FHE [
E£E DEHZE2023F3A3MBLFE(AFE] TR
HHY]) 2 2022/2023 F ¥ -

FEANEARSE KELT - B
ARRAEREMO BRI R E

RAEE  NEBZER NI EEYE -

1. WESGSEZRIBEREAR AR (4
BEEDI0%KE REREAARE
5,000,000 7T * WEERT 42 B5 BUR B A S B %
B60% EEMFEREMBAR o

GIEBRFENPRYERERE RS (E
DIRE R PR R T R BB IRIE &
GRABD) - RIRBETERE @ BBEUERRKR A
REE100% 2 EWBAF

2. WBIERSRAMEAERAATIERZR
K E100% M E ReRE/RARE
20,000,0007T ©

IERBARKE —RBER AU S IR BRI
MRHRIS AR - HEREER - KBIR - TH
B - AT R B 2 (R T B #OH B SR AT
R BBREEER  GREH BEHE
# - AARERREEEREERESE
£ WARFPITERRERNONMAEERE
- BRBERETKE AL RBRR—HIE
REEENZEMBRRAR -



KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> £ #}- 45 45 [ 4 A FR A 7]

2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT 4F#}

Management Discussion and Analysis

Save as aforementioned, the Group had no significant investments
held, material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures during the Year.

Profit Guarantee

As disclosed in the announcement dated 10 September 2020 and
the circular dated 18 September 2020 (the “Circular”) published
by the Company, it entered into a share purchase deed on 10
September 2020 (the “Share Purchase Deed”) with regard to the
acquisition of the entire issued capital of KingNine Holdings
Limited (“KingNine"”) (the “Acquisition”). Unless otherwise defined
herein, all capitalized terms used in this report shall have same
meanings as those defined in the Circular.

Mr. Hu Shilong and Ms. Liu Yingying (the “Guarantors”) have
undertaken to the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Deed
that the audited consolidated net profit attributable to the equity
holders of KingNine in accordance with HKFRS for any given profit
guarantee period would not be less than the guaranteed profit in
respect of such profit guarantee period. The Company has
undertaken to the Guarantors that subject to the compliance of all
applicable laws and regulations (including the GEM Listing Rules
and the directors’ fiduciary duties and duties of skill, care and
diligence), it would use reasonable endeavours to procure the
directors of DaLian Kingwisoft nominated by it to act in the
interests of the Group as a whole during the entire profit
guarantee period.

In respect of the Guarantee Period commenced on 1 April 2019
and ended on 31 March 2020, the audited consolidated net profit
attributable to the equity holders of KingNine in accordance with
HKFRS was approximately RMB65.3 million, and is more than the
Guaranteed Profit in respect of this Guarantee Period (i.e. RMB60
million). In respect of the Guarantee Period commenced on 1 April
2020 and ended on 31 March 2021, the audited consolidated net
profit attributable to the equity holders of KingNine in accordance
with HKFRS was approximately RMB93.6 million, and is more than
the Guaranteed Profit in respect of this Guarantee Period (i.e.
RMB90 million). In respect of the Guarantee Period commenced
on 1 April 2021 and ended on 31 March 2022, the audited
consolidated net profit attributable to the equity holders of
KingNine in accordance with HKFRS was approximately RMB134.3
million, and is more than the Guaranteed Profit in respect of this
Guarantee Period (i.e. RMB120 million). In respect of the
Guarantee Period commenced on 1 April 2022 and ended on 31
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March 2023, the audited consolidated net profit attributable to
the equity holders of KingNine in accordance with HKFRS was
approximately RMB94.8 million, and is less than the Guaranteed
Profit in respect of this Guarantee Period (i.e. RMB150 million).
According to the Share Purchase Deed, the Founders shall
compensate the Company the Shortfall in cash (the
“Compensation”) in accordance with the formula set out in the
Share Purchase Deed. The Compensation for the Year was
approximately RMB41.5 million.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, due to the impacts of complex external factors such as
the COVID-19 pandemic and sluggish global economic growth,
China’s economic recovery was disrupted and growth of service
demand from some of our clients slowed down. In addition, the
Group experienced certain challenges in its business against the
backdrop of pandemic prevention and control. Despite the
foregoing, we have always been sticking to the improvement of
customer satisfaction and business health and sustainability,
worked closely with clients, and complied with government’s
pandemic prevention and control requirements. We took some
proactive and effective measures, including pandemic prevention
and control in the workplace, flexible working arrangements
(including working from home) and business interoperability in the
workplace, and managed to keep stable and continuous operation
of its businesses. However, those proactive measures, which
increased the operating costs of the Group, have had a significant
adverse impact on the its operation, especially its profitability. As a
result, the growth rate of the revenue from our primary business
declined and the corresponding profitability was impaired.

The Group generated revenue of approximately RMB888.6 million
for the financial year ended 31 March 2023, an increase of 21.1%
over the same period last year. In particular, revenue from back-
office services was approximately RMB837.0 million, accounting
for 94.2% of our total revenue. Insisting on innovation is the long-
term strategy of the Group. With the changes in consumer habits
and behaviours brought about by the pandemic, the innovative
business has continued to improve, and the results of the Internet
integrated marketing business have shown considerable growth,
an increase of 44.4% over the same period last year.
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During the Reporting Period, we continued to strengthen and
broaden our business relationships with leading clients in the fields
of Internet mobility, finance and securities, e-commerce, and live
streaming services. Our top five clients remain fairly stable.
Furthermore, in terms of new customers and new business
development, we have acquired a number of customers in the
field of Internet marketing services by deepening the incremental
market of the whole industry. The Group’s companies were listed
in the "2022 Leading Chinese Digital Services and Service
Outsourcing Enterprise (Customer Centre)”, named “Best
Employer” at the 2022 China Customer Service Festival and “Top
100 Chinese Service Brands”, and included in the editor’s choice
of the Customer World-"Top Ten Chinese Customer Centre
Outsourcing Brands of the Year 2022".

The Group, which has always adhered to independent innovation
and research and development, focuses on the innovation in
artificial intelligence and big data technologies and their
integration with and application in business scenarios, with
positive results achieved. The developed business scenarios cover
customer service business systems, digital operation and talent
management, training and practice, as well as merchant and
quality and performance management tools in the field of digital
marketing. During the Reporting Period, with quality professional
services and leading innovation, the Group’s companies obtained
CMMI (Capability Maturity Model Integration) Level 3 certification
for their software capability maturity model integration, and
acquired 1 new invention patent and 49 software copyrights
closely related to the Group’s business, accumulating 4 invention
patents (1 real trial) and 233 software copyrights. The Group’s
companies have been awarded the titles of “Top 100 Software
Enterprises in Dalian in 2022", “Core Competitive Enterprise of
Dalian Software Industry in 30 Years of Scale” and “Leading
Enterprise in Customer Service in Dalian Software Industry in 30
Years of Scale”, and have been invited to join Dalian Digital Trade
Association as a vice president entity. Moreover, two of the
Group's companies were selected as “Specialised and New"” SMEs,
marking a new stage in the Group’s continuous research and
development of technology scenarios and its service capability to
facilitate digital transformation of enterprises.

In addition, the Group expanded its self-operated contact service
centres in Puyang, Pingxiang, Shenyang, Xi‘an, Dalian, and
Chengdu during the Reporting Period, increasing the total number
of completed workstations in 34 self-operated contact service
centres to 18,794, an increase of 6,913 workstations from 11,881
workstations as of 31 March 2022.
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Financial Review
Results of the Group

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB888.6 million
for the Year (2022: approximately RMB734.0 million (restated)),
representing 21.1% increase as compared to that of last financial
year.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from contracts with customers
arising from the value-added telecommunication and related
services is as follows:

B 7 B g8
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2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT AREFIT
(Restated)
(ieE5)

Back-office services: ®EeR% -
Provision of customer service solutions REEFPREEARE 835,634 693,776
Set up of contact service systems and centres S/ B 48 BRI R4 K A D 1,340 663
836,974 694,439
Comprehensive marketing and agency services 2 [H & $5 & (L I8 RS 26,135 18,097
Data centre services g LR 25,513 21,485
888,622 734,021

During the Year, the Group incurred cost of services of
approximately RMB767.4 million (2022: approximately RMB546.9
million (restated)) which primarily consisted of staff costs,
subcontracting fees, rental expenses, depreciation and
amortisation. The increase in cost of services was mainly
attributable to increases in the abovementioned major cost items
as a result of the proactive measures taken by the Group for the
COVID-19 pandemic prevention and control as well as setting up
of new contact centres yet to reach their optimal operating scale.
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As the consolidated net profit attributable to the equity holders of
KingNine Group in accordance with HKFRS for the financial year
ended 31 March 2023 was less than RMB150 million, being the
amount of Guaranteed Profit for the financial year ended 31
March 2023 and pursuant to the Share Purchase Deed, the
Founders shall compensate the Company the Shortfall in cash (the
“Compensation”) in accordance with the formula set out in the
Share Purchase Deed. As such, the Group recognised a fair value
gain on contingent consideration of approximately RMB110.4
million (2022: Nil). Net other income and gains for the Year was
approximately RMB160.8 million (2022: approximately RMB31.7
million). The increase was mainly attributable to the Group
recognised the a fair value gain on contingent consideration
mentioned above and gain on derecognition of financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost of approximately RMB15.9 million
(2022: Nil) during the Year.

Based on the assessment by the Company’s management of the
latest available information and the overall economic environment,
the Group recognised a non-cash impairment loss on goodwill of
the cash-generating unit (“CGU") of KingNine Group of
approximately RMB349.4 million (2022: Nil). The impairment loss
on goodwill is a non-cash item and does not have an impact on
the Group's cash flows.

During the Year, the Group recorded net impairment losses on
financial assets of approximately RMB17.3 million (2022:
approximately RMB12.5 million) for the provision of expected
credit loss on accounts and other receivables. The Group recorded
a gain on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised
costs of approximately RMB13.9 million in the last financial year.
No such item was recorded during the Year.

The Group incurred marketing, research and development
expenses of approximately RMB42.3 million (2022: approximately
RMB37.3 million) in aggregate during the Year. Administrative
expenses for the Year was approximately RMB85.7million (2022:
approximately RMB87.7 million).

During the Year, the Group incurred finance costs of
approximately RMB25.5 million (2022: approximately RMB17.1
million) which mainly consisted of interests on consideration
payable arising from the acquisition of KingNine Group, bank and
other borrowings and lease liabilities.
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The Group’s income tax credit for the Year was approximately
RMBO0.9 million (2022: income tax expense of approximately
RMB12.9 million) which mainly consisted of provision of PRC
Enterprise Income Tax of approximately RMB5.0 million (2022:
approximately RMB13.7 million), offset by an overprovision in
prior period of approximately RMB1.9 million (2022: Nil) and
deferred tax credit of approximately RMB4.0 million (2022:
RMBO.8 million).

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year was
approximately RMB230.1 million, whereas the Group recorded a
profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB80.4 million for the last financial year.

Basic losses per share for the Year was approximately RMB5.03
cents (2022: Basic earnings per share approximately RMB1.92
cents), while diluted losses per share for the Year was the same as
basic losses per share of approximately RMB5.03 cents (2022:
Diluted earnings per share approximately RMB1.92 cents).

The Group’s total assets as at 31 March 2023 decreased by
approximately RMB81.3 million to approximately RMB1,492.8
million as compared with approximately RMB1,574.1 million as at
31 March 2022. The total liabilities of the Group as at 31 March
2023 decreased by approximately RMB15.8 million to
approximately RMB467.0 million as compared with approximately
RMB482.8 million as at 31 March 2022. Net assets value as at 31
March 2023 was approximately RMB1,025.9 million (31 March
2022: approximately RMB1,091.3 million).

Capital Structure, liquidity and financial
resources

The Board monitors the Group'’s capital structure by reviewing its
cash flow requirements and considering its future financial
obligations and commitments.

The Group’s operation and investments were financed by internal
resources, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as well as
the proceeds arising from the subscriptions of new shares of the
Company during the Year.
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During the Year, the Company issued a total of 587,500,000
subscription shares at a price of HK$0.4 per subscription share.
The net proceeds arising from the subscriptions, after deducting
the relevant expenses incidental to the subscriptions, amounted to
approximately RMB185.2 million.

As at 31 March 2023, aggregate of cash and bank balances and
pledged bank deposits of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB166.8 million (2022: approximately RMB86.0 million), which
were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollar and Renminbi
("RMB").

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of approximately RMB245.6 million (2022:
approximately RMB140.8 million), which were mainly
denominated in RMB. The interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings amounted to approximately RMB68.5 million (2022:
approximately RMB140.8 million) are repayable within one year
with the rest are repayable more than one year. Details of the
interest rate structure are set out in Note 30 to the financial
statements.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a current ratio of 3.6 and a
gearing ratio of 23.9% (2022: 2.1 and 12.9%, respectively). The
gearing ratio is computed by dividing the Group's interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings of approximately RMB245.6 million
(2022: approximately RMB140.8 million) by the Group's equity of
approximately RMB1,025.9 million (2022: approximately
RMB1,091.3 million).

For foreign currency risk, the Group will continue to monitor its
foreign currency exposure and will consider using hedging
instruments if available in respect of significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Commitments

The Group and the Company did not have any significant
commitment as at 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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Charge on the Group’s assets

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings were secured by certain assets of the Group.
Details of the Group’s pledges of assets are set out in note 30 to
the financial statements.

Employees and remuneration policies

As of 31 March 2023, the Group had 11,755 employees including
Directors (2022: 7,351 employees). Total staff cost (including
Directors’ emoluments) for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB559.9 million. Employees’ remuneration packages are decided
based on their job responsibilities, local market benchmarks and
industry trends. Employee discretionary bonus is distributable
according to the performance of the respective subsidiaries and
employees concerned.

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and
senior management of the Company with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (2022: Nil).

Future plans for material investments or capital
assets

The Group will focus on premium corporate clients in the Internet
and finance sectors to diversify its categories of services and
strengthen our customers’ stickness, which in turn help the Group
to generate economies of scale and gain more market share.

The Group will look into our business development and consider
acquiring or investing in relevant assets which form synergistic
effects with our principal business as and when appropriate.
Through the acquisition and investment, the Group can expand its
services categories and premium customer base and strengthen
our capability in research and development, which in turn identify
and meet demands from customers in a view to raise our core
competitiveness and profitability.
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Subscriptions of New Shares

On 15 July 2022 (after trading hours), the Company entered into
subscription agreements with Gfly Ltd. and Glink Resources
Limited respectively, pursuant to which Gfly Ltd. and Glink
Resources Limited have conditionally agreed to subscribe for and
the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue a total of
587,500,000 ordinary share(s) of par value of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company (the “Subscription Shares”, each a
“Subscription Share”) at a price of HK$0.4 per Subscription Share
(the “Subscriptions”). Gfly Ltd. is a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands with limited liability and is principally engaged
in investment holding. It is ultimately owned by Mr. Lyu Wenyang.
Glink Resources Limited is a company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability and is principally engaged in trading and
investment business. The trading business mainly involves bulk
commodity entrepot trade of metal products, whereas the
investment business includes equity investment and debt
investment. It is ultimately owned by Mr. Wang Peng. To the best
of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, and having
made all reasonable enquiries, both Gfly Ltd. and Glink Resources
Limited, and their respective ultimate beneficial owners are third
parties independent of the Company and not connected persons
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company.

The subscription price of HK$0.4 per Subscription Share
represents: (1) a premium of approximately 48.15% of the closing
price of HK$0.27 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for
the last five consecutive trading days up to and including 15 July
2022, being the date of the subscription agreements of the
Subscriptions; and (2) a premium of approximately 45.45% to the
closing price of HK$0.275 per Share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on 15 July 2022, being the date of the subscription
agreements of the Subscriptions.
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The Directors were of the view that the Subscriptions were in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole and the
allotment and issue of the Subscription Shares was an appropriate
mean of raising additional capital for the business operations of
the Group and to further strengthen the Group's financial position
since it would provide the Company with immediate funding and
the shareholders’ base of the Company would be broadened.

On 2 August 2022, 437,500,000 Subscription Shares and
150,000,000 Subscription Shares were issued and allotted to Gfly
Ltd. and Glink Resources Limited respectively under the
Subscriptions.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 15 July
2022 and 2 August 2022 for details of the Subscriptions.

The gross proceeds from the Subscriptions amounted to
approximately HK$235 million, and the net proceeds arising from
the Subscriptions, after deducting all relevant expenses incidental
to the Subscriptions, amounted to approximately HK$215 million.
As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 2 August
2022, the Company intended to apply the net proceeds in the
following manner:

(i) asto approximately HK$27 million of the net proceeds from
the Subscriptions towards existing business development
("Existing Business Development”);

(i) as to approximately HK$105 million of the net proceeds
towards business expansion and acquisition(s) regarding
new media business of providing live-streaming e-commerce
and digital marketing services (“Business Expansion and
Acquisition(s)”); and

(i) as to approximately HK$83 million of the net proceeds

towards general working capital of the Group (“General
Working Capital”).
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Having considered the recent market changes and the financial
position of the Group, the Directors resolved to change the use of
the net proceeds from the Subscriptions, being approximately
HK$215 million as follows: (i) as to approximately HK$27 million
for Existing Business Development; (i) as to approximately
HK$30.5 million for Business Expansion and Acquisition(s); and as
at the remaining balance of approximately HK$157.5 million for
General Working Capital. The revised allocation of the net
proceeds, the utilised and unutilised amounts of the net proceeds
as at 31 March 2023 are set out below:
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Having considered the recent market changes and the financial
position of the Group, the Directors are of the view that it would
be appropriate to re-allocate HK$74.5 million which were
originally allocated for Business Expansion and Acquisition(s) to
General Working Capital since it could enhance the financial
position and liquidity of the Group and meet the financial needs
of the Group. The Directors considered the above change in the
use of the net proceeds from the Subscriptions is fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

OUTLOOK

In 2023, China took steadiness as priority and sought progress
while maintaining stability. The prevention and control of the
pandemic took a quick and stable turnaround, the order of
production and life was restored at an accelerated pace, the
economy and society resumed normal operation, production
demand stabilized and rebounded, employment and prices were
generally stable, residents’ income continued to increase, market
expectations improved significantly, the service industry and
consumption recovered faster, and the economic operation
continued to restore the positive momentum. According to
preliminary estimates, the GDP in the first quarter was
RMB28,499.7 billion, up 4.5% year-on-year at constant prices and
up 2.2% from the fourth quarter of the previous year.

The service industry accommodates the most jobs among all
industries in China. The stabilization and improvement of the
service industry marks enhanced market expectations. According
to the National Bureau of Statistics, the value added of the service
sector grew by 5.4% year-on-year in the first quarter, 3.1
percentage points faster than that in the fourth quarter of the
previous year. Among them, modern service industries led the
growth of service industries, with the value added of information
transmission software and information technology services,
financial services, and leasing and business services increasing by
11.2%, 6.9% and 6.0%, respectively, in the first quarter of 2023.
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Cross-industry or intra-industry integration is an irreversible trend
of industrial change in the era of the new technological revolution
and digital economy, and is also the inevitable path of modern
industrial development and evolution. Digital technology is
innovating the consumer scene, stimulating consumer vitality,
profoundly changing consumer behaviour, and bringing innovative
business models. Meanwhile, with the accumulative consumer
demand released, emerging sectors of the service industry have
shown active development. The Chinese government has issued a
series of policies for the entertainment and media industry and its
sub-sectors to promote the development of the industry, deepen
the integration of new technologies with the industry, and create
and expand new scenes of consumption through digital
empowerment and the integration of business, tourism, culture,
and sports. New e-commerce models such as live e-commerce,
content e-commerce and social e-commerce have emerged, and
products such as digital shopping malls, smart stores and
membership stores that integrate offline entities with the digital
economy have also achieved rapid penetration, providing multiple
information acquisition and consumption channels for C-users.

The new service industry is bursting with new vitality as consumer
dynamics continue to be stimulated. In the first quarter, online
retail sales of physical goods increased by 7.3% year-on-year,
accounting for 24.2% of the total retail sales of consumer goods.

As the Group’s major clients are players from sectors such as
finance and securities, telecommunication operators and Internet,
they are expected to recover rapidly with the continued economic
recovery and the gradual rise of new endogenous momentum,
while the far-reaching impact of the pandemic on people’s
education, mobility and shopping will further promote the
booming development of Internet companies, which are expected
to bring the Group’s business more opportunities for rapid
growth.
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We will pay close attention to the impact of macro policies on
clients’ businesses, and maintain close communication with
clients. We will take diversified measures to make active responses.
Meanwhile, we will actively explore and seek new business
opportunities in the financial industry and livestreaming
e-commerce, actively grasp the good opportunities for business
development, and effectively expand its business presence in
China, to realise healthy growth, thereby enhancing shareholder
value.

The Group keeps working hard and opening new territories in the
back-office services field. In addition to the organic growth of
orders from existing customers in the already penetrated industries
due to the business growth of customers, new orders have been
obtained in the operator service field and traditional financial field,
and from new leading Internet companies, and the Group has
started the implementation of new business in an organised
manner. We will continuously promote its participation in project
tendering, implementation, and construction of self-operated
contact centres to provide personnel, sites, and other special
supports for new orders to achieve revenue and profit
contribution.

In terms of Internet marketing, the Group continues to expand its
presence in the field of live e-commerce and digital marketing
services, and gets fully integrated with its existing Internet
marketing promotion capabilities and experience. In exploring the
integration of quality and effectiveness, the Group has established
the livestreaming service framework from goods selection to
delivery and from store operation to livestreaming promotion in
line with marketing trends. It will establish presence in the field of
local lifestyle and cross-border e-commerce businesses while
always striving to achieve the integration of quality and
effectiveness. Furthermore, the Group has acquired several service
clients. It is working on deeper integration of its established digital
marketing service capabilities with the new consumption
scenarios, creating a healthier ecology and enhancing its service
capabilities to ensure that the Group will have more confidence
and strength in weathering economic cycles and dealing with
external impacts.

20

BASENRIZBRREEFPEBNTE A
HEEFREETER  RRZENERRGE
 RAREEREMNSKERTE EHEER
EBRANMEBEE  BRICEAREHER
R WIHBEMARABDERANNEBHRE -
BEREFER - EMEABREE -

EReRGAERFEHAEMFABRL - BKRT
FREOTXRBEFPNFEBEPEBKERNANA
BRI HEERRBRE  ERE A
MEBEBELARBCISHNTE  YEFF
FIIART ISR TE - RIS FEHERBRIT -
BN B EBATONER - RITERIERMHA
B SEREXS  BREAMFBER -

EEMEZHEIE  AREEERERMEFL
EHERGAESERR  YHREANEHEZHE
HEENNERAEIBE  EERBUA —HRK
R CIEEZHEREZTOERDEE 1t
EES R ERERMERRGIER - MR
ERMBIRERES AR SmEERMRE —
M7 WEZEHRBDERMNT ZRRHEE
P RREERCDERNBFEHRTE DR
HEISRINARA @ BB EE fEFr LR
RIRGEE S - REAREFULHAEY - EY
SNEPEERS c EARR C EAREL



KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4 £ R} 7 42 B e 40 4 FR A 7]

2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT 4F#}

Management Discussion and Analysis

APPRECIATION

We would like to take this opportunity to sincerely thank the
management members of the Board and all employees of the
Group for their efforts and contributions to the promotion of the
development of the Group in the past year. We also extend our
sincere thanks to our Shareholders and partners for their
continued support and trust. At the same time, | would like to
express my sincere gratitude for the valuable advice, guidance and
support provided by other relevant organizations.

By Order of the Board

QIU Xiaojian
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2023
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. QIU Xiaojian, aged 37, was appointed as an executive
director of the Company in February 2023. Mr. QIU is also the
Chairman of the Board, the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and a
member of the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”). He also holds several directorships
in certain other subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. QIU has been serving as the director of Hubei Mailyard Share
Co., Ltd.* CHILERIER D BR A F]), a company whose shares
were listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
600107), since May 2020 (re-designated as the non-independent
director on 25 October 2022), the president of Zhonghai
Shengrong (Beijing) Capital Management Group Co., Ltd.* (08
mEL(dE ) EREREEAR QA (“Zhonghai Shengrong”)
since July 2020 and the co-chairman of Zhongzhi Capital
Management Co., Ltd.* (FFIEE AREEHRR A7) since December
2022. Prior to that, Mr. QIU worked as the chief financial officer in
Zhonghai Shengrong from January 2019 to July 2020, the chief
financial officer in Zhongtai Chuangzhan Holdings Co., Ltd.* (/#
ZE B R 12 B% B BR A &) (“Zhongtai Chuangzhan”) from March
2016 to December 2018, the general manager of Financial
Operations Center in Zhongtai Chuangzhan from December 2014
to March 2016, the deputy general manager of Financial
Operations Center in Zhongtai Chuangzhan from December 2013
to December 2014, the senior audit manager of Program Audit
Centre in Zhongzhi Enterprise Group* (18 1 2 % ) ("ZEG")
from July 2013 to December 2013, the senior investment manager
of Financial Innovation Department in ZEG from January 2013 to
July 2013 and the assistant manager of KPMG Huazhen LLP from
September 2008 to January 2013. Mr. QIU graduated from
Renmin University of China with a bachelor’s degree of Economics
in June 2008.

Mr. LI Xiang, aged 34, was appointed as an executive director of
the Company in February 2023. Mr. Ll is also the compliance
officer and an authorized representative of the Company. He also
holds several directorships in certain other subsidiaries of the
Company.

*  For identification purposes only
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Mr. LI has been serving as the deputy general manager of
Investment Department in Zhonghai Shengrong from January
2017 to February 2023. Prior to that, Mr. LI worked as the deputy
manager of Corporate Business Department in Industrial Bank
Co., Ltd. Shenzhen Branch* (B % E1TH (D B R A FFEIID1T)
from April 2015 to January 2017. Mr. LI graduated from Harbin
Institute of Technology with a bachelor’s degree of Electrical
Engineering & Automation in July 2012. He also received a
master’s degree in Electrical and Electronic Engineering from the
University of Hong Kong in November 2014.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, aged 69, joined the Group in June
2016 as an independent non-executive director of the Company,
the chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) and a member of the Nomination Committee.

Mr. MARKSCHEID is managing partner at Aerion Capital, LLC. He
is currently an independent director of Fanhua Financial Holdings
Group, JinkoSolar Holdings Limited, UGE Inc. and Monterey
Capital Acquisition Corporation. Fanhua Financial Holdings Group
and Monterey Capital Acquisition Corporation are listed on the
Nasdaqg Stock Exchange (“NASDAQ"), while JinkoSolar Holdings
Limited is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), and
UGE is listed in Canada. Mr. MARKSCHEID also served as a
director for China Integrated Energy Corporation (formerly a
NASDAQ listed company) and China Mingyang Wind Power
Group Co., Ltd. (a former NYSE listed company). He is also a
trustee of Princeton in Asia. From 1998 to 2006, Mr.
MARKSCHEID worked for GE Capita (“GE"). During his tenure at
GE, he led GE’s business development efforts in China and Asia
Pacific, primarily acquisitions and direct investments. Before
joining GE, Mr. MARKSCHEID worked at Boston Consulting Group
throughout Asia. Mr. MARKSCHEID has worked in London,
Chicago, New York, Hong Kong and Beijing for ten years with
commercial banks Chase Bank and First National Bank of Chicago,
and has many years of professional experience in the financial
services industry. Mr. MARKSCHEID received his Bachelor of Arts
degree from Princeton University in 1976 and his Master of
International Affairs degree from Johns Hopkins University in
1980.

*  For identification purposes only
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Mr. ZHANG Weidong, aged 58, joined the Group in July 2016 as
an independent non-executive director of the Company, the
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee.

Mr. ZHANG was the executive director of OP Financial Investments
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
01140) and a partner of Oriental Patron Financial Group primarily
responsible for private equity investments. Mr. ZHANG has over
14 years of experience in the operation and management of
commercial banking, during which he worked in the international
business department of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of
China Limited (“ICBC") with final position level as deputy general
manager of department, including 3 years in ICBC Almaty Branch,
where he was in charge of treasury, credit lending and office
operations. Moreover, Mr. ZHANG has 12 years of investment
banking experience, served as executive director of ICEA Finance
Group (the investment banking arm of ICBC) and managing
director of Alpha Alliance Finance Holdings, responsible for
corporate finance and sales department respectively. He is also an
independent non-executive Director of Tianjin Port Development
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 03382) whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and founding partner and
president of Alpha Win Capital Limited. Mr. ZHANG holds a
master degree from Renmin University in Economics, a diploma of
Programme for Management Development of Harvard Business
School and held a fellowship from Columbia University in New
York.
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Mr. ZENG Liang, aged 49, joined the Group in April 2021 as an
independent non-executive director of the Company, the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee.

Mr. ZENG is a well-known Internet entrepreneur and angel
investor. He has extensive experience in strategic planning,
business development and operation management in industries
such as digital marketing, mobile Internet and artificial intelligence
applications. Mr. ZENG served as senior vice president of Kingdee
International Software Group Company Limited from 2003 to
2010. He worked for Microsoft as vice president of Greater China
Region from 2010 to 2013 and was responsible for the
development of government, education and medical industries in
the region. From 2013 to 2017, he held several executive positions
including vice president of Baidu Inc. and general manager of
Baidu Nuomi. Mr. ZENG obtained Master of Science both in
Management and in Engineering from Georgia Institute of
Technology in USA. In addition, he holds another Master of
Science in Engineering degree from Tsinghua University in Beijing.

Mr. WANG Li, aged 38, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company in October 2022. Mr. WANG is
a registered lawyer in the People’s Republic of China.

Mr. WANG has been serving as a managing partner and an
executive director of Beijing Qincheng Consulting Service
Company Limited* (3t R34 AR5 B R 2 A1) since September
2019, where he is fully responsible for the operation of the
company. Prior to that, he worked as the deputy general manager
of the human resources centre of Beijing Wanda Cultural Industry
Group Co., Ltd.* JtREELEF LB FRAR]) from August
2015 to August 2019, the secretary of the General Office and the
deputy researcher of Department of Personnel and Education of
Ministry of Transport of the People’s Republic of China from July
2011 to July 2015, and an assistant lawyer of Haiwen & Partners
(Beijing Office) from September 2010 to June 2011. Mr. WANG
obtained a bachelor’s degree of science in atmospheric sciences
from Nanjing University in 2007 and received a master’s degree in
law from Peking University in 2011.

*  For identification purposes only
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The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in investment holding,
provision of back-office services (primarily provision of customer
service solutions, and setting up of contact service systems and
centres), comprehensive marketing and agency services and data
centre services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, Chapter 622
of the laws of Hong Kong has been covered in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” section as well as this Directors’ Report
of this annual report. Risk disclosure sections that follow hereafter
should be read in conjunction with the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements. These form part of this directors’ report.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Compliance Risk

Dalian Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group,
as a client service outsourcer, will obtain a large amount of
personal information from clients. According to the contracts
signed between the Company and clients and in compliance with
the Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Regulations on the Protection of Personal Information of
Telecommunications and Internet Users, the Group is responsible
for keeping all relevant information confidential.
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Although the Company has implemented strict internal control
procedures to ensure the security and confidentiality of the
database, it cannot guarantee that the personal information of
clients will not be leaked or stolen. Leakage of confidential
information due to employee errors will expose the Group to
claims from clients. At the same time, in the unfortunate event of
leakage of client information, the worst thing is that existing or
potential clients may lose confidence in the Group's ability to keep
information confidential, which will have a negative impact on the
Group's corporate image and market position in the industry.

The Company’s Awareness of Risks and the Measures
It Has Taken

The Group takes quite strict measures to ensure information
confidentiality, in order to minimise the risk of information
leakage.

The contracts signed between the Company and clients include
confidentiality clauses. It needs to strictly keep project information
confidential in accordance with the contract terms. Once a new
project is established and the Company has signed a contract with
the client, only authorised employees have access to the
information, and other employees is not allowed to access relevant
project information. Service contracts are sent to an independent
file room for safekeeping by a designated person. In general,
service contracts cannot be taken out. If a relevant employee
needs to check the contracts, he/she needs the approval of the
relevant department head. A person shall record the lending of
the contracts. Employees cannot take away confidential
information without authorisation.

In addition, all employees are required to sign a confidentiality
agreement when joining the Company to prohibit unauthorised
disclosure of confidential information of the Company. In case of
any violation, the employee involved will be held liable for legal
and financial consequences.

The Company has been certified for its information security
system, and has passed the annual review. During the financial
year, the Group has not found any leakage of confidential client
information. The Group attaches great importance to and abides
by the terms of the confidentiality agreement to ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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Each employee must “punch in and out”. The apps or mini
programmes in the smartphone are used to strengthen employees’
whereabouts record, with a view to reducing the risk of leakage
of confidential information.

The Group has also obtained the ISO 27001 Information Security
Management System Certification.

Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Please refer “Contractual Arrangements — Risks
Relating to the Contractual Arrangements” from pages 43 to 44
of this report for details.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group's policies and practices are environmentally friendly. To
help conserve the environment, the management has
implemented green office practices and practice of recycling and
reducing consumption of resources. The Group commits to
maintain awareness within the Group of the responsibility of the
Group and its employees to ensure protection of the environment.
For example, purchasing the environmentally preferable products
with reputable certifications or labels, transmission of bulk
documents through electronic means, marking up of documents
electronically rather than using printed version, double-sided black
& white printing, recycling of printed papers and envelops, and
switching off lights and air-conditioning after working/non-office
hours, public holidays.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations is a cornerstone of
operating the businesses of the Group. Changes in laws, rules,
regulations and enforcement practices may constantly pose
challenges to the operation of the Group. Amongst others, the
Group operates within the confine of the relevant company laws
in Hong Kong, Cayman Islands, British Virgin Islands and The
People’s Republic of China, as well as under the GEM Listing Rules
and the Securities Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of
Hong Kong (“SFO").
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Kingwisoft Credit Limited (formerly known as ZZCl Credit Limited)
holds a money lender’s licence and is subject to the provisions of
the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the laws of Hong
Kong). To provide for the control and regulation of money lenders
and money lending transactions mainly involves, the Commissioner
of Police and Registrar of Money Lenders. The Group has
established and maintained adequate policies and procedures to
ensure compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. In
addition, the Group has also adopted a whistleblowing policy for
reporting of wrong-doing within the Group. The whistleblowing
policy can be found in the Group’s compliance manual which is
regularly reviewed and updated as and when necessary.

Key relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders

The Group has developed and implemented a remuneration
structure which is a key for the Group to attract and retain the
best talents. Details of emolument policy and employee benefits
are set out in the section headed “Employees and remuneration
policies” under “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report. There have been no material interruptions to
operations nor any material labour disputes to date. In addition,
the Group encourages and supports employees to attend courses,
seminars and workshops that are relevant to their jobs to obtain
up-skills so as to keep them challenged and engaged as well as
assist the Group’s sustainable business success.

In particular to the COVID-19 virus situation, the Group has also
implemented special arrangement including some special
allowance and practices for the protection of employees’ health
and safety.

The Group has maintained productive relationships with its
customers, investees, co-investors and suppliers. With its
professional board, company website, financial reports and the
annual general meeting, the Group has significantly improved its
transparency and communication with its shareholders. The
controlling shareholder has also been very supportive and
resourceful in growing the business and mindful of all
shareholders’ interests to see the Company succeed.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of
the Group as at 31 March 2023 are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 90 to 226 of this annual report.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy in June 2019 (the
“Dividend Policy”). The declaration, form, frequency and amount
of dividend paid by the Company must be in accordance with all
applicable laws, rules and regulations and subject to the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”). The
Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio. When considering dividend declaration or recommendation,
the Board shall take into account a number of factors, including
but not limited to the Group’s business condition and strategy,
capital requirement; and earnings, financial and cash flow
position, and distributable reserves.

Having considered the factors stated in the Dividend Policy
adopted by the Company, the Board does not recommend the
payment of a dividend for the Year (2022: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 7 August 2023 to Wednesday, 9 August 2023 (both
days inclusive) for the purpose of determining the entitlement to
attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM"). During which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the AGM, all completed transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged
with the Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar of the Company,
Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on Friday, 4 August 2023.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in the property and equipment of the Group during
the Year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 32
to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders comprising share premium account
and accumulated loss amounted to approximately RMB390.8
million (31 March 2022: RMB793.4 million). Details of the
Company’s distributable reserves as at 31 March 2023 are set out
in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and as at the date of this report are
as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. QIU Xiaojian (Chairman) (appointed on 7 February 2023)
Mr. NIU Zhanbin (Chairman) (resigned on 6 March 2023)
Mr. LIU Yang (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 5 June 2022 and resigned on 6 March 2023)
Mr. JIJANG Yulin (Chief Executive Officer) (removed on 5 June 2022)
Mr. LI Xiang (appointed on 7 February 2023)
Mr. WU Hui (Chief Operating Officer) (resigned on 6 March 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID

Mr. ZHANG Weidong

Mr. ZENG Liang

Mr. WANG Li (appointed on 21 October 2022)

Biographical details of the Directors currently in service are set out
on pages 22 to 25 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Group which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, change in
information of Directors are set out below:

EEERNEE
1R GEM TR BIE 17.50A(1) 1§ - EEEREE
T

Name of Director Details of change

EEpns BEHE
Mr. LI Xiang Resigned as the deputy general manager of Investment Department in Zhonghai
FEEL Shengrong (Beijing) Capital Management Group Co., Ltd. in February 2023

R2023F2 ARIEFEER (LR EAEEEBAR A RRE I 2 25518

Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID
Stephen MARKSCHEID 4t 4

Resigned as chief financial officer of Childwise International, an early childhood
educator training company, in August 2022

742022 F 8 A BHE ) R HANIE

IAREERR 2 BEENBE

Appointed as managing partner at Aerion Capital, LLC in August 2022
#2022 % 8 A Aerion Capital, LLCZ BEEAE A

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that Directors shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities incurred or sustained in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given
in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. The Company has
maintained liability insurance to provide appropriate cover for the
directors of the Group during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors and chief executive of
the Company had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong
("SFO™)) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by the Directors to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2023, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group:
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Long positions in share of the Company RN RO FE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held in the Company
A2 B RFEN
BRRER HE &4 B A BHAED
Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company Beneficial owner 2,409,823,718 50.46%
Limited (“Zhongzhi Xinzhuo") (Note 1)
Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company EmEBA
Limited ([Zhongzhi Xinzhuo 1) (A#7E 1)
Kang Bang Qi Hui (HK) Company Limited Beneficial owner 455,820,525 9.54%
(“Kang Bang (HK)") (Note 1)
EAEE(EER)BR AR BEHEAA
(TEFAEE)D(HF1)
Tian Xi Capital Company Limited Interest of controlled corporation  2,865,644,243 60.00%
(“Tian Xi Capital”) (Note 1)
Tian Xi Capital Company Limited AR HAE R
([Tian Xi Capital 1) (Kta£ 1)
Zhong Zhi Ze Yun Capital Company Limited Interest of controlled corporation 2,865,644,243 60.00%

("Ze Yun Capital”) (Note 1)
Zhong Zhi Ze Yun Capital Company Limited
([Ze Yun Capital ]) (#tsE 1)

REHAE R
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held in the Company
EA A B RER
BRRER HH =37 FERGEE BOBDL
Mr. XIE Zhikun* (“Mr. Xie") (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 2,865,644,243 60.00%
frEREE (ML) (M) R EE R RS
Gfly Ltd (Note 2) Beneficial owner 437,500,000 9.16%
Gfly Ltd (Afzt2) EnEBEA
LVYY Cayman Limited (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 437,500,000 9.16%
LVYY Cayman Limited (K1z£2) ZESEEEE
LVYY Holding Limited (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 437,500,000 9.16%
LVYY Holding Limited (/7% 2) REsEE R
Mr. Lyu Wenyang (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 437,500,000 9.16%
Lyu Wenyang 5c 4 (fifa# 2) ZEfEEERE
NINEGO Corporation (“NINEGO") (Note 3) Beneficial Owner 211,970,219 4.44%
NINEGO Corporation ([NINEGO |) (#f# 3) EDmBAA
Mr. Hu Shilong (“Mr. Hu") (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 211,970,219 4.44%
FAERE SR A (TRAEAE D (BT 3) R EE R RS
Ms. Liu Yingying (“Ms. Liu”) (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 211,970,219 4.44%

Bt ([81%L ) (AE3)

# Mr. Xie passed away on 18 December 2021.
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Notes:

1. Each of Zhongzhi Xinzhuo and Kang Bang (HK) is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Tian Xi Capital. Ze Yun Capital, a company wholly-owned by
Mr. Xie, controls 100% of the voting power at general meetings of Tian Xi
Capital. As such, each of Tian Xi Capital, Ze Yun Capital and Mr. Xie is
deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 2,865,644,243 shares of the
Company held by Zhongzhi Xinzhuo and Kang Bang (HK) by virtue of the
SFO.

2. Gfly Ltd is a wholly-owned subsidiary of LVYY Cayman Limited. LVYY
Cayman Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of LVYY Holding Limited, a
company wholly-owned by Mr. Lyu Wenyang. As such, each of LVYY
Cayman Limited, LVYY Holding Limited and Mr. Lyu Wenyang is deemed
to be interested in 437,500,000 shares of the Company held by Gfly Ltd by
virtue of the SFO.

3. NINEGO is held by Mr. Hu as to 40.60% and Ms. Liu as to 59.40%. As
such, Mr. Hu and Ms. Liu are deemed to be interested in 211,970,219
shares of the Company held by NINEGO by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Directors were
not aware of any other person (other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company, its subsidiaries or
its ultimate holding company or any subsidiary of such ultimate
holding company a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party or were parties and in which a Director or any entities
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or in existence during the Year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the Year had the
Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of
significance with the controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries, nor had any contract of significance been entered
into for the services provided by the controlling shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has through the Nomination Committee reviewed
the independence of each of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, Mr. ZHANG
Weidong, Mr. ZENG Liang and Mr. WANG Li who were in service
during the Year, and has received annual confirmations of their
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
These written confirmations also covered the immediate family
members (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) of each of the
independent non-executive Directors. The Company considers all
of them independent.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The transactions contemplated under the series of contractual
arrangements entered into by, among others, WFOE, Dalian
Kingwisoft, and Mr. Hu Shilong, Ms. Liu Yingying, Ms. Zhou Fang
and Changzhou Xiangjia Zhongzhou Investment Centre Limited
Partnership* (H M AFEFAHEEFR L (BRAR)) (the “Registered
Shareholders”) on 12 June 2020 (the “Contractual Arrangements”)
are non-exempt continuing connected transactions, which are
subject to reporting, annual review and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

For the purposes of Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, and in
particular the definition of “connected person”, the entities we
control through the Contractual Arrangements (collectively, the
"Consolidated Affiliated Entities”), including but not limited to,
Dalian Kingwisoft, Chengdu Kingwisoft Data Services Co., Ltd.*
(FEP & 23S BUR RIS B R 2 7)), Wuhan Kingwisoft Technology
Co., Ltd.* (I E2EME B AR 2QF]), Kunshan Kingwisoft
Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (B4 Z{Z BRI AR AR,
Leshan Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd.* (44L& Z /AR EGR
Aa)), Luzhou Kingwisoft Data Services Co., Ltd.* (& & Z g%
HIEBRTE AR A F]), Xiangyang Kingwisoft Internet Technology
Co., Ltd.* (B2 E0HAERFE AR AF]), Qingdao Nanyou
Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (5 &m &z B RMAR A F],
formerly known as It RE#{z 2 FMT AR A A]), DaLian
Kingwisoft Internet Service Outsourcing Co., Ltd.* (KiESZFhE
WEERFSINE B PR A 7)), Mianyang Kingwisoft Zhiyuan Internet
Service Co., Ltd.* (#3532 BCR BB AARS AR 2 7)) and Dalian
Zhiyin Internet Technology Co., Ltd.* (K845 R BB A EHE AR A
7)), are treated as the Company’s subsidiaries, and their directors,
chief executives or substantial shareholders (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) and their respective associates are treated as the
Company'’s connected persons.

* for identification purpose only
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Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements

As advised by the PRC legal advisor, in accordance with the
Telecommunication Regulations of the PRC ((#F#E A R £ FIBE
{Z1&51)) promulgated on 25 September 2000, and most recently
amended on 6 February 2016, by the State Council of the PRC (the
“Telecommunication Regulations”), a service provider is required
to obtain a value-added telecommunication business operating
license ((IZ{EEBZEMLL LT AIE)) (“VATS Licence”) from the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC (the
“MIIT") or its authorised local counterpart before commencing the
provision of value-added telecommunication services ("VAT
Services”). Further, under the Catalogue of Telecommunication
Business ({ & 15 % 7% % 8 B £%)) promulgated on 28 December
2015, and most recently amended on 6 June 2019, by MIIT (the
“Telecommunication Catalogue”), call centre services is a type of
VAT Services, thus any provider of call centre services in China is
required to obtain a VATS Licence before commencing its
operation.

In accordance with the Telecommunication Catalogue:

(i) call centre services mean business consultation, information
consultation and data query services regarding an entity for
the end-users of such entity through public communication
network by: (a) utilising call centre system which is
connected to public communication network or the Internet;
(b) utilising database technology; and (c) establishing
information base through information collection, processing
and storage;

(i) users of call centre services may: (a) enter into a call centre
system and gain access to the database of the call centre
system through multiple channels such as telephone, fax,
mobile communication terminals and computer terminals;
and (b) receive information consultation services by multiple
means such as voice, fax, email and text messages; and

(i) call centre services also include leasing of call centre system
and workstations of call centre operators.
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Furthermore, under the Regulations for the Administration of
Foreign-Invested Telecommunication Enterprises ( {SNEIEE B
PEEEFT) ) promulgated on 11 December 2001, and
amended on 10 September 2008, 6 February 2016, 29 March
2022, by the State Council (the "FITE Regulations”) and the
Administrative Measures for Telecommunication Business
Operating Permit ( ( BEFEBLCETT A EIRNE) ) promulgated
on 3 July 2017 by MIIT (the “Telecommunication Measures”):

(i) the establishment of a foreign-invested telecommunication
enterprise which engages in the provision of any VAT
Services in China must be approved by the MIIT or its
authorised local counterparts;

(i)  the holder of a VATS Licence is required to obtain the
approval of the MIIT and/or its authorised local counterparts
if there is any change to the shareholders of such holder;
and

(iii)  prior to the effective date of the latest amendments to the
FITE Regulations, which was on 1 May 2022, the main
foreign investor in a foreign-invested telecommunication
enterprise which engages in the provision of VAT Services
must satisfy the Qualification Requirement of VATS,
including, a proven track record of good performance, and
operating experience, in carrying on value-added
telecommunication business.

On 29 March 2022, the State Council issued the Decision to
Amend and Abolish Certain Administrative Regulations (the “2022
Decision”), which makes amendments to the FITE Regulations.
The amendments include, among others, removing the good
performance and operating experience for main foreign investors
in a foreign-invested telecommunication enterprise which
conducting VAT Services as set out in the FITE Regulations.
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As advised by the PRC legal advisor, the business operated by the
Dalian Kingwisoft Group (the “Dalian Kingwisoft Business”),
comprising the back-office services (primarily provision of
customer service solutions and setting up of contact service system
and centres), can be further categorised into:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

business consultation, information consultation and data
query services on behalf of an entity for the customers of
such entity (such as general enquiry hotlines, customer
service hotlines, post-sale follow-up services and customer
satisfaction surveys) by utilising call centre system (which is
connected to public communication network or the Internet)
and/or database technology (the “Contact Services”);

information processing, business consultation and other
customised business process outsourcing services on behalf
of an entity for the customers of such entity (such as order
processing, audio and video review and image processing)
by utilising call centre system (which is connected to public
communication network or the Internet) and/or database
technology (the “Call Center-related BPO Services”); and

designing, installing, testing and trial-testing contact service
systems and centres which is connected to public
communication network or the Internet for an entity, and
providing software and hardware support for such contact
service system and centres, in each case with a view to, or in
connection with, providing Contact Services on behalf of
such entity for the customers of such entity (the “Contact
Service System and Centres Set-up Services").

As each of the Contact Services, the Call Center-related BPO
Services and the Contact Service System and Centres Set-up
Services involves the provision of services by the DaLian Kingwisoft
Group on behalf of an entity for the customers of such entity
through public communication network by:

(i)
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utilising call centre system which is connected to public
communication network or the Internet;
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(i) utilising database technology; and

(i) establishing information base through information
collection, processing and storage,

the provision of the DaLian Kingwisoft Business by the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group constitutes the provision of call centre services,
one type of VAT Services, by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group.
Therefore, in accordance with the Telecommunication Regulations,
the DalLian Kingwisoft Group is required to hold VATS Licences in
order to operate the Dalian Kingwisoft Business.

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements are continuing connected transactions of our
Company and are subject to reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Qualification Requirements

In addition to restrictions on foreign ownership, prior to the
effective date of the latest amendments to the FITE Regulations,
which was on 1 May 2022, there are also regulatory requirements
on the experience and operations of a foreign investor who intends
to operate a value-added telecommunications business in the PRC.

According to the FITE Regulations, a foreign investor who invests in
VAT Services business in the PRC must possess the Qualification
Requirement of VATS, while the 2022 Decision repeals the
Qualification Requirements of VATS. The PRC legal advisor has
advised that, as at the date of this report, the MIIT retains
considerable discretion in granting approval of applications for
establishing foreign-invested value-added telecommunications
enterprises.
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Effects and Actions Under Taken to Comply with
the Qualification Requirements

The Group has been gradually building up the track record of
overseas VAT Services operations by undertaking the following

steps:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

As at the date of this report, the Group has been rewarded
through its cooperation with its international partners, and
commenced working on, certain projects to provide offshore
customer support services in foreign languages, including
Japanese and English. The Group plans to continue
expanding its offshore customer support services business
involving foreign languages in overseas markets;

The Group is strengthening its close cooperation relationship
with its international partners, such as SoftBank, with the
aim of gradually exploring business opportunities and
developing its customer base overseas. The Group also plans
to build up its track record of overseas VAT Services
operation by obtaining overseas projects through
collaboration between its onshore and offshore entities; and

It is the Group’s strategy to identify suitable offshore
companies with proper value-added telecommunications
services operation and acquire a controlling stake in such
companies in future, in order to build up its track record of
overseas VAT Services operation.

We will continue to actively manage the operation of the Group
and procure the Group to continue carrying out the above steps
for the purpose of being qualified, as early as possible, to acquire
the entire shareholding in DaLian Kingwisoft when the relevant
PRC Laws and authorities allow foreign investors to invest and
hold interest in enterprises which engage in VAT Services.
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In addition, the Group has taken the following steps with a view
to gradually building up its track record of overseas VAT Services
operations, demonstrating compliance with the Qualification
Requirement of VATS, and being qualified, as early as possible, to
acquire the entire equity interest in the registered capital of DaLian
Kingwisoft when there is clear guidance and interpretation on the
Qualification Requirement of VATS under applicable PRC Laws,
regulations and rules and when, as a matter of regulatory policy
and practice, the MIIT and its authorised local counterparts will
accept and approve applications by the members of the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group which engage in the provision of VAT Services
to be converted into foreign invested telecommunication
enterprises which engage in the provision of VAT Services:

(i) the Group is in the process of registering trademarks outside
the PRC for the purpose of promoting VAT Services
operations outside the PRC;

(i) the Group has registered one domain name outside the PRC
for the purpose of introducing VAT Services operations
outside the PRC to users outside the PRC; and

(i) the Group has obtained a local phone number in Hong
Kong for the purpose of promoting VAT Services operations
outside the PRC.

We will, under the guidance of the PRC legal advisor, make
periodic enquiries with the relevant PRC governmental authorities
to understand whether there is any new regulatory development
and continuously assess whether we meet the requirements
imposed by PRC government authorities, if applicable.

Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements

We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Further details of these risks are set out on pages
160 to 167 of the Circular.

o Substantial uncertainties and restrictions exist with respect
to the interpretation and application of PRC laws and
regulations relating to the provision of contact services in
China.

2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT 4F#}

Directors’ Report
o

AN AEBCREUT IS - WE SRR E
BINEEEERBEHNEELE  ERNTEE
BEERFBEEER  YRERFEBIER - 820
FRABETAREEFREGEE 2RSS
LR LR (EERREERAMS) TEH R
HE# T BB R ERFRIEESE
RIBH A ESZRERE QRSB RIEEREM
HEEERENIBREBELENPER - &
FPAEMRBANESZNEMERN 2 A -

() AKBEEFBRINEMER  AEFEE
St IS E B S RT

(i) AEEDEPBERINEM—EEE - AT
BIRING P HENT P BRSO IR (B BAZ RS
E 3

(i) AEEDBSEEAMERRE - AETE
BIMERIBEEEREER -

RS AR B MEE T - EH AR
BB SR PIE B A T R A A EE
ER GBI ERMEEH A BRI 10
MBS (iEA) o

RENZHERNER
RPIRABATERESOZ IR - ZSEARD

E—HFBHNBHE 16021678 ©

o AN ERHEBEIRG T BEIAR AR
MREMERFEERTHEEE LRSI -

43



KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> £ #}- 45 45 [ e 4 A R A ]
2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT 4F#}

Directors’ Report
ol

44

We rely on Contractual Arrangements with the DalLian
Kingwisoft Group and its shareholders for its business
operations, which may not be as effective as direct
ownership in providing operational control.

Any failure by the DaLian Kingwisoft Group or its
shareholders to perform their obligations under the
Contractual Arrangements would have a material adverse
effect on our business, and the domestic shareholder may
have potential conflicts of interest with us.

Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the
PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be imposed,
which could negatively affect our financial condition and the
value of the investment.

We conduct the Dalian Kingwisoft Business in the PRC
through the Dalian Kingwisoft Group by way of the
Contractual Arrangements, but certain of the terms of the
Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable under
PRC laws.

Our exercise of the option to acquire equity ownership and
assets of the Dalian Kingwisoft Group may subject to
certain limitation and we may need to expend significant
resources to acquire all or part of the equity interests in the
DaLian Kingwisoft Group from the respective equity holders.

The WFOE may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held
by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group that are material to the
operation of certain portions of its business if the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group goes bankrupt or become subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the
interpretation and implementation of the PRC Foreign
Investment Law and how it may impact the viability of our
current corporate structure, corporate governance and
business operations.
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Contractual Arrangements in Place

A brief description of the major terms of the Contractual
Arrangements which were in place during the Year is as follows:

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement was entered into
between the WFOE and Dalian Kingwisoft on 12 June 2020,
pursuant to which DaLian Kingwisoft agrees to engage the WFOE
as its exclusive provider of business support, technical and
consulting services, including technical services, network support,
business consultation, intellectual property licensing, equipment
leasing, market consultancy, system integration, product research
and development and system maintenance, in exchange for
service fees. Under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement,
the service fees, subject to the WFOE's adjustment, are equal to
the net profit of DalLian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries. The WFOE
may adjust the service fees at its sole discretion, after taking into
account certain factors, including but not limited to the deduction
of necessary costs, expenses, taxes and other statutory
contribution for the corresponding fiscal year, and may also
include accumulated losses of Dalian Kingwisoft and its
subsidiaries from previous financial periods. The service fees shall
be transferred to the designated account of the WFOE upon
issuance of payment notification by the WFOE. The WFOE enjoys
the entire economic benefits derived from the businesses of
Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries, and bears relevant risks of
Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries. If DaLian Kingwisoft runs
into financial deficit or suffers severe operation difficulties, the
WEFOE will provide financial support to DaLian Kingwisoft.

In line with the services it provides, the WFOE has employed
relevant personnel primarily providing consulting and technical
services to Dalian Kingwisoft. In addition, the WFOE's primary
operating assets will be IT facilities, network and equipment,
which support its provision of services to Dalian Kingwisoft under
the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement. The WFOE and its
subsidiaries also engage in comprehensive marketing and agency
services and data centre services businesses.
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Both the WFOE and Dalian Kingwisoft have internal control
measures in place, which mainly include measures with respect to
accounts payables and receivables, which require the review and
approval by the relevant department(s) of the WFOE and DalLian
Kingwisoft to confirm the services provided by the WFOE and
received by Dalian Kingwisoft. Further, to ensure that the WFOE
will not engage in the Dalian Kingwisoft Business or any other
restricted business in the PRC, the WFOE has set up an internal
control procedure, which requires the senior staff member of
relevant departments to review the business to be entered into by
the WFOE.

Intellectual property rights are developed during the normal
course of business of Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries.
Pursuant to the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the
WEFOE will have the exclusive and proprietary rights to all
intellectual properties developed by Dalian Kingwisoft and its
subsidiaries, given that the WFOE provides consultation services to
DalLian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries during the term of the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement. Part of the economic
benefits generated by Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries will
be intellectual properties developed or created during the normal
business operation of DaLian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries.
Though it is not intended to transfer any existing intellectual
property rights held by Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE, Dalian
Kingwisoft is required under the Contractual Arrangements to
obtain the WFOE’s prior written consent before it transfers,
assigns or disposes of any of the intellectual properties to any third

party.
The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement is for an initial

term of ten years and shall be automatically extended upon expiry
unless the WFOE confirms a new renewal term in writing.
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Exclusive Call Option Agreement

The Exclusive Call Option Agreement was entered into by and
among the WFOE, the Registered Shareholders and Dalian
Kingwisoft on 12 June 2020, pursuant to which the WFOE (or
KingNine Holdings Limited or any subsidiary of KingNine Holdings
Limited , the “designee”) has been granted an irrevocable and
exclusive right to purchase all of the shares in and/or assets of
Dalian Kingwisoft at a nominal price, unless the relevant
government authorities or the PRC Laws request that another
amount be used as the purchase price, in which case the purchase
price shall be the lowest amount under such request. Subject to
relevant PRC Laws and regulations, the Registered Shareholders
and/or Dalian Kingwisoft shall return any amount of purchase
price they have received to the WFOE. At the WFOE's request, the
Registered Shareholders and/or Dalian Kingwisoft will promptly
and unconditionally transfer their respective shareholding in and/
or the relevant assets of Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE (or its
designee) after the WFOE exercises its call option. The Exclusive
Call Option Agreement is for an initial term of ten years and shall
be automatically extended upon expiry unless the WFOE confirms
a new renewal term in writing.

In order to prevent the flow of the relevant assets and value of
Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries to the Registered
Shareholders, during the term of the Exclusive Call Option
Agreement, Dalian Kingwisoft is not allowed to, and shall procure
its subsidiaries not to, sell, transfer, mortgage or otherwise dispose
of any of its assets (exceeding the value of RMB1 million) without
the prior written consent of the WFOE. In addition, Dalian
Kingwisoft is not allowed to, and shall procure its subsidiaries not
to, make any distributions to its shareholder(s) without prior
written consent of the WFOE. In the event that the Registered
Shareholders receive any distribution from DaLian Kingwisoft and/
or its subsidiaries and subject to the PRC Laws, the Registered
Shareholders must immediately pay or transfer such distribution to
the WFOE (or its designee). If the WFOE exercises the call option
all or any part of the shareholding in and/or assets of Dalian
Kingwisoft acquired would be transferred to the WFOE, and the
benefits of the equity ownership and/or assets, as applicable,
would flow to KingNine Holdings Limited and its shareholders.
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As provided in the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, without the
prior written consent of the WFOE, DalLian Kingwisoft shall not,
and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, among other things, (i)
sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of in any manner any of its assets
of more than RMB1 million; (ii) execute any material contract for a
value more than RMB1 million, except any contracts in the
ordinary course of business and any contracts entered into with
any members of the Group; (iii) provide any loan, financial
support, pledge or guarantees in any form to any third party, or
allow any third party to create any pledge or other security interest
over its assets or equity; (iv) incur, inherit, guarantee or allow any
debt that is not incurred in the ordinary course of business of
Dalian Kingwisoft or not disclosed and consented to by the
WFOE; (v) enter into any consolidation or merger with any third
party, or acquire or invest in any third party; (vi) increase or reduce
its registered capital, or alter the structure of the registered capital
in any other manner. The Exclusive Call Option Agreement
provides that the Registered Shareholders and Dalian Kingwisoft
shall procure the subsidiaries of DalLian Kingwisoft to comply with
the above undertakings as if they are parties to the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement. Therefore, due to the relevant restrictive
provisions in the agreement, the potential adverse effect on the
WFOE and the Group in the event of any loss suffered from
Dalian Kingwisoft and/or its subsidiaries can be limited to a
certain extent. In addition, in relation to the above restrictive
provisions specified in the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the
asset disposals or value of contracts will be aggregated if such
asset disposals or value of contracts (i) are entered into by
KingNine Holdings Limited, its subsidiaries or the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group with the same party or parties; or (ii) involve the
disposal or contracts which relate to the whole or parts of the
asset or securities or interests in a company or group of
companies. Further, as advised by the PRC legal advisor, any
transfer of shares in Dalian Kingwisoft pursuant to the terms of
the Exclusive Call Option Agreement will need to be filed with
relevant government authorities upon the exercise of the call
option thereunder.
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Share Pledge Agreement

The Share Pledge Agreement was entered into by and among the
WEFOQE, the Registered Shareholders and DaLian Kingwisoft on 12
June 2020, pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders pledge as
first charge all of their respective shareholding in DaLian Kingwisoft
to the WFOE as collateral security for any or all of the payments due
to the WFOE and to secure performance of their obligations under
the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement and the Authorisation Agreement. The Share
Pledge Agreement will remain in effect till the earlier of (i) all
obligation of DaLian Kingwisoft and the Registered Shareholders
under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive
Call Option Agreement and the Authorisation Agreement are
performed in full; (ii) the WFOE exercises its exclusive option to
purchase the entire shareholding held by the Registered Shareholders
in DaLian Kingwisoft and/or the assets of DaLian Kingwisoft pursuant
to the terms of the Exclusive Call Option Agreement when it is
permitted to do so under the applicable PRC Laws; (iii) the WFOE
exercises its unilateral and unconditional right of termination; and (iv)
the agreement is required to be terminated in accordance with
applicable PRC Laws and regulations. In addition, under the Exclusive
Call Option Agreement, none of the Registered Shareholders may
transfer or create any encumbrance on any of their shareholding in
and the relevant assets of Dalian Kingwisoft (including any equity
interests in and relevant assets of the subsidiaries of DaLian
Kingwisoft) without the WFOE's prior written consent. Furthermore,
under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the WFOE is
entitled to retain and exercise physical control of company seals and
certificates that are crucial to the daily operation of Dalian
Kingwisoft, which further strengthens the protection of the WFOE's
interests over Dalian Kingwisoft under the Contractual
Arrangements. Should an event of default (as provided in the Share
Pledge Agreement) occur, unless it is successfully resolved to the
WFOE's satisfaction within 30 days upon being notified by the WFOE,
the WFOE may demand that the Registered Shareholders and/or
DaLian Kingwisoft immediately pay all outstanding payments due
under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, repay any
loans and make all other payments due to it, and/or dispose of the
pledged shareholding and use the proceeds to repay any outstanding
amount due to the WFOE. The pledges under the Share Pledge
Agreement has been duly registered with the relevant PRC authority
on 12 July 2020 pursuant to PRC Laws and regulations.
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On 16 October 2020, the Registered Shareholders entered into a
capital increase agreement pursuant to which the registered
capital of Dalian Kingwisoft was increased from RMB15,480,000
to RMB100,000,000 contributing from each of the Registered
Shareholders in proportion to their shareholdings (the “Capital
Increase”). Upon the issuance of the 84,520,000 new shares (the
“New Shares”) to the Registered Shareholders and the successful
registration of the Capital Increase, the New Shares will be fully
pledged by the Registered Shareholders as first charge of all of
their respective shareholding in DalLian Kingwisoft to the WFOE as
collateral security for any or all of the payments due to the WFOE
and to secure performance of their obligations under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Call Option
Agreement and the Authorisation Agreement under the existing
terms of the Share Pledge Agreement.

Power of Attorney

The irrevocable Powers of Attorney have been granted by each of
the Registered Shareholders on 12 June 2020 in favour of the
WFOE pursuant to the Authorisation Agreement dated 12 June
2020 by and among the WFOE, the Registered Shareholder and
DaLian Kingwisoft, pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders
have appointed the WFOE or a director of its offshore holding
company or its/his/her successor (including a liquidator replacing
the WFOE's director) as their exclusive agent and attorney to act
on their behalf on all matters concerning Dalian Kingwisoft and
to exercise all of their rights as registered shareholders of DalLian
Kingwisoft. These rights include (i) the right to propose, convene
and attend shareholders’ meetings; (ii) the right to sell, transfer,
pledge or dispose of shares; (iii) the right to exercise shareholders’
voting rights; and (iv) the right to act as the legal representative
(chairperson), the director, supervisor, the chief executive officer
(or general manager) and other senior management members of
Dalian Kingwisoft. The authorised person is entitled to sign
minutes, file documents with the relevant companies registry and
exercise voting rights on the winding up of Dalian Kingwisoft on
behalf of the Registered Shareholders. The Registered
Shareholders have undertaken to transfer all assets obtained by
them after the winding up of Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE at
nil consideration or the lowest price permissible by the then
applicable PRC Laws and regulations. As a result of the Powers of
Attorney, the Company is able to exercise management control
over the activities that have significant impact on the economic
performance of DaLian Kingwisoft.
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The Powers of Attorney also provided that, in order to avoid
potential conflicts of interest, where the Registered Shareholders
are officers or directors of KingNine, its subsidiaries or the DaLian
Kingwisoft Group, the powers of attorney are granted in favour of
other unrelated officers or directors of KingNine (the unrelated
directors of the holding company of KingNine).

The Powers of Attorney shall automatically terminate once the
WFOE (or any member of the Group other than DaLian Kingwisoft
and its subsidiaries) directly holds the entire shareholding in and/
or the entire assets of DaLian Kingwisoft permitted under the then
PRC Laws and regulations and the WFOE (or its subsidiaries) is
allowed to conduct the Dalian Kingwisoft Business under the then
PRC Laws and regulations, following which the WFOE is registered
as the sole shareholder of DaLian Kingwisoft.

Spouse Undertaking

Mr. Hu Shilong, Ms. Liu Yingying and the spouse of Ms. Zhou
Fang executed an irrevocable undertaking on 12 June 2020,
whereby they expressly and irrevocably acknowledge and
undertake that (i) any shareholding interest held by Mr. Hu, Ms.
Liu and Ms. Zhou in DaLian Kingwisoft do not fall within the scope
of their communal properties; (i) they will not have any claim on
the interests of Dalian Kingwisoft obtained through the
Contractual Arrangements in their capacity as spouse; (iii), in
relation to Ms. Zhou's spouse, he has never participated and will
not participate in the operation or management of Dalian
Kingwisoft.

For details of the Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the
section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Circular.

Apart from the above, there are no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced between the
Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities during the Year.
There was no material change in the Contractual Arrangements
and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted for the
Year.

For the Year, none of the Contractual Arrangements has been
unwound as none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of
structured contracts under the Contractual Arrangements has
been removed. As of 31 March 2023, we had not encountered
interference or encumbrance from any PRC governing bodies in
operating our businesses through our Consolidated Affiliated
Entities under the Contractual Arrangements.
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We have been advised by our PRC legal advisor that the
Contractual Arrangements do not violate the relevant PRC laws
and regulations.

The revenue of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities for the Year
was amounted to approximately RMB848.8 million, which
accounted for approximately 95.5% of the Group’s total revenue.
The net assets of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities were
approximately RMB513.8 million as at 31 March 2023.

Internal Control Measures

Our Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the
effective operation of our Group with the implementation of the
Contractual Arrangements and our compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements:

1. major issues arising from the implementation and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements or any
regulatory enquiries from government authorities will be
submitted to our Board, if necessary, for review and
discussion on an occurrence basis;

2. our Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least
once a year;

3. our Directors undertake to provide periodic updates in our
annual reports regarding the qualification requirements as
stipulated in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements
— Qualification Requirement of VATS” in the Circular;

4. our Company will disclose the overall performance and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in our
annual reports; and

5. our Company has engaged external legal advisors or other
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to
review the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements, review the legal compliance of WFOE and
our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to deal with specific
issues or matters arising from the Contractual
Arrangements.
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The Extent to which the Contractual
Arrangements Relate to Requirements Other
than the Foreign Ownership Restriction

All of the Contractual Arrangements are subject to the restrictions
as set out on pages 298 to 304 of the Circular.

Listing Rule Implications

The highest applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits
ratio) under the GEM Listing Rules in respect of the transactions
under the Contractual Arrangements were more than 5%. As
such, these transactions were subject to the reporting, annual
review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Waiver from the Stock Exchange and Annual
Review

The Hong Kong Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from (i)
fixing the term of the Contractual Arrangements for a period of
not exceeding three years pursuant to Rule 20.50 of the GEM
Listing Rules, and (ii) setting a maximum aggregate annual cap
pursuant to Rule 20.51 of the GEM Listing Rules for the service
fees payable by the Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE under the
Contractual Arrangements, subject to the following conditions:

(@ No Change without Independent Non-executive Directors’
Approval — No change to the Contractual Arrangements
(including with respect to any fees payable to the WFOE
thereunder) will be made without the approval of the
independent non-executive Directors.

(b)  No Change without Independent Shareholders’ Approval —
Save as described in “— Renewal and Reproduction” below,
no change to the agreements governing the Contractual
Arrangements will be made without the approval of the
Company’s Independent Shareholders. Once Independent
Shareholders’ approval of any change has been obtained,
no further announcement or approval of the Independent
Shareholders will be required under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules unless and until further changes are proposed.
The periodic reporting requirement regarding the
Contractual Arrangements in the annual reports of the
Company (as set out in “— Renewal and Reproduction”
below) will however continue to be applicable.
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Economic Benefits Flexibility — The Contractual
Arrangements shall continue to enable the Group to receive
the entire economic benefits derived by the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group through (i) the Group’s option (if and
when so allowed under the applicable PRC Laws) to acquire,
all or part of the entire shareholding in DalLian Kingwisoft
for nil consideration or the minimum amount of
consideration permitted by applicable PRC Laws and
regulations, (i) the business structure under which the entire
profit generated by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group is
substantially retained by our Group, such that no annual cap
shall be set on the amount of service fees payable to the
WFOE by the DaLian Kingwisoft Group under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement, and (iii) the Group's right
to control the management and operation of, as well as, in
substance, all of the voting rights of DaLian Kingwisoft.

Renewal and Reproduction — On the basis that the
Contractual Arrangements provide an acceptable framework
for the relationship between the Company and its
subsidiaries in which the Company has direct shareholding,
on the one hand, and the DaLian Kingwisoft Group, on the
other hand, that framework may be renewed and/or
reproduced upon the expiry of the existing arrangements or
in relation to any existing or new wholly foreign owned
enterprise or operating company (including branch
company) engaging in the same business as that of the
Group which the Group might wish to establish when
justified by business expediency, without obtaining the
approval of the Shareholders, on substantially the same
terms and conditions as the existing Contractual
Arrangements. The directors, chief executive or substantial
shareholders of any existing or new wholly foreign owned
enterprise or operating company (including branch
company) engaging in the same business as that of the
Group which the Group may establish will, upon renewal
and/or reproduction of the Contractual Arrangements,
however be treated as connected persons of the Company
and transactions between these connected persons and the
Company other than those under similar contractual
arrangements shall comply with Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules. This condition is subject to relevant PRC Laws
and regulations and approvals.
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Ongoing Reporting and Approvals — the Group will disclose
details relating to the Contractual Arrangements on an
ongoing basis as follows:

(i

(ii)

(iii)

The Contractual Arrangements in place during each
financial period will be disclosed in the Company’s
annual report and accounts in accordance with the
relevant provision of the GEM Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors will review the
Contractual Arrangements annually and confirm in the
Company's annual report and accounts for the relevant
year that: (A) the transactions carried out during such
year have been entered into in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements,
have been operated so that the revenue generated by
the Dalian Kingwisoft Group has been substantially
retained by the WFOE; (B) no dividends or other
distributions have been made by the Dalian Kingwisoft
Group to the holders of its equity interests which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the
Group; and (C) any new contracts entered into, renewed
or reproduced between the Group and the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group during the relevant financial period
under paragraph (d) above are fair and reasonable, or
advantageous, so far as the Group is concerned and in
the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

The Company’s auditors will carry out procedures in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants on the transactions carried
out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements and will
provide a letter to the Directors with a copy to the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange, at least ten Business Days before
the Company bulk prints its annual report, reporting their
findings whether that the transactions carried out
pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements have received
the approval of the Directors, have been entered into in
accordance with the relevant Contractual Arrangements
and that no dividends or other distributions have been
made by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group to the holders of
its equity interest which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group.
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(iv)  For the purposes of Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules, and in particular the definition of “connected
person”, the DaLian Kingwisoft Group will be treated
as the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, and the
directors, chief executives or substantial shareholders
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group and their respective associates will
be treated as the Company’s “connected persons”
(excluding for this purpose the Dalian Kingwisoft
Group). As such, transactions between these
connected persons and the Group (including for this
purpose the Dalian Kingwisoft Group), other than
those under the Contractual Arrangements, shall
comply with Chapter 20 of GEM Listing Rules.

(v)  Dalian Kingwisoft also undertakes that, for so long as
the Shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, it will provide the Group’s management
and the Company’s auditors with full access to its
relevant records for the purpose of procedures to be
carried out by the Company’s auditors on the
connected transactions.

During the Year, the Company had complied with the waiver
conditions set out by the Stock Exchange and all necessary GEM
Listing Rules requirements as required by the Stock Exchange.

Confirmations from the Independent Non-executive
Directors

Our independent non-executive Directors have confirmed that the
Contractual Arrangements for the Year to which any member of
the Group was a party were entered into by the Group:

(i)  the transactions carried out during such year have been
entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of
the Contractual Arrangements and have been operated so
that the revenue generated by the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities has been substantially retained by the WFOE;

(i) no dividends or other distributions have been made by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to our Group;
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(i) no new contracts were entered into, renewed or reproduced
between our Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
during the reporting period; and

(iv) the Contractual Arrangements are entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of our Group on
normal commercial terms and are fair, reasonable and
advantageous, so far as our Group is concerned and in the
interests of our Company and the Shareholders of our
Company as a whole.

Confirmations from the Auditor

Pursuant to Rule 20.54 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has engaged the auditor to conduct certain procedures in respect
of the transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements of the Group for the Year, in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has
confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with respect to the
transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements
during the Year:

a) the transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements have received the approval of the Board,;

b)  the disclosed continuing connected transactions were
entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements
under the Contractual Arrangements governing such
transactions; and

¢)  no dividends or other distributions have been made by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to our Group.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

None of the related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements constituted connected transaction(s) or
continuing connected transaction(s) under the GEM Listing Rules.
The following set out details of the Contractual Arrangements
which constituted continuing connected transactions under the
GEM Listing Rules.

Contractual Arrangements

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements are continuing connected transactions of the
Company and are subject to reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Please refer “Contractual
Arrangements” from pages 37 to 57 of this report for details.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
confirmed that the above continuing connected transactions have
been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (i) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii)
according to the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Directors are not aware of any related party transactions
disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements that
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions of the Group, nor are there any connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions that require to
be disclosed in this annual report under the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements,
where applicable, in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors, controlling shareholder of
the Company or their respective close associates had any direct or
indirect interest in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable Donations

During the Year, charitable donations made by the Group
amounted to HK$2,140.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME, STOCK SHORT
NAMES AND WEBSITE ADDRESS

As announced on 18 July 2022, the name of the Company has
been changed from “ZZ Technology Group Company Limited &
EREEBERNBRAR" to “Kingwisoft Technology Group
Company Limited £ BRI EERHBR AT with effect from
14 June 2022. The stock short names of the Company for trading
in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange have been
changed from “ZZ TECH GP” to "KINGWISOFT TECH” in English
and from "HEEHE" to “&EZRHE" in Chinese, with effect from
9:00 a.m. on 22 July 2022. The website address of the Company
has been changed from “www.zztech-group.com” to
“www.kwtech-group.com” with effect from 22 July 2022 to
reflect the change of company name.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The Group's environmental, social and governance report (the
"ESG Report”) will be published at the same time as the
publication of this annual report. The English and Chinese versions
of the ESG Report are available to be viewed and/or downloaded
on the Company’s website at www.kwtech-group.com (by
clicking “Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance
Strategies” under the section headed “Investor”) and the Stock
Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

Corporate Social Responsibility

Sustainable development and environmental protection are
embedded in our corporate culture. The Group has participated in
a wide range of charitable activities, many of which have been
recognized by various organizations. During the Year, we received
a number of honours or acknowledgments of our work as a
responsible corporate citizen:

— A Caring Company by the Hong Kong Council of Social
Service
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— A Good MPF Employer by Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Authority

— A Happy Company by the Hong Kong Promoting Happiness
Index Foundation and Hong Kong Productivity Council

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the Year, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 75.1% of the Group's revenue with the largest
customer constituted approximately 29.6% of the Group's
revenue. In addition, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 14.8% of the Group’s cost of services with the
largest supplier constituted approximately 8.8% of the Group’s
cost of services.

Based on information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close
associates, or any shareholders of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had interest in any of the Group’s
five largest customers and suppliers during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on publicly available information and within the knowledge
of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float in the issued share capital of the Company pursuant
to the GEM Listing Rules.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s bank loans and other borrowings as at 31
March 2023 and 31 March 2022 are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTIES

The Group did not own any property or property interests as at 31
March 2023.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

No interest was capitalised by the Group during the Year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Retirement benefit costs include pension scheme contributions for
the Group's employees in Hong Kong and Mainland China. The
Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of
the laws of Hong Kong) for those eligible Hong Kong employees.
For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of
the relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme subject only to the
maximum level of payroll costs of HK$30,000 per employee,
which contribution is matched by the employees. Contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the respective local municipal governments.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 227 to
228 of this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practice adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 64 to 81 of this annual
report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

On 6 March 2023, a memorandum of understanding (the “MOU"")
in relation to the potential sale and purchase of 1,910,407,836
shares of the Company (the “"Possible Transaction’’) was entered
into between ZHONG ZHI XIN ZHUO CAPITAL COMPANY LIMITED
(the ""Vendor’’) and the potential purchaser (the '"Potential
Purchaser’’). As the Vendor and the Potential Purchaser were
unable to reach an agreement on the terms of the Possible
Transaction, the Vendor and the Potential Purchaser have
terminated the MOU and not to proceed further with the Possible
Transaction.

Details of above are set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 8 March 2023 and 24 April 2023.

Save as disclosed above and in this annual report, there is no

material event after reporting year and up to the date of this
report.
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AUDITOR

On 1 December 2020, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu resigned and
BDO Limited was appointed as the auditor of the Company.
Details of the change of auditor were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 1 December 2020.

On 3 March 2023, BDO Limited resigned and Ernst & Young was
appointed as the auditor of the Company. Details of the change
of auditor were set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 3 March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditor
of the Group during the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
Year have been audited by Ernst & Young who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company is
to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

QIU Xiaojian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2023
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(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(B)

©

64

The Company has applied the principles of good corporate
governance set out in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG
Code") throughout the Year.

The Board regularly monitors and reviews the Group’s
progress in respect of corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance with the code provisions (the “Code
Provisions”) set out in the CG Code.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “(D) CHAIRMAN
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE"” in this report, the Company has
complied with all the Code Provisions throughout the Year.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
had made specific enquiries to all the Directors who
confirmed their compliance with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors throughout the Year. No
incident of non-compliance was noted by the Company
during this Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board compositions

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategy
and overseeing the development of the Group. In so doing,
the Board receives monthly reports from the chief executive
officer of the Company/the executive Directors, monitors the
internal control policies as well as risk management
effectiveness, and evaluates the financial performance of the
Group with an aim to enhancing shareholders’ value. The
Board currently comprises two executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors. The composition of
the Board sets out on page 31 of this annual report.
Biographical details of the Directors and the relationship
amongst them, if any, are set out on pages 22 to 25 of this
annual report.
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Five board meetings were held during the Year. The
attendance of the relevant Directors are set out on page 72
of this report.

Independent non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the
GEM Listing Rules, the Company has appointed four
independent non-executive Directors representing not less
than one-third of the Board with all of them having
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The Company has,
through the Nomination Committee, reviewed the
independence of, and received the confirmation of
independence from each of Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, Mr.
ZHANG Weidong, Mr. ZENG Liang and Mr. WANG Li, and
considers all of them independent in accordance with the
guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company is committed to ensuring that the
independent non-executive Directors will be given the
opportunity and channel for Directors to communicate and
express their independent views and inputs to the Board and
its Committees. The Company has established channels
through formal and informal means whereby independent
non-executive Directors can express their views in an open
and candid manner and in a confidential manner, should
circumstances require; these include dedicated meeting
sessions with the Chairman and interaction with
management and other Board Members including the
Chairman outside the boardroom. The implementation and
effectiveness of these mechanism(s) will be reviewed on an
annual basis by the Board through the Nomination
Committee.

Delegation to Board committees and
management

The Board is ultimately accountable for the Group’s
activities, strategies and financial performance, which
includes formulating business development strategies,
directing and supervising the Group’s affairs, reviewing the
financial statements of the Company, approving quarterly
reports, interim reports, annual reports and announcements
of quarterly results, interim results and annual results,
considering dividend policy, reviewing the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems and so
on.
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The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Audit Committee with written terms of reference set out
in accordance with the CG Code. More details of these
committees are set out in separate sections of this report.

The Board delegates necessary powers and authorities to the
executive Directors to facilitate the efficient day to day
management of the Group’s business. Investment decisions
were made by the executive Directors pursuant to the
procedures and limits adopted by the Group. Delegated
authorities in the form of monetary limits were set for the
executive Directors and management of the Group for
financial commitments and capital expenditures so that they
could apply their discretion and respond swiftly to
investment opportunities and business needs.

In addition, the Board delegates to the Remuneration
Committee authorities to determine remuneration for
individual executive Directors and members of senior
management.

Corporate governance functions

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest
standards of corporate governance yet being pragmatic on
business decisions and management efficiency. The
independent non-executive Directors were members, and
represent the majority, of all the Board committees of the
Company, namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Whilst the
Board was ultimately responsible for corporate governance
matters, it delegated much of these functions to the Audit
Committee which comprised only of independent non-
executive Directors and was assisted by BT Corporate
Governance Limited (the “Internal Auditor”) performing the
internal audit function.

During the Year, the Board, among other things, reviewed
the policies and practices on corporate governance,
reviewed and monitored the policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
reviewed the Group’s compliance manual; reviewed and
monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; and
reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

=

A
o
)

B
m

P
° ) (U 18
S & -

ExgYT=AZ8g 8
REZBENERZBE %
BT AIR] A S AR

#E—FFH B D RIS &5

EFSNUENEIMBREETANTE
EUNEEREHEEAKRENA TR -
RERRZAPTEEREAEERANIE
FrAIRRERIEL - BRI AERE AT
BN BEANREVBRET AR TA
SERNTESREERE  EHMMERERB
REREREMAERICLRIE L O -

O EFEREFMEE@EE ERNT
BEEREREBENTH -

EERRAE

ARARBOERFRRKENDEER  ME
EBRELERREEABETE - B
FNTESORMAEERETZES /)
BEZZES FHEZEERRERREGHK
B WHEXSZESHBEFEKE - BELE
AEENRKEEHEESRE KB
SRR ELBEBRE TEHBIIFN
EXHERMERZES  YHESLESR
AERAR([AEETE ) HHEZZES
FETT R BRR XN EE

”

a0 i o

RAFEE B (HPel)kIAEeE
EVARMEEREER - e REREHETA
EREERTENBREER R A KB
BRFM R REREEREREIEAE
B NFEERER  ARBRIARRE
SRS R R R E AR E WA ©

7



(D)

KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> £ #}- 45 45 [ 4 A FR A 7]

2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT 4F#}

Corporate Governance Report

Continuous Professional Development

Reading materials relevant to the Board’s duties and
responsibilities and/or the Group’s businesses are provided
to the Board from time to time to develop, refresh and
update their knowledge and skills and to keep them abreast
of the latest developments.

Each Directors has also provided to the Company a record
of the training he has received during the Year, which is set
out on page 72 of this annual report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual.

The chairman of the Company (the “Chairman”) is
responsible for overseeing the function of the Board. During
the period from 1 April 2022 to 5 March 2023, Mr. NIU
Zhanbin was the Chairman. Since 6 March 2023, Mr. QIU
Xiaojian has been appointed as the Chairman.

The chief executive officer of the Company (the “CEQ") is
responsible to the Board for managing the business of the
Group. During the period from 1 April 2022 to 5 March
2023, the Company appointed the following CEOs/co-CEO:
Mr. JIJANG Yulin (CEO — 1 April 2022 to 4 June 2022)

Mr. HU Shilong (co-CEO — 1 April 2022 to 22 September

2022)

Mr. LIU Yang (CEO — 5 June 2022 to 5 March 2023)
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Since 6 March 2023, the office of the CEO has been vacant.
Until the appointment of new CEO, the executive Directors
will continue to oversee the day-to-day management of the
business and operations of the Company and its subsidiaries.
The Board believes that the balance of power and authority
of the Board is adequately ensured under the existing
arrangement and operations of the Board, as the Board
comprises experienced and high caliber individuals with a
majority thereof being independent non-executive Directors.
The Board will keep reviewing its current structure from time
to time and should any candidate with suitable knowledge,
skill and experience be identified, the Company will make
appointment to fill the position of the Chief Executive
Officer as appropriate.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The terms of appointment of the independent non-executive
Directors are for a period of three years. All of them are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company pursuant to the
Articles of Association and the GEM Listing Rules.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference. It currently comprises three member, Mr.
QIU Xiaojian and two independent non-executive Directors
namely, Mr. ZENG Liang (Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee) and Mr. ZHANG Weidong. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee included, among other
things, (i) formulating, reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy
and structure for all Directors and members of senior
management; (ii) reviewing and approving the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board's corporate goals and objectives; (iii) determining
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and members of senior management; and (iv) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee held one
meeting during the Year.
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During the Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
Group’s remuneration policy and structure, determined the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and made
recommendation to the Board in relation to the adjustment
of the director fee of the independent non-executive
Directors, having regard to comparable companies and
other relevant factors.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with written
terms of reference. It currently comprises three members,
Mr. QIU Xiaojian (Chairmen of the Nomination Committee)
and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Stephen MARKSCHEID and Mr. ZHANG Weidong. The
primary duties of the Nomination Committee covered,
among other things, (i) the reviewing of the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity of perspectives) of the Board; (ii) identifying
and nominating suitably qualified candidates for
directorship; and (iii) making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or reappointment of Directors. The
Nomination Committee held one meeting during the Year.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
established policy and procedure for the nomination and
appointment of new Directors, reviewed the structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
made recommendations to the Board on the reappointment
of retiring Directors at the annual general meeting in 2022,
and nominated the appointment of executive Directors and
an independent non-executive Director.
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According to the Nomination Policy adopted by the
Company, the Nomination Committee shall review the
structure, size, composition and diversity (including the
evaluation of skills, knowledge, professional experience,
cultural and educational background, gender and age of the
Board members and assessment on the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors) of the Board at least
annually. It is responsible for making recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company'’s corporate strategy and succession planning for
the Directors from time to time and selecting suitable and
qualified individuals to become Board members. In
evaluating and selecting candidate(s) for directorship, the
Nomination Committee considers various factors including
but not limited to: the character and integrity; skills and
expertise; professional and educational background;
potential time commitment for the board and/or committee
responsibilities; and the elements of our Board Diversity
Policy as stated below etc. The Nomination Committee
makes recommendation to the Board to appoint the
appropriate person among the candidates nominated for
directorship. The Board appoints suitable candidate(s) in
accordance with the Articles of the Association and the
GEM Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefit of
having a diverse board, and sees increasing diversity at
board level as an essential element in maintaining a
competitive advantage and achieving long-term sustainable
growth for the Group. A balanced and diversified Board
brings a broad range of views to bear upon discussions and
critical decision-making, and balances against “group
thinking”. Our Board Diversity Policy is multi-faceted
stressing business experience, skill-sets, knowledge and
professional expertise in addition to gender, ethnicity and
age. The said elements have substantially been included in
the current Board composition.

Having reviewed the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee recognises the importance and benefits of the
gender diversity at the Board level and shall continue to take
initiatives to identify at least one female candidate to
enhance the gender diversity among the Board members.
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The Board understand a single gender board will not
consider diversity to be achieved. The Board will appoint at
least a director of a different gender no later than 31
December 2024. For the detailed gender ratio in the
workforce (including senior management), please refer to
the 2022/2023 Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference. It currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors namely, Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID
(Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. ZHANG Weidong
and Mr. ZENG Liang in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29
of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include, among other things, (i) reviewing and
supervising the financial reporting process; (ii) reviewing
internal control as well as risk management systems of the
Group; (iii) reviewing the consolidated financial statements
and the quarterly, interim and annual reports of the Group;
and (iv) reviewing the terms of engagement and scope of
audit work of the internal auditor and external auditor and
ensure their coordination. The Audit Committee held five
meetings during the Year.

During the Year, the Audit Committee was engaged in,
among other duties, receiving and reviewing reports from
the Internal Auditor, reviewing quarterly, interim and annual
results of the Group and providing advice and comments
thereon to the Board. The Audit Committee also reviewed
the Group’s internal control and risk management systems
and made recommendations to the Board for improvements.
The Audit Committee considered and approved the terms of
engagement and remuneration of the external auditor, and
discussed with them the nature and scope of their audits
before the audits commenced. In discharging its duties, the
Audit Committee met with the Group’s management,
Internal Auditor and external auditor several times during
the Year.

At the meeting held in June 2023, among other things, the
Audit Committee has reviewed this annual report and
recommended it for the Board’s approval.
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(I) ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS AND () EEEEREI
TRAINING
During the Year, the attendance records of the Directors at RAFEE BREEHEFEEeE  B&E
Board Meeting, Audit Committee Meeting, Remuneration Egen yHEZEeew EREEgY
Committee Meeting, Nomination Committee Meeting, the EN2022FEREBAFAE  REFRIAE
2022 Annual General Meeting, Extraordinary General Lx);zi;guzﬁaﬁz;zﬂ :
Meeting and their training records are as follows:
Number of meetings attended/held
bR/ BTEERE
2022
Audit Remuneration  Nomination Annual  Extraordinary
Board  Committee ~ Committee  Committee General General
Name of Directors during the Year Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Training
W%
EZe ENZEE ZMZEe  R4ZEE RREE RE&EH
REEEEHS EE EE EE £t by K& g
Executive Directors: Hi7EE .
Mr. NIU Zhanbin FEBEE
(resigned on 6 March 2023) (R03F3A6BET) 5/5 - 11 11 1 11 /
Mr. JIANG Yulin EEMELE
{removed on 5 June 2022) (1202256 A5 REF) - - - - - - -
Mr. LIU Yang )
(appointed on 5 June 2022 and (202256 A5BZMRR
resigned on 6 March 2023) R03F3R6RET) 5/5 - - - /1 1 /
Mr. WU Hui RERE
(resiqned on 6 March 2023) (R03F3A6BET) 5/5 - - - 1 11 /
Mr. QU Xiaojian ill =yt
(appointed on 7 February 2023) (R0B3F2A7BZf) 11 - - - - - /
Mr. Ll Xiang X 3
(appointed on 7 February 2023) (R0B3F2A7BZf) 11 - - - - - /
Independent non-executive Directors: ~ BU#37EE .
Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID Stephen MARKSCHEID 72 £ 55 55 - n 1 n /
Mr. ZHANG Weidong REREE 5/5 565 1 11 /1 1 /
Mr. ZENG Liang bR 55 55 " - i " /
Mr. WANG Li IRk
(appointed on 21 October 2022) (R2022F10A21BZ(E) 3 - - - - - /
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(J) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL

The Group places high importance on internal control which
is the foundation of the Group’s reputation and
maintenance of clients’ confidence. The Board is responsible
for supervising a sound and effective internal control system
in order to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the
Company and the assets of the Group against improper use
or disposition, ensuring maintenance of proper books and
records for the provision of reliable financial information,
and ensuring compliance with relevant rules and regulations.
The Board has delegated responsibility to its Audit
Committee to review the Group’s risk management and
internal control matters. The risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems so that the
Group's objectives can be achieved, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee was assisted by the Internal Auditor,
to assess and review if a sound and effective risk
management and internal control system are in place at
least once a year. The Internal Auditor reported to and met
with the Audit Committee to review internal audit findings
on enterprise risk and internal control matters.

During the year of 2022, the world has been continuously
facing a critical situation caused by the COVID-19 virus,
giving a significant challenge to all stakeholders in the globe.
The Group has taken a series of appropriate arrangements
to handle the impact throughout this extraordinary period.
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Risk management system

Based on the Group’s business and operations, Internal
Auditor, using risk-based approach, has identified and
carried out review on four areas covering financial,
operational, strategies and compliance.

The approach used by the Internal Auditor comprises the
following phases:

o Obtaining an understanding of the existing
procedures, systems and controls established by the
Group through enquiries and discussion with
management and appropriate personnel;

o Identifying and classifying the key risks faced by the
Group;

. Assessing the likelihood and impact of each risk factor;

J Carrying out review and assessment on the those
critical aspects of the key procedures, systems and
controls of the Group to address the risk factors;

o Evaluating the residual risks with the relevant control
measures taken into account; and

o Making recommendations, based on Internal Auditor’s
observations, documentation and review of the
procedures, systems and controls that could improve
the effectiveness and/or efficiency of the procedures,
systems and controls to mitigate the risks to which the
Group is subjected.

Based on the report done by the Internal Auditor, apart
from the risk in relation to the COVID-19 situation, the
Group has been reminded that the risk in maintaining,
obtaining and renewal of certain qualification certificates,
licenses and intellectual property rights should be carefully
managed since it could materially and adversely affect the
Group's business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects.
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Moreover, any leakage of personal data or client information
could bring a significant risk and impact to the Group’s
business and reputation, and therefore the Group has
implemented strict internal control procedures to safeguard
the security and confidentiality of its databases.

The analysis and opinions from in-depth industry knowledge
and relevant-experienced professional third parties should
be taken into considerations.

Internal control system

The Group has set up an effective internal control
mechanism which are sufficient to enable the Directors to
make a proper assessment of the financial position and
prospect of the Group.

Internal Auditor has conducted a review of the Group’s
internal control system by conducting interviews,
walkthroughs and tests on the effectiveness of the
procedures, systems and controls established by the Group
in its operating cycles, in particular, revenue and receipt
cycle, treasury management cycle and compliance
management cycle.

With respect to the internal control review done by the
Internal Auditor, no major issues on control failure is noted
during the Year.

The Board has conducted a review and is of the view that
both risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate for the Group to achieve its
objectives during the Year. The Board will continue to assess
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems taking into consideration of the results of
reviews and audits performed by the Internal Auditor,
external auditor and Audit Committee and making sure that
all significant legal and regulatory requirements are adhered
to.
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Dissemination of inside information

In order to enhance the Group's system of handling inside
information and enable a consistent practice of timely,
accurate and complete disclosure of material information of
the Group, the Group has adopted policies and procedures
which sets out guidelines and procedures as well as
measures to handle and disseminate inside information as
well as to establish minimum standards for handling of
material non-public information to protect client-sensitive
data and avoid violating any applicable laws or internal
policies. With these procedures and measures in place, the
Group is able to control and properly discharge its reporting
obligation, especially in relation to inside information
disclosure obligations, in a timely and effective manner and
in accordance with the requirements under applicable laws.

COVID-19 Virus and Business Continuity Plan

COVID-19 virus presents a unique risk and impact to the
globe since the beginning of 2020, it creates uncertainty
and anxiety to the global economy and produces critical
damages to some industries. The Group realised that a
traditional business continuity plan such as relocating staff
to a secondary site may be insufficient to mitigate the risk.

The Group has developed a communication plan with staffs
to ensure the coordination and cooperation can be
maintained at a satisfactory level during this extraordinary
period.

Working-from-home practice has been widely adopted in
most of the businesses, the Group has also implemented
such practice to protect our employees.

Besides purchasing pandemic prevention products for our
employees throughout the period, the Company has also
provided various of employees’ benefits and practices to
provide a suitable protection to the employees.
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(K) AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

(L)

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided by the Company’s external
auditor were approximately HK$4.20 million (approximately
RMB3.68 million) and HK$0.048 million (approximately
RMBO0.04 million) respectively. The non-audit services was
related to the professional fees for tax compliance services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements which
give a true and fair view in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong. The
statement of the Company’s auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 82
to 89 of this annual report.

(M) JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

With effect from 17 January 2022, Mr. TUNG Sze Ho Dicky,
who is delegated by an external secretarial service provider,
Angela Ho & Associates, was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company in place of Ms. CHAN Sau Mui
Juanna. During the period from 25 March 2022 to 8
November 2022, Mr. HUO Ju was appointed as the joint
company secretary of the Company, and was the primary
corporate contact person of the Company with Mr. TUNG
and Mr. TUNG continued with the role and act as the other
joint company secretary of the Company. Following Mr.
HUO's resignation on 9 November 2022, Mr. TUNG has
continued to be appointed as the sole company secretary of
the Company. Since then, Mr. TUNG's primary contact
person at the Company is Ms. ZHANG Yuan, the head of
legal of the Group. Mr. TUNG undertook not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year ended
31 March 2023.
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(N) DIVIDEND POLICY

78

The Board has approved and adopted the Dividend Policy on
21 June 2019 that aims to set out the principles and
guidelines of the Company in relation to the declaration,
recommendation and payment of dividends to its
shareholders.

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company does not have any
predetermined dividend payout ratio. Distribution of
dividends should be in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole. When considering dividend
declaration or recommendation, the Board shall take into
account the following factors:—

(1) business condition and strategy of the Group;

(2) capital requirement for the Group’s existing/potential
project or investment;

(3) earnings, financial and cash flow position and
distributable reserves of the Company and the Group;
and

(4)  other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends is subject to the
provisions of the Articles of Association and any other
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company’s dividend distribution record in the past may
not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level of
dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in
future.

The Board has the sole discretion to recommend or not to
recommend final dividends to the shareholders for approval;
and to declare or not to declare any other dividends,
including but not limited to interim and/or special dividends,
after taking into consideration the factors as stated in (1) to
(4) above.

The Dividend Policy may be updated, amended, modified
and/or cancelled from time to time as the Board may think
fit and necessary.
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(O) CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

(P)

Saved as disclosed in “Change of Company Name, Stock
Short Names and Website Address” in the Directors’ Report
on page 59, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the Year.

The Board proposed to amend the Company’s memorandum
and articles of association (the “M&A") to meet with the new
requirements brought by the amended GEM Listing Rules
effective from 1 January 2022. A special resolution for
amending the M&A will be proposed at the 2023 AGM.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening of extraordinary general meeting
and putting forward proposals

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any two or more
registered members of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
or any one Shareholder which is a recognised clearing house
(or its nominee(s)) holding not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company, shall have the
right, by written requisitions, to put forward proposals and
require an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM") to be
convened. Subject to applicable legislations and regulations,
the procedures for Shareholders to convene and put forward
proposals at an EGM are as follows:

1. The written requisitions shall be deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong situated
at Room 1204, 12/F, Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan
Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong (for the attention
of the Company Secretary), specifying the objects of
the meeting and signed by the requisitionists.

2. The Company will then verify the request with the
Company'’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and
upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will then ask the Board
to convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the regulatory requirements and the
Articles of Association to all the Shareholders. If the
request has been verified as not in order, the
Shareholders concerned will be advised of the outcome
and an EGM will not be convened as requested.
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3. If within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene the
meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general
meeting but any meeting so convened shall not be
held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board to convene the meeting shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Proposing a person for election as a Director

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, no person shall,
unless recommended by the Board, be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting unless
during the period, which shall be at least seven days,
commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch of
the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting, there has been given to the Company Secretary
notice in writing by a Shareholder (not being the person to
be proposed), entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given, of his/her intention to propose
such person for election and also notice in writing signed by
the person to be proposed of his/her willingness to be
elected.

The written notice must state the full name of the person to
be proposed for election as a Director, as well as the
person’s biographical details as required by Rule 17.50(2) of
the GEM Listing Rules. Upon receipt of the notice, the
Company will assess whether or not it is necessary to
adjourn the meeting of the election to give Shareholders at
least 10 business days to consider the proposed
appointment.
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(Q) INVESTOR RELATIONS

As announced on 18 July 2022, the website of the Company
has been changed from “www.zztech-group.com” to
“www.kwtech-group.com” with effect from 22 July 2022 to
reflect the change of the Company name.

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
transparency and employs a policy of open and timely
disclosure of relevant information to its Shareholders. The
Board strives to encourage and maintain regular
communication with Shareholders through various means.
The Company has established a shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure that appropriate steps are taken to provide
effective communication with its Shareholders. The Company
encourages all Shareholders to attend general meetings,
which provide opportunities for direct dialogue between the
Board and the Shareholders, and for Shareholders to stay
informed of the Group’s strategy and goals.

At the annual general meeting held 10 August 2022, the
Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the
chairman of audit, remuneration and nomination
committees and representatives from the auditor of the
Company, BDO Limited, were present to attend to possible
questions from Shareholders.

The Company updates its Shareholders on its latest business
developments and financial performance through its notices,
announcements and circulars, as well as quarterly, interim
and annual reports. The corporate website maintained by
the Company at www.kwtech-group.com provides an
effective communication platform to the public and the
Shareholders. Shareholders and investors may at any time
send their enquiries to the Board by addressing them to the
Company Secretary by post at Room 1204, 12/F, Lee Garden
One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong or by
email at infohk@kwtech-group.com.

The Board will review the shareholders’” communication
policy at least annually to ensure its effectiveness. Having
considered the different channels of communication with
Shareholders, the Board is satisfied that the shareholders’
communication policy has been properly implemented
during the Year and is appropriate.
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Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY=x

To the shareholders of
Kingwisoft Technology Group Company Limited
(formerly known as ZZ Technology Group Company Limited)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Kingwisoft Technology Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 90 to 226,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
BRETEE

Impairment of goodwiill

Ry & Rl fE

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s
goodwill before impairment was approximately RMB631
million. In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting
Standard (“HKAS") 36 Impairment of Assets, the Group is
required to annually test goodwill for impairment.

R2023F3A31H EEEHKRREAMNZENEEE
HR/RARENBETL - REFBSFEN(EEGET
HRIE3REENRE - EEFASFUAABDERE -

Management performs impairment testing annually for the
cash-generating unit (the “CGU") to which the goodwill
was allocated. Management has engaged independent
professionally qualified valuer for the calculation of the
CGU'’s recoverable amount based on the forecasted cash
flows prepared by management. The calculation of the
CGU’s recoverable amount is complex and involves
significant management’s judgement and estimation, such
as the forecasted cash flows, discount rates and perpetual
growth rates, which are sensitive to expected future
market conditions and the CGU'’s actual performance.
EREESFHESKERENRSEABN([REELE
) ETRENR EREEZRBELEXAERME
MREEEERENTEARERENTEREELENUN
e &R - StERGEEBLNAIKESE 985
B RERBMNEANHE MGG WEARSRE MR
ERAKBIERE - MaxFHE LA S5 BHRKTR
MReEFBUERREANTE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 17 to the
financial statements.

MERRR R B B TS R RE 3 2 17 -
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BREETEE %)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANFTNNEEFARETSE

We performed the following procedures to address the
impairment of goodwill:

HFIMITATRRF AREEERE

e Obtained an understanding of the Group’s accounting
policy and management’s assessment on goodwill
impairment;

o TH BSRENESHHRNEREHHERERE

e Assessed the competency, capabilities and objectivity of
the independent valuer;
o MBI LERMER - e REEIE

e Evaluated management’s estimates of forecasted cash
flows, discount rates and perpetual growth rates by
making enquiries with- management and benchmarking
to historical information and industry information;

s BRAEBREEARAELENRITEENRESE
AEEREEHRARERE MBRERKBEREN
&t

e With the assistance of our internal valuation specialists,
examined the valuation methodologies and evaluated
the assumptions and estimates used, including the
discount rates and the perpetual growth rates;

o EHRMATBEERNBEIT - FHHES AR
FTAMREE K fbst - BRERREOKEIERE ;

e Checked the mathematical accuracy of management’s
valuation schedules; and
o RMEEREMERNEMERL &

e Evaluated the adequacy of the relevant disclosures in
the financial statements.

o FHEMBHmRTEBBENTOIE
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Key audit matter

BREETEE

Impairment of accounts receivable

FE W B R fE

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s
accounts receivable before impairment was approximately
RMB606 million, and the Group was exposed to credit risks

arising therefrom.
20233 A31H - EEBEHKRMEAEKERXDER
HEARARB6EET X ESEHEBALEENE

SRk -

The Group recognises impairment allowances of accounts
receivable based on the expected credit loss (“"ECL")
approach under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The
measurement of ECL requires the application of significant
judgement and estimates. The ECL is assessed collectively
using a provision matrix, and the provision rates are based
on the Group'’s internal credit risk grading assessment and
the estimated loss rates.
SEEBREEEVHRRELEA B R M T ANTERE
EEE(FAHREEEE]) ARAEB KB RERE -
STEREEEEEAERAEARE KA c HHEES
BhERREERERN G MBHEELDER E5E
W EME B RBE T R T RAGET B ESE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 22 and 40 to
the financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ETNNEEFARETSE

We performed the following procedures to address the
impairment of accounts receivable:

HAFIITIA TR 7 AR T2 e MR BR FORLE -

e Obtained an understanding of the Group’s accounting
policy and management’s assessment on impairment
provision of accounts receivable;

o THR EEBENSITBRNEIRREHREUKRIORER
wERT I

e Assessed, on a sample basis, whether items in the
ageing reports of accounts receivable were classified
within the appropriate ageing categories;

o HMEFHERMRNIRERREANEE REDBEAE
Y BRER AR R

Bk

e Compared key debtors’ internal credit risk grading
assessment result categories to the corresponding
relevant credit rating grades published by external credit
rating agencies;

o KEZ2EMANAIEERBRITRTHEERDEEIN
%ﬁf%%%ﬁ&%%@ﬁﬁ%ﬁl@*ﬁF&%%EEM&%%&?&??%
IR

e Evaluated the ECL determined by management by
examining, on a sample basis, the information used to
form such judgement and estimates, including the
historical credit loss information and forward-looking
factors;

o BIAMBIRE BN KA A MMEETHER (B
BEEEEBEEEHRAEERER)  FHEEEETH
TEHEEER

e \With the assistance of our internal valuation specialists,
examined the ECL methodology and evaluated the
probability of default rates and loss given default rates;

o ERMARMEZRNHET - EHBEMEEEES
ERFHERARREHXIE TR EERE

e Evaluated the impairment provision of accounts
receivable by reference to the Group’s subsequent
collection; and

e 2% EEEMRERRIER - TEEKERORE
R

e Evaluated the adequacy of the relevant disclosures in
the financial statements.

o HEMBRRTHBRENTRIE
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee

in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ng Siu Ki Ricky.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26 June 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
i 1H A S LAt 2 1 W £ R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 £ 202343 A31 HILF/E

2023 F 2022 FF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BiaE AR¥FIT ARMTF T
(Restated)
(1eE3)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BESEEK
REVENUE WA 5 888,622 734,021
Cost of services BRAS A AR (767,384) (546,947)
Gross profit EH 121,238 187,074
Other income and gains H AU A R feas 6 160,801 31,655
Marketing expenses LAY (5.876) (9,235)
Research and development expenses Esp (36,394) (28,114)
Administrative expenses ITHHX (85,681) (87,654)
Impairment loss of goodwill R REEE 17 (349,385) =
Impairment losses on financial assets, net & @& E R EFIBFH 7 (17,293) (12,542)
Gain on recovery of accounts receivable Y[ B Jif 4 & U BR SR B0 Uk &5
written-off 1,497 5,980
Gain on derecognition of financial assets ~ #% |- FERIR B S A ANEHE R
measured at amortised cost SREER WS - 13,936
Other expenses and losses Hith 2 &8 (380) =
Finance costs EUpi DN 8 (25,471) (17,067)
Share of loss of an associate JE (5 — A = A Rl & 18 19 (12) (17)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BRBLADEF(B1R) 7 (236,956) 84,016
Income tax credit/(expense) Frigfie, (Fs) 11 942 (12,886)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM FRARBBEEER RN,
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (BE) (236,014) 71,130
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ERIERENER
Profit for the year from discontinued EAR IS & B F AR
operations 12 - 5,825
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FraF, (BER) (236,014) 76,955
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % 202343 A31 HILF/E

2023 2022 FF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaE AR¥FT ARBTFT
(Restated)
(Fe=3%1))
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ Hip2EE (&)
(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that ~ RAZREE S EHHEE
may be reclassified to profit or loss in BamEMtmemEmkes
subsequent periods: (B#E) :
Exchange differences on translation of 38 I 3EFA AR B A 1K 32 K9
subsidiaries not established in BB A REARE K Z5E
Mainland China 3,636 (5,143)
Reclassification of translation reserve HH 65 A FE R R B AT b K 37 Y
upon disposal of subsidiaries not B R B 3 (A
established in Mainland China Eg bk | - (5,265)
Deregistration of subsidiaries not T EH T FE R R B K 37 Y
established in Mainland China U BpEE NG - 1,259
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) RERHARASGERHSEE
that may be reclassified to profit or loss ~ 18zEHYE fth 2 E WS~
in subsequent periods (E1R) 88 3,636 (9,149)
Other comprehensive loss that will not be  RERHBET S EMHIESE
reclassified to profit or loss in B H M2 EES
subsequent periods:
Fair value loss on equity investments ETE B AFEFT AHM
designated at fair value through EEH& SRR E
other comprehensive income N EEE 20 (15,264) -
Net other comprehensive loss that will not RAAZHB TS EHHEE
be reclassified to profit or loss in B HMEEEIE TR
subsequent periods (15,264) -
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE ~ FRE M2 EE1E - FBRE
YEAR, NET OF TAX ] (11,628) (9,149)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ FREERE (HE)BH
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (247,642) 67,806
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 £ 202343 A31 HILF/E

2023 £ 2022 F
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
Kzt ARBFr ARKFT
(Restated)
(re=3%1))
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable LA A T FE(GFE R R,
to: (E#8) :
Owners of the Company RATEEA
from continuing operations REAFELEEDS (230,136) 74,525
from discontinued operations REBKRIERENER = 5,825
(230,136) 80,350
Non-controlling interests =R RS
from continuing operations REFELEER (5,878) (3,395)
(236,014) 76,955
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for LA T ATEBEEREME
the year attributable to: Wz (E518) 45 -
Owners of the Company RATEEA
from continuing operations REAFELEERS (241,764) 68,596
from discontinued operations REBERIERENER = 2,605
(241,764) 71,201
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR RS
from continuing operations REFELEER (5,878) (3,395)
(247,642) 67,806
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE AAREBRERREE AEWL
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY SREBF, (EHE)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY 14
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) EAREE(ARES)
for profit/(loss) for the year from TR BB LEBH
continuing operations FRmA (B ms (5.03) 1.78
for profit for the year from discontinued ~ BL2RE B4R LA & XA
operations FARAME = 0.14
for profit/(loss) for the year HENRF(BER)mE (5.03) 1.92
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
oM BIR IR

As at 31 March 2023 72202343 A 31 H

2023 F 2022 FF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaE AR¥FT ARBTFT
(Restated)
(F&&E7)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property and equipment e Y E ] 15 95,517 70,501
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16(a) 52,916 42,370
Goodwill EE 17 281,580 581,824
Other intangible assets Hm\EpEE 18 180,121 184,076
Investment in an associate REEE QAR E 19 - 5,983
Equity investments designated at fair value 57 AIZ AT EzF AHA
through other comprehensive income PHEWRHERIRE 20 300 15,564
Contingent consideration HARE 29 8,459 -
Prepayments, other receivables and other — J&{IFRIE  H b fE U 58 &
assets HihEE 23 7,542 672
Deferred tax assets EER IR E B 31 8,277 6,917
Total non-current assets FREEERTE 634,712 907,907
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories & 21 30 1,377
Accounts receivable JEUR BR X 22 599,312 485,259
Prepayments, other receivables and other — FE{FIE + H b & U 08
assets MEMEE 23 80,516 88,630
Financial assets at fair value through profit 22X F(Ext AlEz 84 @l
or loss BE 24 11,068 4,880
Prepaid tax SEENE R 433 =
Pledged deposits BERER 25 3,057 =
Cash and cash equivalents Be MR EEY 25 163,697 86,047
Total current assets mEEERHE 858,113 666,193
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Accounts payable FE T BR X 26 11,517 11,346
Other payables and accruals HAb T EIA R ESTE A 27 105,220 59,524
Contract liabilities BHBEE 28 845 3,252
Consideration payables FERRE 29 28,519 70,000
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERTT R EMER
borrowings 30 68,500 140,779
Lease liabilities HE&E 16(b) 23,098 20,962
Tax payable JERT TR IR 1,716 8,304
Total current liabilities REEERRE 239,415 314,167
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As at 31 March 2023 722023 3 A 31 H

2023 F 2022 FF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AR¥FIT AREFIT
(Restated)
(1eE3)
NET CURRENT ASSETS nBEEFE 618,698 352,026
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBAMSR
LIABILITIES 1,253,410 1,259,933
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FkRBEE
Other payables and accruals Hith BN RIE R EET B A 27 1,275 =
Consideration payables JERRAEB 29 5,255 129,499
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERTTREMER
borrowings 30 177,144 _
Lease liabilities HEBE 16(b) 25,324 17,986
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIB A E 31 18,555 21,195
Total non-current liabilities FRBEBEREE 227,553 168,680
Net assets EEBE 1,025,857 1,091,253
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the RRATHEE NELER
Company
Share capital [N 32 40,442 35,395
Reserves 1 33 973,724 1,035,710
1,014,166 1,071,105
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR T 11,691 20,148
Total equity EREE 1,025,857 1,091,253
On behalf of the directors RERE=S
QIU Xiaojian LI Xiang
Ji:=3ie =4
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EFE E
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22 /N 3L 24
o BE £ 52 B R
For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % 202343 A31 HILF/E

Attributable to owners of the Company

ANAREARR
Retained
Share profits/ Non-
Share  premium Contributed  Statutory Revaluation Translation Other ~ (accumulated controlling Total
Note capital account surplus— reserves reserve reserve reserve losses) Total  interests equity
REEH/
it kx  ROEEE  HABR  iERE  EMRE  ENRE  AMER  (RHER) & FEREE  REEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NESTT  NRETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT ARETr  ARETT ARETT  AREFT  ARMTR
A1 April 2021 R0NE4A1R 3539 944878 7944 7,740 (3.3 2471 - (21,29) 999,904 15721 1,015,631
Profit for the year ERgH - - - - - - - 80,350 80,350 (3,3%) 76955
Other comprehensive logs for the year: ~~ EAEH2EEE:
Eichange differences relting to BB ERR R
subsicaris not established in HERARMES 8
Mainland Chin - - - - - (9,149) - - (9,149) - (9,149)
Total comprehensive incomefoss) EhcEYE/(BE)EE
for the year - - - - - (9,149) - 80,350 71,201 (3399) 67,306
Capita contrbutions from non-controlling ~ JEPEt RS2
nterests - - - - - - - - - 1,600 1,600
Acquisiion of subsidaries WEHBAT - - - - - - - - - (5,716) (5716)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR - - (7.944) = - - = 794 = 11932 11932
Appropriation ofstatutory reserves ROEERE - - - 5,136 - - - (5136) - - -
At31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RANEIANER
WNE4R1A 35,395 944,878 = 12876 (3.235) 19,328 = 61863 1,071,105 20,148 1,091,253
Loss for the year EhEE - - - - - - - (230136)  (230,136) (5878 (236,014)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for A2 ENE / (F8) :
the year:
Exchange differences relating to EBUERTERBALY
subsidiaries not established in HEARNERZE
Mainland China - - - - - 3636 - - 3,636 - 3,636
Fair value loss on equity investments ~ RATEH AZH2E
at fair value through other HENERRENATE
comprehensive income ] - - - - (15,264) - - - (15,264) - (15,264)
Total comprehensive income(loss) for £ 2E &/ (58) 45
the year - - - - (15,264) 3,636 - (230.136)  (241,764) (5878)  (247,64)
Issue of shares ik /) 504 180,19 - - - - - - 18526 - 1856
Capital contributions from FERERTE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - 2,000 2,000
Acquisition of non-controlling interests & S RiER - - - = = = (41) = (41) (4579) (5,000)
Appropriation of statutory reserves  REVEERE - - - 1,701 - - - (1.701) - - -
At31March 2023 RUBFIANA d4 11250170 A 14,5771 (18,499 22,9641 (a1 (169,974 1,014,166 11691 1,025,857
N

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB973,724,000  ~ ZE@FHREEZHFEE M BMRER P A E FEARE
(2022: RMB1,035,710,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 973,724,000 7T (2022 4 : AR #1,035,710,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEBeRER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 £ 202343 A31 HILF/E

2023 F 2022 F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaE AR¥TFT AREFT
(Restated)
(F &%)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETDHERERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax: BREBLADEF(E18)
From continuing operations REFELEER (236,956) 84,016
From discontinued operations RE RIS T = 5,825
Adjustments for: HATSIBELRE
Finance costs B TE R AR 8 25,471 17,067
Share of loss of an associate FEfR—MEtE = A RISE 12 17
Interest income FEWA 6 (2,537) (1,434)
Dividend income ISR ON 6 (67) (49)
Depreciation of property and equipment  #1% KR EITE 7 28,082 17,563
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 7 24,871 22,437
Amortisation of other intangible assets E At & N 7 25,462 21,919
Loss on disposal of property and HEMERERBESE
equipment 7 64 -
Fair value losses on financial assets at RAFEFABENSH
fair value through profit or loss BEEMATFEESS 6 1,441 286
Gain on derecognition of financial REHKATENS R
liabilities measured at amortised cost B ENRIEER R 6 (15,926) =
Fair value gain on contingent FARENAFERE
consideration 6 (110,371) =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries from HERBIFELEES
continuing operations Ly NGl 6 = (6,469)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries from HEREERIEEEER
discontinued operations PN s 12 - (8,114)
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries IR B BRI S T
from discontinued operations Loy NGl o) 8 - 1,259
Impairment loss of goodwill REREEE 7 349,385 =
Impairment losses on financial assets, CREEREERTE
net 7 17,293 12,542
Gain on recovery of accounts receivable 2] B il 4 FE UK BR SR &9
written-off Ugas (1,497) (5,980)
Gain on derecognition of financial assets ~ 1Z# Ak ANEH 2 K9Sl
measured at amortised cost B EMK IR S = (13,936)
Gain on early termination of leases R IEEER K 6 (335) =
Gain on disposal of an associate BEERE N E 6 (1,623) -
102,769 146,949
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % 202343 A31 HILF/E

2023 F 2022 F
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
BtaF AR¥FT ARBTF T
(Restated)
(F &%)
Decrease in inventories FER> 1,347 703
Increase in accounts receivable JE U BR R N (88,460) (161,326)
Increase in prepayments, other receivables FB{SFRIA « E h fE UK FRIE K
and other assets E b &I (7,109) (56,988)
Decrease in loans receivable JE I E SRR A - 12,690
Increase in pledged deposits BRFZIGM (3.057) =
Decrease in accounts payable S BRFCRL (16,833) (10,998)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and  Efth fE{F 5B K EATE F
accruals #hn,/ CRid) (21,570) 46,723
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities /\Z'JE &8, Crd) (1,251) 1,846
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes — [ERE B & (1,825) =
Cash used in operations EUETHIR S (35,989) (20,401)
Income tax paid B TSR (10,036) (12,869)
Net cash flows used in operating RETHFTARSRETHE
activities (46,025) (33,270)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZDHERESRE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received BEYFE 1,994 1,434
Dividend received B E 67 49
Purchase of property and equipment BEWMRENEE (36,071) (60,893)
Proceeds from disposal of property and HE W5 KRR E TS IE
equipment 98 63
Prepayments for a land T HIFE T FRIE (3,289) =
Purchase of other intangible assets Eﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁfﬁ/ﬁﬁ (920) (1,277)
Development costs paid for other REMEREENHFRE
intangible assets AR (17,352) (20,025)
Receipt of government grants for property WEX A B84 2 & 5% & 60 B
and equipment HEn 1,000 =
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits IREUK PR HIER 1T 73X = 4,501
Acquisition of subsidiaries W BB A A 34 (3,509) 725
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWBAF = (1,746)
Acquisition of an associate gl /NG| = (6,000)
Disposal of an associate & — = AT 6,720 -
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BB IZ AT E ABRA
through profit or loss SREE (5,400) =
Loans advanced to former subsidiaries AN TRIMB AT EK (3,500) -
Receipt of loans advanced to former WER A T B BT BB A R A9
subsidiaries B 7,950 -
Net cash flows used in investing RETBHFARESRETHE
activities (52,212) (83,169)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 £ 202343 A31 HILF/E

2023 F 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AR¥FiT AREFIT
(Restated)
(#=&E7)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RMETHAERERE

ACTIVITIES
Interest paid ERFE (2,399) (1,815)
Proceeds from issue of shares BATRAD P15 F0E 32 185,246 -
New borrowings LI 155,000 182,000
Repayment of borrowings EBREE (65,000) (75,500)
Interest portion of lease payments MERFTEFE D (2,020) (1,311)
Principal portion of lease payments MENTNREHD (26,487) (25,346)
Payment of consideration payables XA ERAE 29 (70,000) (70,000)
Capital contributions from non-controlling 3F#E B 25T &

interests 2,000 1,600
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W g ST IR (5,000) -
Net cash flows from financing RETHELENRESRE

activities RE 171,340 9,628
NET INCREASE/DECREASE) IN CASH AND IR & KIE&EEYIEm,/

CASH EQUIVALENTS CRd) 58 73,103 (106,811)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  [EREB)H) /£ 4,547 (5,351)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of E%ﬂﬁ%&fﬁ% LB

year 86,047 198,209
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND FXRIE & MRS EHEY

OF YEAR 163,697 86,047
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the #R& BIISRR R REGE R

consolidated statement of financial MEXRFAIINRE R

position and consolidated statement of ReEEY

cash flows 25 163,697 86,047
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fok 3 S 255 e e B

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % 202343 A31 HILF/E

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Kingwisoft Technology Group Company Limited (formerly
known as ZZ Technology Group Company Limited”) (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The registered address
and principal place of business of the Company is P.O. Box
309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands and Room 1204, 12/F, Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan
Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, respectively. The shares
of the Company are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

As at 31 March 2023, the directors of the Company
considered that the Company’s immediate holding company
is Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company Limited and the
Company’s ultimate holding company is Zhong Zhi Ze Yun
Capital Company Limited. The Company’s ultimate
controlling party is Mr. Xie Zhikun. Mr. Xie Zhikun passed
away on 18 December 2021.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)
are principally engaged in investment holding, provision of
back-office services (primarily provision of customer service
solutions, and setting up of contact service systems and
centres), comprehensive marketing and agency services and
data centre services.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA™), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and contingent consideration, which have been measured at
fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

1.
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2.1

100

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 March 2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, directly or
indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

Restatement of comparative financial
statements

In preparation for the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023, the
management of the Group noted a misstatement in its
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2022.
The misstatement is related to certain transactions of the
Group’s comprehensive marketing and agency services in
which the Group acted as an agent rather than a principal
based on a re-assessment of those transactions. Accordingly,
the revenue and the related cost of services for the year
ended 31 March 2022 are restated and recognised in net
amount instead of in gross amount, and the corresponding
contract liabilities are restated and reclassified to other
payables as at 31 March 2022. The management of the
Group considers the impact of reclassification adjustment of
contract liabilities and other payables as at 1 April 2021 is
not significant; therefore no restated consolidated statement
of financial position as at 1 April 2021 is presented. There is
no impact on the earnings per share for the year ended 31
March 2022.
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2.1

102

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Restatement of comparative financial
statements (Continued)

The effects of correction of this misstatement on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2022 are summarised as follows:

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2022

2.1 REE%E (&)
By BB H®ET (&)
5 IF Ut B8 AR PR il ¥ AR S B = 2022 F 3 A
MBI EENGEAMBRRZ FEMRM
—|T:

B E2022F3A31 AL FENESEZR
HEih 2

As previously Correction of
reported misstatement As restated
WA2H B IEERRER &5
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARBTIT

Revenue WA
Cost of services BRFE AKX A

865,670 (131,649) 734,021
678,596 (131,649) 546,947

Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2022

20224 3 F 31 B4 S B AR B2

As previously Correction of
reported misstatement As restated
WAEEH  EIFERERM KE5
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT ARETT ARBTIT

Other payables and accruals ~ EAth B 38 K ERTE A
Contract liabilities X ON=NE

54,157 5,367 59,524
8,619 (5,367) 3,252
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Restatement of comparative financial
statements (Continued)

Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
ended 31 March 2022

2.1 RBE%E ()

BBy B®mE (E)

BE2022F3H31 AL FENHEEESTR

B%

As previously

Correction of

reported misstatement As restated
BES®R  FIEFEREM EE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFIT AREFIT AREFIT
Increase/(decrease) in other B aIE R ERTE A
payables and accruals #hn,/ G ) 41,356 5,367 46,723
Increase/(decrease) in contract A& EE 1, CRid)
liabilities 7,213 (5,367) 1,846
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 S5t BERIEEEE

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the

first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS
9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and
HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

AEBEERAFEPBHRERERERAATE
BRI BBMBIRELER

B R RE R
F 3% (BFTA)

BEZEEANE 16
5 (IBRTA)

B e ERNE 37
DACCHES)

BB L LR
2018 4F 2 2020 F
R FE

Bt 2 et

PRI TR

BRIEEH — BTTEHZ
N

BEEMBRELERE 15 -
BRMBHRELENE9
B BB RS
% 16 57 BE M A SRR Bl
REBGERAE A1
CHEN,
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

104

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the
previous Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
(the "Conceptual Framework”) issued in June 2018
without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its
recognition principle for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes
an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for
liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be
within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if
they were incurred separately rather than assumed in
a business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3
should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent
assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition
date. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to business combinations that occurred
on or after 1 April 2022. As there were no contingent
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities within the
scope of the amendments arising in the business
combination that occurred during the year, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such
items, and the cost of those items as determined by
HKAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The Group has
applied the amendments retrospectively to items of
plant and equipment made available for use on or
after 1 April 2021. Since there was no sale of items
produced prior to the property and equipment being
available for use, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

2.2 B BERRBREES 2

ERARAREZ EIERTBEMBRE

s 1pd

WE kg

(a)

BB REEREIFUSETA) A
20184 6 A MMM A1 5 # & B AE4E
([BESHEZR |) B4R it BR AR 5E AT 87 75 3
KRB RZFEZL ORI - I &K
BEREEIETE - ZZ B NBE BN
TR ZE R S 35 A RERR R BI 4G 0 —
BEEIMER - BB 2EMSIESR
NETEAERBBEMBKEE - %Hl
SMEE  MBRE B G ERIE 375
RES(BBRUEREREZES)
REFEVIHRHEANEAERSIAEE
ME - WZSABERIAGELEB L
EAMERERE HPELE  AEAR
BBV EREENFEIFNEBES
RISERBSFERFEI7HRIES(H
BRHEHREREBZES) R EBE2
5% MIEBESAELE o BLHN  REFEET
BERAREERKIERPTIFEER
Bige NEBE $H2022F4 4185
2B EMES S GHATIE i B
ZE8:] c BN FRBEENEL S G
EEMEHERNTEIAREE &
BERHIAREE  ZEBTEHAEED
BISIRR RRIRY EELETMFTE -

BB G ERE 165 (BT AN)ZEILE
B BEREKEEBKAFTN
REEEMFEEEZIERERTE
EEFAMBE 2 RMRRABELE Y
HEZAEHIE - R - BENEZR
RUEEMZEEE ZFAERER
ZEIHE 2R (RREB GRS
2REFEERE) AEEE ¥202154
R1Bs 2B HFEBKE &&HE
HEBWEAZEFEE - AR ER
BEREEAHERIIEEE £EE
B ZFETHASEE BRI K
FRIRWEEX E M E -



KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> £ #}- 45 45 [ 4 A FR A 7]

2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT 4F#}

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fok 3 S 255 e e B

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % 202343 A31 HILF/E

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 €HHBERIEES® T &)
DISCLOSURES (continued)

()

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose
of assessing whether a contract is onerous under
HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises
the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs that
relate directly to a contract include both the
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct
labor and materials) and an allocation of other costs
that relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of
property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the
contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do
not relate directly to a contract and are excluded
unless they are explicitly chargeable to the
counterparty under the contract. The Group has
applied the amendments prospectively to contracts for
which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1
April 2022 and no onerous contracts were identified.
Therefore, the amendments did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative
Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. The
amendment applicable to the Group is HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments which clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a
new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial
liability. These fees include only those paid or received
between the borrower and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the borrower or lender on
the other’s behalf. The Group has applied the
amendment prospectively from 1 April 2022. As the
Group's modification or exchange of financial liabilities
during the year did not involve any fees paid or
received between the borrower and the lender, the
amendment did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKAS 28 (2011) between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'®

Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of

HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9
— Comparative Information®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments” )%

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the "2022
Amendments”)?

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies’
Amendments HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates'
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets

and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction'

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the
2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020
Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was
revised to align the corresponding wording with no change in
conclusion

B As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual
periods beginning before 1 January 2023

a woN -

g An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial
application of HKFRS 17
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or
loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be
determined after the completion of a broader review of
accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that
relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3

108

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, in particular
the determination over whether an entity has a right to
defer settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months after
the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected
by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement of the liability. The amendments also clarify the
situations that are considered a settlement of a liability. In
2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022 Amendments to further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from a
loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current. In
addition, the 2022 Amendments require additional
disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities arising from
loan arrangements as non-current when it has a right to
defer settlement of those liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and
shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is
permitted. An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments
early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022
Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to
apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-
mandatory, an effective date for these amendments is not
necessary. The Group is currently revisiting the accounting
policy disclosures to ensure consistency with the
amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. The amendments are effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and
changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the
start of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group'’s financial statements.
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2.3

110

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer
applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that
sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax
liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and
shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or other component of equity as appropriate
at that date. In addition, the amendments shall be applied
prospectively to transactions other than leases and
decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is
permitted.

The Group has applied the initial recognition exception and
did not recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax
liability for temporary differences for transactions related to
leases. Upon initial application of these amendments, the
Group will recognise deferred tax for all temporary
differences related to leases at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented. During the year, the Group
has performed a detailed assessment on the impact of
amendments to HKAS 12. The Group has estimated that it
will recognise a deferred tax asset of RMB4,953,000 for
deductible temporary differences associated with lease
liabilities and a deferred tax liability of RMB5,330,000 for
taxable temporary differences associated with right-of-use
assets, and recognise the cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments as an adjustment to retained
profits at 1 April 2022.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investment in an associate is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, respectively, of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s investment in the associate, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associate is included as part of the Group’s
investment in an associate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Except for business combination under common control, the
Group accounted for its business combinations using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is measured
at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the
acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of
net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are measured at
fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input
and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower
than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference
is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain
on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups
of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and contingent consideration at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a
cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if
it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

24 FESHBERBE »)

NFEFE#E)

R BHRRABIBREATFENABEEER
BELNREHSAFEAEERMSBERN
SEBRBABE R TXAAAN A FERE
RMADER

F—R — REERNEEXABNEED
SEVRE CREFE)

FR — ERNHLATEFEMEBEXR
H) R AK AR Bl 8 A BUR AT B3R =X
BB R EERM

F=H — ERHRATEFENSBEEKR
H & (K B A A BiE B AR
S E R

RIREEERERM B HRRERANEERA
EmME @ ARERSHRERREBEN NG
PHERBEERFEFEREN S BEXH
REERBABB) EEEEQR AR %
R -

FEMEERME

WHRBRETSR - HAHEE(FE - EL
MIREE K& B EERIN) E1TFERER
A R EFEENATKRESE - BENA
WEeBEAEEXRELEUNERER
BENFEREEXAREPORETE - I
SLERBEET - BRIFEENBELEABUB
YREMEEREEMARNNRERA - Hit
BT AkEeBEREEMBNRESESL
BUETE  EHREESBMETRERNR
B - REERE(MASAE) WESREES
DEEBEMNREELEM(WAIRGER—
BHWEENR) BRAIENKERGELSE
2 8B/ MBI o

115



KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> £ #}- 45 45 [ e 4 A R A ]
2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT 4F#}

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&30 B 0% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &% 202343 A31 HILFE

24

116

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiiy is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item
of property and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of
lease terms and 20%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment  20% to 33%

Electronic and other equipment 20% to 50%

Motor vehicles 20%

Leasehold improvements

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use
or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in
a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.
Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
and services is capitalised and deferred only when the Group
can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Development expenditure which does not
meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
(Continued)

Other intangible assets

Other than the brand arising from the Group’s acquisition of
KingNine Holdings Limited in the prior year, which is
considered by the management of the Group as having
indefinite useful life and therefore not subject to
amortisation, the Group’s other intangible assets are
amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Customer relationship 7 years
Technology know-how 5 years
Patent 5 years
Software 3 to 7 years
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office premises and staff quarters 2 to 10 years

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as
an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

122

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of properties (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit
or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of accounts receivable
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value,
plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Accounts receivable that do
not contain a significant financing component or for which
the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured
at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are
recognised in profit or loss and computed in the same
manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The remaining fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative
fair value change recognised in other comprehensive income
is recycled to profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-
by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in
profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except
when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery
of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case such
gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried

in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as
other income in profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host and
accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit
or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or
loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognise an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
receivable. The ECL on these assets are assessed using a
provision matrix with reference to internal credit rating of
the receivables.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level may
not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and days past due.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the end of the
reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. In particular, the following
information is taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

] significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
the event of default occurs when the information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full. The Group considers a financial asset in
default when contractual payments are 90 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate. In certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

o a significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

° a high probability that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
financial liabilities at amortised cost.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include accounts payables,
other payables and accruals, consideration payables,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and lease
liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss (Continued)

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term.
This category also includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as
hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by
HKFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for
trading are recognised in profit or loss. The net fair value
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial
date of recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are
satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss, except
for the gains or losses arising from the Group’s own credit
risk which are presented in other comprehensive income
with no subsequent reclassification to profit or loss. The net
fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have
a short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When
the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as
income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs,
for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to profit or
loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by
equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers,
i.e., a performance obligation is satisfied, at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. A
performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is
highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e., the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e., the Group is an agent). The
Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer. The Group is an agent if its performance
obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified
good or service by another party. In this case, the Group
does not control the specified good or service provided by
another party before that good or service is transferred to
the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it
recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission
to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging
for the specified goods or services to be provided by the
other party.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24 FESHBERBE »)

Revenue recognition (Continued) WA TR (&)

Revenue from contracts with customers KEEFEHZWA ()
(Continued)

(a) Back-office services (a) #E#EBERH®E

The Group provides a range of back-office services
that help its customers to support their end-users. The
back-office services include provision of customer
service solutions which primarily provides round-the-
clock contact services in multiple languages and
accessible from various channels and provision of
solutions on project-based customer service software
and system development and setup support services.

For the provision of customer service solutions related
services, revenue is recognised and the performance
obligation is satisfied when the relevant services are
rendered. The provision of services is billed based on
various measurement mainly taking into account the
number of service staff involved, the quality of the
tasks performed, the service hours provided with fixed
hourly rates and performance based adjustments.
Other than those with advance payments from
customers, the Group has a right to invoice in an
amount that corresponds directly with the value of the
Group's performance completed to date. The directors
of the Company have assessed that provision of
customer service solutions represent one single
performance obligation and the customers
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs. Therefore, the directors of the Company
considered that the services are satisfied over time.
Other than those with advance payments from
customers, revenue from the provision of services is
recognised in an amount to which the Group has a
right to invoice. Customers are invoiced on a monthly
basis or according to agreed payment terms.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(a) Back-office services (Continued)

24 FESHBERBE»)

WARER (&)
KEEFEEFESHZHWA (&)

(a) EERH (&)

For the provision of service for setting up contact
services systems and centres, it includes a
comprehensive set of activities in the contract, such as
system design, implementation, installation, trial
launch and software and hardware support, which are
highly interdependent and interrelated. The directors
of the Company have assessed that revenue from
provision of the services is recognised and the
performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
when the services are rendered according to the terms
of the agreements which the control of the service is
transferred when the Group has provided the related
services.

Some contracts of back-office services require advance
payments from customers and the portion of fee
received in advance but not earned is recorded as
contract liabilities and is reflected as a current liability
as such amounts represent revenue that the Group
expects to earn within one year. Payment of back-
office services is due generally within three months
upon issuance of customer billings.

FAHR (32 ST B 48 AR 75 B A e R D Y BR
Bins  AER/REARKT T %
£ AETURRGEREFFE—
MEENEHESE  REBEMREK
FHEEMEM ARREFENHE
AR5 B0 W AR 1B AN SR 4 148 A AR
765 By 0 R PR %5 22 1) M 0 0 R MR K - O
RERBOSRIBERLCBETELD
Bff-

MOERBIRBENFTERPENFIR
i F8 58 WERB I R EREREY & A &f 0 =T
RRANABTRBRARBAE T
HRZEFRAEEAREBA/R —F
AEREE U » 18 & IRTS — AN E
HEPERER =EARRMK -



KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> £ #}- 45 45 [ 4 A FR A 7]
2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT 4F#}

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 0 I 5 e % B

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % 202343 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24 FESHBERBE »)

Revenue recognition (Continued) W AT (&)

Revenue from contracts with customers KEEFEHZWA (&)
(Continued)

(b) Comprehensive marketing and agency services (b) ZEEZHERMACERE

The Group renders various marketing and agency
services, including advertising and agency services to
brand owners on various platforms such as apps,
social media and websites of which the performance
obligation is to arrange for platforms to delivery
advertising services. Revenue from provision of the
services is recognised when the services are rendered
according to the terms of the agreements over the
service period and the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group'’s performance as the Group performs. Billings
are made to brand owners on an order basis and are
generally due upon issuance of billings. While
platforms usually agree rebate amounts with the
Group on a quarterly basis and settlements are made
within three months after the rebate amounts are
finalised, some platform contracts provide the Group
with annual volume rebates which give rise to variable
consideration subject to constraint.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

142

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(c)

Data centre services

The Group provides various corporate data centre
services such as value-added services to internet data
centres for securities houses, including their trading
system, quotation system and data processing system.
The revenue is recognised when the relevant services
are rendered and the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group
throughout the contract period. Thus, the Group
satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time with reference to the actual service
period passed relative to the total contract period. The
portion of services fee received in advance but not
earned is recorded as contract liabilities and is reflected
as a current liability as such amounts represent revenue
that the Group expects to earn within one year.

Performance obligations for the provision of back-office

services, comprehensive marketing and agency services and
data centre services are either for a period of one year or

less or bill a fixed amount for each month of services

provided. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of
the related goods or services to the customer).

Retirement benefit costs

Retirement benefit costs include pension scheme
contributions for the Group’s employees in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme"”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those eligible Hong Kong
employees. For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group
contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs to the MPF
Scheme subject only to the maximum level of payroll costs
of HK$30,000 per employee, which contribution is matched
by the employees. Contributions are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operates in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the respective local municipal
governments. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of
the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors of the Company the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company'’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to
an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries not
operating in Mainland China are currencies other than RMB.
As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their profit or loss are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation
reserve. On disposal of an operation whose functional
currency is not RMB, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular operation is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of an operation
whose functional currency is not RMB and any fair value
adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
that particular operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of operations whose functional currencies are
not RMB are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of those particular operations which arise
throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3.

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Accounting for companies governed under
contractual arrangements as subsidiaries

The Company and some of its subsidiaries do not hold any
equity interests in certain of their subsidiaries. Nevertheless,
under the contractual agreements entered into between the
Group and the shareholders who are the registered owners
of those subsidiaries, the directors of the Company
determine that the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of those subsidiaries so as to
obtain benefits from their activities. As such, those
subsidiaries are accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group
for accounting purposes.

Determining the method to account for the
revenue arising from provision of comprehensive
marketing and agency services

The Group has entered into contracts with its customers in
relation to its comprehensive marketing and agency services.
The Group has determined, based on an assessment of the
relevant terms and conditions of the contracts as well as the
nature of services rendered in the transactions, that when it
does not control the specified service before it is transferred
to a customer without the involvement of another party, has
no discretion in establishing the price for the service
rendered, has no inventory risk, and is not primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise to deliver the service,
the Group is an agent in the transaction and accounts for
the corresponding comprehensive marketing and agency
service on a net basis reflecting the margin earned.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of goodwiill

Determining whether goodwill are impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the value
in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value-in-use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units and a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, or change in facts
and circumstances which results in downward revision of
future cash flows, a material impairment loss/further
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 March 2023, the
carrying amount of goodwill before impairment is
RMB630,965,000 (2022: RMB581,824,000). Impairment
loss of RMB349,385,000 was recognised during the year
(2022: Nil). Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts
receivable

The Group generally uses provision matrix to calculate ECL
for the accounts receivable and the provision rates are
determined for the Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment result categories. The Group'’s internal credit risk
grading assessment comprises four categories, i.e., low risk,
watch list, doubtful and loss. The estimated loss rates are
determined with reference to various factors, such as
repayment histories and current past due exposure, taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is
available without undue costs or effort. At the end of each
reporting period, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the Group’s accounts receivable and the
ECL is disclosed in notes 22 and 40 to the financial
statements, respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3.

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The Group did not recognise
any deferred tax assets for unused tax losses as at 31 March
2023 (2022: Nil). The amount of unrecognised tax losses at
31 March 2023 was RMB598,622,000 (2022:
RMB403,336,000). Further details are contained in note 31 to
the financial statements.

Fair value of contingent consideration

The non-current portion of contingent consideration has
been valued based on the results of the Monte Carlo
simulation model under the income approach as detailed in
note 39 to the financial statements. The valuation requires
the Group to make estimates on volatility rate and discount
rate. The Group classifies the fair value of the non-current
portion of contingent consideration as Level 3. The fair value
of the non-current portion of contingent consideration
(before set off against the corresponding consideration
payables) at 31 March 2023 was RMB68,890,000 (2022:
Nil). Further details are contained in note 29 to the financial
statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is primarily engaged in the provision of value-
added telecommunications and related services, including
back-office services, comprehensive marketing and agency
services and data centre services. Given that the chief
operating decision maker of the Company considers that the
Group’s business is operated and managed as a single
segment, no further segment information is presented.

BEAGHE KA @)

fhEt RREEM (@)

fisi A] BE 75 FE ER B 0w A AR S R B A A TEH /B
B ARADABERRECHBELEE -
ETAERANECHEEESTERN  EEE
TR IR AR S FE SR A 5 ) 9 AT B By R B2 7K IA
TR R BT 7 B SR B VE I B R FI BT - 722023
F3IANA AEEBEWE KRS AHIE
FEEE R (IR IEE E (2022 F -
) o JA2023F3 A31H » RERTIIEEIR
& %85 AR #598,622,0007T (20224 + A
R ¥ 403,336,000 7T) ° #E— 2 EE N U
REMIFEST -

HARREN L FE

FARREBRIIERBD D ERBWEE TR
BRERBEMNNERETHE  FEIAR
BIERRMIFE39 o EERAEEE KB K
KA EAEREET « NEEAFHAREIER
FE D AT ELEEE =4 - 1N 2023F 3
A318  sKAREIERB IS (RIEEEE
FERHRERT) ;A F{E A AR 68,890,000
TL(2022 4 : #&) o #E— H B H N M B R
FHIFE29 o

REDHER

AR EEBHERFEAESERIABRG (2
AR - 2EEH R R RS
DR - BRAR A BEEREE DA
ARBEEBIAE D BEERER - ML
23— HHPER -
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

4,

REFITER (&)

ih & & ¥
(a) RKREIBEFHKA

2023 F 2022 FF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT AREFIT

(Restated)

(FeE75)

Mainland China HR B i 888,622 734,021

The revenue information above is based on the

locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

FRBABRTIEREFAEES
5] o

(b) ¥ABEE

2023 & 2022 FF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT T ARBFT

Mainland China AR (A B, 611,086 881,194
Hong Kong B 2,337 3,560
613,423 884,754

The non-current asset information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes financial

instruments and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

During the year, revenues from transactions with single
external customers (including entities under common control
with those customers) amounting to 10% or more of the

Group's revenues are as follows:

AR EEEH IR EEMEN
2o TEEZBIAREREREER
E o

FEEFEHR
FR - REEINNEF(BREZERF

ZHREHNER) DR BEREEKA
10% st A ERA T -

2023 & 2022 FF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT T ARBFT

Customer A ZEA 262,828 117,166
Customer B =FEB 203,502 -
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REVENUE 5. WA
An analysis of the Group’s revenue from contracts with AEBREEEEEIEERGNEFEEH
customers arising from the value-added telecommunication WASITIT -

and related services is as follows:

2023 £ 2022 5
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFr ARETFT
(Restated)
(# &%)
Back-office services: B a R -
Provision of customer service solutions RIEEE RIS R 835,634 693,776
Set up of contact service systems and FE T Eih AR AR TS R BT B R
centres 1,340 663
836,974 694,439
Comprehensive marketing and agency 2 H R RIER
services 26,135 18,097
Data centre services B O ARTS 25,513 21,485
888,622 734,021
Disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from contracts with AEERRBARRKHESSHEFEHKA
customers by the timing of revenue recognition is set out FAERINNT -
below:
2023 £ 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFr AE®FT
(Restated)
(F£ &%)
Over time 4 A R 887,282 733,358
At a point in time 2, 1,340 663
888,622 734,021
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6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

6. HWARWzE

2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBTFT
Investment return from financial assets at #ZAFEFTABZNEREER
fair value through profit or loss, net & B HFEE
Fair value losses N EEE (1,441) (286)
Dividend income & BUA 67 49
Interest income FEUA
Bank interest income |RITHEHA 930 962
Other interest income EF S A 1,607 472
Fair value gain on contingent FARER A FERER
consideration 110,371 =
Government grants* LR 26,482 13,072
Value-added tax (“VAT") refund? REBRE ([EER]) A 4,179 5,418
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries BENB AW - 6,469
Foreign exchange differences, net PE X =555 525 1,833
Gain on derecognition of financial R ERIREIE AT E RN S H
liabilities measured at amortised cost BEs k= 15,926 -
Gain on early termination of leases IR IE R E RS 335 411
Gain on disposal of an associate Bo BB N Al ES 1,623 =
Others HAitb 197 3,255
160,801 31,655
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Government grants mainly represented incentives received for
investments in certain regions in Mainland China in which the
Company'’s subsidiaries operate, employment subsidies and other tax
incentives. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating
to these grants.

Value-added tax refund mainly attributable to the Value-Added Tax
Policy for Software Products (Cai Shui 2011 No. 100), in which for
sale of self-developed software products by a general VAT tax payer,
after VAT is levied at a tax rate of 17%, the refund-upon-collection
policy shall be applied and the portion of the actual VAT burden that
is in excess of 3% shall be refunded; and the Tax Policy for Further
Supporting and Promoting Entrepreneurship and Employment of
Focus Group (Cai Shui 2019 No. 22), in which value-added tax
deduction is granted for entering into employment contracts with the
focus group.

BUS#HB L ZHERARAMBRRLERETE
A E TR KR A FTURER A 228D - (R R B &
Hb RIS EHE - 2 S B BRI Z MRkt
AREIR

BEHEHEIEFANRGEREERBRE (8
2011 FE1005%) - i—RIGEHATAHEE
BERBENEFESR 1 17% W5 REUUEETR
% EIRASBBERE  WEREERHEER
BEBBE3% MM RE— T HMEHEEH
HRaEMEEBHMBER (M B120196F 522
5%) - BCRYB SRR ERBA R ER
HETRE
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PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 7. BRBADEFR(EE)

AEEREFBEEEEB 2 BBANEN, (B
B)EmE Gt A) TFIEA

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax from continuing
operations is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2023 F 2022 F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HfaF AR¥FT AREFIT
Depreciation of property and MERZETE
equipment 15 28,275 17,563
Less: Amount attributable to the  J8l : BRI EEBIEN
discontinued operations | = (34)
Amount capitalised =N et (193) (241)
28,082 17,288
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {EREEENE 16(a) 24,871 22,437
Amortisation of other intangible ST ALATNIE B By H b
assets included in BEHH
Cost of services i e In®N 7,971 4,428
Administrative expenses THAX 17,491 17,491
18 25,462 21,919
Impairment loss on goodwill A REEE 17 349,385 -
Impairment losses on financial assets, & @& E R {EE 18558
net
Accounts receivable FEMER K 22 3,558 2,761
Other receivables HAth e U IR 23 13,735 9,781
17,293 12,542
Loss on disposal of property and HEMERFFEEE
equipment* 64 -
Lease payments not included in the ~ Tt ATHEBEFENHE
measurement of lease liabilities 3R 16(c) 2,398 3,458
Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN 3,677 2,068
Employee benefit expense (including EEEFAHAY (BREES &
directors’” and chief executive’s =T ABME)
remuneration)
Wages and salaries TENRE® 496,961 379,014
Pension scheme contributions” RIS EEIMERA 49,274 32,937
Termination benefits BB AR A 13,623 -
Less: Amount capitalised e N (10,763) (10,892)
549,095 401,059
* It is included in “Other expenses and losses” in profit or loss. & FTABmZ [HtAZ REEI R -
A There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as A BERRER TR AEBIEREERERERA

the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

HFKF -
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FINANCE COSTS 8. M
An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as RO ERE BN TSRS T -
follows:
2023 F 2022 &
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M at AR¥T T ARBF T
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEBZFE 16(b) 2,020 1,311
Interest on consideration payables JERRE ZF B 29 6,187 8,662
Interest on bank borrowings RITERFLE 2,399 1,823
Interest on other borrowings H A e F 2 36(b) 14,865 5,271
25,471 17,067
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERESITTHRAE#ME
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, BRI FTRE S Al R £ AR A ([GEM &
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of mHRA]) - BFHEAFTHEGIE 383(1)@) * (b)
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock OFOERAR(HEZEEHEER) RO
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), F2HPENAFEERE REEITERA S
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part ST :
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Fees £ 204 741
Other emoluments: HibE g :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in e 2L REYHE
kind 5,326 6,391
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAT = 53
Pension scheme contributions BIREETEIHR 36 45
Termination benefits BERRAE A 10,787 -
16,149 6,489
17,053 7,230

During the year ended 31 March 2023, there was no
arrangement under which a director of the Company waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration and no remuneration
was paid by the Group to a director of the Company as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group (2022: Nil).

REE2023F3831BIEFEE » HEARQ
RESHEXRAERETANMESOLEE - ™
AEENERARFDESZMERBME - 1
BMAKREBE RN INAREE R A R

(20224 : &) -
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EENBESITHRAEME®
REMUNERATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2023 BHZ2023F3A31HLLEFE
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits  Discretionary scheme  Termination Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions benefits remuneration
e RER Bfhe

fig EMAlE MiERA SRR HBER e
RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000
ARETR  ARETT ARETT ARBTT  ARMTRL  ARETR

Executive directors: 78S
Mr. QIU Xiaojian (notes (i EREERE R4 (B2 ()
and (i) i) = = = = = =
Mr. LI Xiang (note (j) ZRSHE (H13() - 94 - - - 94
Mr. NIU Zhanbin (note (i) 4 S (Hra (i) - 2,793 - 16 6,023 8,832
Mr. LIU Yang (notes (i) and (i) 2133 26 4 (B2 i) R (i) - 768 - - 1,568 2,336
Mr. WU Hui (note (i) RBRLAE (H() - 979 - 16 3,196 4,191
Mr. JIANG Yulin (note (i) BEMEE (Kt i) = 547 = 4 = 551
- 5,181 - 36 10,787 16,004
Independent non-executive B kB 7EES
directors:
Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID Stephen MARKSCHEID
bt 262 - - - - 262
Mr. ZHANG Weidong REREE 262 - - - - 262
Mr. ZENG Liang (note (iv)) LR EE (M) 262 - - - - 262
Mr. WANG Li (note (1)) InEEBHY) 118 - - - - 118
904 - - - - 904
Co-chief executive officer: ~ BETHAR :
Mr. HU Shilong (note (1)) WtE ks (M) - 145 - - - 145
904 5,326 - 36 10,787 17,053
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERERSITRAEME @
REMUNERATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2022 BHZE2022F3A31MBLFEE
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits  Discretionary scheme  Termination Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions benefits  remuneration
54 2ER il
ik EWs T HE 5 BB ER B

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFL  ARETT  ARETT  ARMTL  ARBFT  ARETT

Executive directors: HITES !
Mr. NIU Zhanbin (note (i) & BREE (BE) - 2,633 - 15 = 2,648
Mr. WU Hui (note (i) RERE (BE) = 636 53 15 = 704
Mr. JIANG Yulin (note (ii) BEMRSE (W22 (i) = 2,981 - 15 = 2,99
= 6,250 53 45 = 6,348
Independent non-executive BYFHTEE :
directors:
Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID Stephen MARKSCHEID
bt 247 = = = = 247
Mr. ZHANG Weidong REREE 247 - - - - 247
Mr. ZENG Liang (note (iv)) DR KA (W7 () 227 - - - - 227
Mr. ZHANG Longgen (note (iv)  3REE18 %64 (Hii (iv)) 20 = = = = 20
74 = = = = 74
Co-chief executive officer: ~ BETHAR :
Mr. HU Shilong (note (vi) Wtk E (Mt ) - 141 - - = 141
74 6,391 53 45 = 7,230
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

Notes:

@)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

On 7 February 2023, Mr. QIU Xiaojian and Mr. LI Xiang were
appointed as executive directors of the Company.

On 6 March 2023, Mr. NIU Zhanbin resigned as the chairman and an
executive director of the Company, Mr. LIU Yang resigned as the chief
executive officer and an executive director of the Company, and Mr.
WU Hui resigned as the chief operating officer and an executive
director of the Company. Until the appointment of new chief
executive officer of the Company, the executive directors of the
Company will continue to oversee the day-to-day management of the
business and operations of the Group. On the same date, Mr. QIU
Xiaojian was appointed as the chairman of the Company.

On 5 June 2022, Mr. JIANG Yulin was removed as the chief executive
officer and an executive director of the Company. On the same date,
Mr. LIU Yang was appointed as the chief executive officer and an
executive director of the Company.

On 30 April 2021, Mr. ZHANG Longgen resigned as an independent
non-executive director of the Company, and Mr. ZENG Liang was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company.

On 21 October 2022, Mr. WANG Li was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company.

On 11 October 2021, Mr. HU Shilong was appointed as the co-chief
executive officer of the Company, and on 23 September 2022, Mr.
HU Shilong resigned as the co-chief executive officer of the Company.

BEERBETHRAEME @)

(i) MN2023F2A7H  BERIEIERFELERSE
FEEBRREATES -

(ii) M2023F3A6H  FHBMAERHERRBERE
RHITES - 2FSEFERRRITRATEHR
TEE MRBELERTIAARIERBELERY
TEE - REEARRBFNITHREHA - RARH
TESHEREEASEEENAEERERY
BoRA - PBERLEEZEARRATERE -

@iy  MR2022F6A5H F BEMEEEERARDRIT
BRBHEFHTES - AR BFELERZTERE
RATHBHFRAITES -

(iv) 2021548308 @ REREEBIAQGBL
FNTES  GREEEZTAAARB IR
TE% -

(v) R2022F 108218 EHEAEZETALARR
B IEHITES -

(viy HR2021E108118  HtEAEEZTAAR
A EITIRAREL - 202249 A23 A « iftiE
S EBHEAR D RIBE R TIAEE, ©
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10.

The five highest paid employees during the year included
three (2022: two) directors of the Company, details of
whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of
the remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2022:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company are as follows:

AuEESHMES

FRNAAGTEEHEERIE=4(2022F 1 [
B)RNRRES - HEFMFBEIHR LS
9 REEHTIMAZ(20224F : =R )BeoH
BiE 8 (WA RREFhHRESTRAE) K
BT ¢

2023 F 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBTIT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 -~ 2Bi R EWAHIZE 1,987 4,027
Discretionary bonuses EIBIEAL - 261
Pension scheme contributions RIS FHEIHER 22 42
Termination benefits BEE A2 A 2,836 -

4,845 4,330

The number of non-director and non-chief executive,
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the

following bands is as follows:

FHHN T A THBENFES RIEFRSITRA
B RRFHEBEABMT

Number of employees

EEHH
2023 & 2022 4F
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 & T2 1,500,000 7T = 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 78 7L = 2,000,000 /5 7T 1 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 7T £ 2,500,000 78 7T - 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7 7T & 4,500,000 78 7T 1 =
2 3
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11. INCOME TAX

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"”) and the respective
regulations, the Group’s entities which operate in Mainland
China are subject to corporate income tax (“CIT”) at a rate
of 25% (2022: 25%) on the taxable income, except for
certain subsidiaries which were entitled to a preferential tax
rate of 15% (2022:15%) because they were accredited as
“High and New Technology Enterprises” and certain
subsidiaries which were entitled to a preferential tax rate of
5% (2022: 2.5% and 5%) of the taxable income between
RMB1,000,000 and RMB3,000,000 because they were
regarded as “small-scaled minimal profit enterprises”, one
of the criteria of which is with annual taxable income no
more than RMB3,000,000 during the corresponding year.
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year (2022: Nil).

1. FrE8H

RIEPZEAREME ([FRH]) DERBRE
MHEEER  AEERTPEAMEENER
JA T e R TR U AT 25% (2022 4F : 25%) HY
REBNEEMESR([EEMSR]) - H#E
THBARAFERES [ @I EMmEE] M
ZE15% (20224F : 15% ) WEBEHERLE
FHBARAFKR A [N ] M=E
B AR 1,000,000 TE A R ¥ 3,000,000 7T
2 P E R U A H95% (20224 1 2.5% &
5%)MBEME - Hf — &R EZE AN
EFENFERRBFRATBBARE
3,000,0007C - HRAAEBE R FAL ERE
BEETMERTRF - MU EREEFE
FRIE B4 (2022 6F « ) o

2023 & 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT ARMTF T

Current tax — Mainland China BIEARH IR — R EI A
Charge for the year FALH 4,971 13,706
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBRBEERE (1,913) _
3,058 13,706
Deferred (note 31) PRIE (KTt 31) (4,000) (820)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year FARBLZ L, (ER) 25 (942) 12,886

No tax attributable to an associate was included in “Share
of loss of an associate” in profit or loss (2022: Nil).

BB 2 N B E(RFR BT A B 25 2 [ FE(L B
BNTIEE](20224F - ) -
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11. INCOME TAX (Continued) 1. I @)
BANE BB M B R R BDEE R
KT ENRBATE T (E1R) B8R HIER
X(BR) BREEREAENHIEAR

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to
profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory rate of the PRC in
which the majority of the Group's subsidiaries are

established to the tax expense/(credit) at the effective tax S (B EERINT ¢
rate is as follows:
2023 £ 2022 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETFIT
Profit/(loss) before tax from continuing REFEESESHBRTIR
operations wm A, (E518) (236,956) 84,016
Profit before tax from discontinued KB BRI TSR R T A
operations i ) = 5,825
(236,956) 89,841
Tax at the statutory rate of 25% (2022: 1A EM K 25% (2022 £ -
25%) 25%) st EH) TR (59,239) 22,460
Lower tax rates for other jurisdictions or — E fib &) A4 [& =k b 77 1 B8 2845 HY
enacted by local authorities R T R 25,404 (3,858)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of 38 1E B BN HARL 1E JF 28
previous periods (1,913) -
Loss attributable to an associate N RIS 1E (2) =
Income not subject to tax AT (20,958) (3,262)
Expenses not deductible for tax AATH0F A 2 58,082 7,734
Tax losses utilised from previous periods  3@%F BifEI 2 B) A F B ET18 (3.533) (143)
Tax losses not recognised RERTIBBRE 7,782 (4,546)
Temporary differences not recongised AERERE=R 120 -
Tax effect of 100% relief with respect to 75 BAFHEX B 5 100% 3 % 89§ 75
research and development expenses za (6,685) (5,499)
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s AR EEERMNRTER T IE
effective rate Y (KR) (942) 12,886
Tax charge/(credit) from continuing REFBBECEEBHRBEZ L
operations (E®) (942) 12,886
Tax charge from discontinued operations 2K 5 B #% |F 4% & 2 R T IR
X = =
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s EAEEERMRAERNTIE
effective rate () (942) 12,886
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group disposed
of subsidiaries which were principally engaged in provision
of corporate advisory services, investment advisory services,
asset management services and money lending business.
The net assets of the disposed subsidiaries at the date of

12. CRIEEEMNER

REE2022F63A831BIEFE - AEEH
EETHBAR  ZSHBAREEHER
HEEBEMRE  HEBEBRS EETE
RIEREEXEY - ELENBARINEEH
HNEEFERRSRESEEBMRAFE

disposal and the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents DT
were analysed as follows:
RMB’000
AREFT
Net assets disposed of: BEHEEETHE
Tax recoverable AT EI IR 413
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEeEEY 9,130
Other payables and accruals H b AN FRIE R FEEH B R (478)
9,065
Realisation of translation reserve bE N IR (5,265)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations & B RIS B e 8,114
Cash consideration RERE 11,914
Cash consideration RERE 11,914
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of EHERSRESEEY (9,130)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of FRHEERIEKLEEBHNIRENR
the disposal of discontinued operations ReFEYHRAFR 2,784
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

The results of the discontinued operations for the year
ended 31 March 2022 prior to the disposal are set out

12. CRLERENER &)

HEMERIEZEEERKEZ202243 A31
BIEFEz 2EE5HHT

below:
RMB’000
AE®FT
Revenue WA 903
Administrative expenses THRX (1,933)
Other expenses and losses EmFE REE (1,259)
Loss before tax (note) BREE AT AR (M aT) (2,289)
Income tax Frigis _
Loss for the year from discontinued operations FABKR I EEBEE (2,289)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations HE BRI & B e 8,114
Profit for the year from discontinued operations BRI E R T R I A 5,825

Note: Loss before tax included staff costs of RMB1,110,000 and depreciation
of property and equipment of RMB34,000.

The net cash flows incurred by the discontinued operations
for the year ended 31 March 2022 prior to the disposal are

Hiat : BRBRTBEEEE TRAARY 1,110,000 7T A
Rz RFBETE AR 34,0007T ©

HERD R IEREEBRBE2022F3 A
BB FEEANREREFENAT

as follows:
RMB’000
ARBTFT
Net cash outflows from operating activities KRB & R R (1,030)
Net cash inflows from investing activities KEEBHESMAFEE 6,855
Net cash inflows from financing activities BB EEIA M AFERR =
Net cash inflows REMANFRE 5,825

13. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2023, nor
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2022: Nil).
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14. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss (2022: earnings) per share
amount is based on the loss (2022: profit) for the year
attributable to owners, i.e., ordinary equity holders, of the
Company of RMB230,136,000 (2022: RMB80,350,000), and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
4,578,040,138 in issue during the year (2022:
4,188,519,590).

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss (2022:
earnings) per share amount presented for the year ended 31
March 2023 in respect of a dilution because the Group had
no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the
year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per
share are based on:

14. ZRRERREFEAREESR

&R (&BER)

FRREAREE (2022 F : ZF)) THREA R A
BEA BETAEZFEARBEFRER
(2022 5 & F) AFR¥E 230,136,000 7T (2022
& AR¥80,350,0007T) R FERNEHETLRE
A% AN #E F 15 $4,578,040,138 i% (2022 4F :
4,188,519,590 fi% ) 5+ & -

HRAAREENEHE2023FE38318ILFE
WAL BB E L @R (2022F « ) -
M SR B A = 2023 F3 A31HIEAF
E2FMEREAEIE(2022F : BF)) 2
BIEHFARE -

FREAREERT,(BR) DRBELA TS

| At
HETE -

2023 2022 FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBTFT
Earnings/(loss) BR(BR)
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity FIAETE FIREAR N #E B8
holders of the Company used in the RAR L REREE ARG
basic and diluted earnings per share wm Al (EE)
calculation
From continuing operations R AR L T (230,136) 74,525
From discontinued operations RE BRI EER = 5,825
(230,136) 80,350
Number of shares
RGE B
2023 F 2022
Shares [iidv)

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year used in
the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per — JN#EF 15 2%
share calculation

AR ESRERREERN,
(BR)NFAREITERRK

4,578,040,138 4,188,519,590
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15. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 15. YIERFME
Furniture, Electronic
Leasehold  fixtures and and other Motor
improvements  equipment equipment vehicles Total
B #£E BEfK
HEMERE R#EE Hitii B @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBTn  ARETT ARETT ARETxn

31 March 2023 2023%F3A31H

At 1 April 2022 R202264 R 18

Cost AR 63,019 898 26,821 3,934 94,672

Accumulated depreciation 2EE (15,003) (780) (7,544) (844) (24,171)
Net carrying amount REFE 48,016 118 19,277 3,090 70,501

Costat 1 April 2022, netof #2022 4 A 18
accumulated depreciation RO - HBR RAT

ik 48,016 118 19,277 3,090 70,501
Additions NE 21,294 191 13,533 1,053 36,071
Acquisition of subsidiaries WM B AR
(note 34) (Hat34) 9,542 2,017 5,749 40 17,348
Disposals HE = - (162) - (162)
Depreciation provided during ~ FRGHERE
the year (16,959) (281) (10,087) (948) (28,275)
Exchange realignment P Ji J % 33 1 - - 34

Costat 31 March 2023, net 720233 A31H

of accumulated RIBAR » 3BRRET

depreciation e 61,926 2,046 28,310 3,235 95,517
At 31 March 2023 ®2023F3A31H
Cost B 7R 93,855 3,106 45,692 5,027 147,680
Accumulated depreciation ZETE (31,929) (1,060) (17,382) (1,792) (52,163)
Net carrying amount EEFE 61,926 2,046 28,310 3,235 95,517
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15. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 15. MERRE @)

Furniture, Electronic
Leasehold fixtures and and other Motor
improvements equipment equipment vehicles Total
B KE ETR
HEMEERE P& Hii AE @5t
RIVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000
AREFTL  ARETT AREFT AREFT ARETT
31 March 2022 2022%F3A31H
At 1 April 2021 R2021464H1H
Cost XN 22,452 795 10,686 3,300 37,233
Accumulated depreciation e (6,108) (759) (2,186) (112) (9,165)
Net carrying amount REFE 16,344 36 8,500 3,188 28,068
Costat 1 April 2021, netof R 202154 A 18
accumulated depreciation B - R 25t
e 16,344 36 8,500 3,188 28,068
Additions RE 42,351 178 17,730 634 60,893
Acquisition of subsidiaries G UNG 1,052 = 589 = 1,641
Disposals T & (26) = (37) = (63)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHRBRR (1,225) (31) (1,211) = (2,467)
Depreciation provided during ~ FREHENE
the year (10,483) (54) (6,294) (732) (17,563)
Exchange realignment BN AR 3 (11) - - 8)
Costat 31 March 2022, net 7202263 A31H
of accumulated RIBAR » HIBR RET
depreciation e 48,016 118 19,277 3,090 70,501
At 31 March 2022 202263 A31H
Cost D% 63,019 898 26,821 3,934 94,672
Accumulated depreciation ZEhE (15,003) (780) (7,544) (844) 24171
Net carrying amount REFE 48,016 118 19,277 3,090 70,501
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16. LEASES 16. &
The Group as a lessee KEBERFAHEA
The Group has lease contracts for various buildings for office AEBBRELEMTANRAEWERET
premises and staff quarters used in its operations, and the BENZEBFINHEESD  HEBENT®R
lease terms ranged from two years to ten years. FEE+E o
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) BHAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use AEBFEAEEE(EF)NEREE
assets, i.e., buildings, and the movements during the RERNEEBMT -

year are as follows:

2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TFT ARBTIT

Carrying amount at the beginning of ~ R REHAMMERE(E

the reporting period 42,370 28,119
Additions NE 35,034 46,265
Additions as a result of acquisition of ~ EUWEWEB AR MAE

subsidiaries (note 34) (Kt7t34) 8,678 -
Depreciation charge TEER (24,871) (22,437)
Lease termination HEXIE (8,295) (9,577)

Carrying amount at the end of the RS B BRTE B
reporting period 52,916 42,370
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16. LEASES (Continued)
rE

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

16. HE (&)

EEREBEA 2)

(b)) HEAE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

FAEERENREERZSNT

2023 F 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETFT AREFT
Carrying amount at the beginning of ¥R & HAFIABRE(E
the reporting period 38,948 28,017
New leases e 35,034 46,265
Additions as a result of acquisition of ~ EUWENEB AR MAE
subsidiaries (note 34) (K7t 34) 9,557 -
Accretion of interest recognised FREREF S N
during the year 2,020 1,311
Payments (NE:N (28,507) (26,657)
Lease termination HERIE (8,630) (9,988)
Carrying amount at the end of the RS BR A BRE B
reporting period 48,422 38,948
Analysed into: DA
Current portion TRENER S
Repayable within one year —FNER 23,098 20,962
Non-current portion IEmENEB D
Repayable in the second year RE_FEE 13,530 17,374
Repayable in the third to fifth years, RE=ZZFHF(BEERE
inclusive M) EE 11,101 612
Repayable beyond five years hERER 693 =
25,324 17,986
48,422 38,948

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities based on the
contractual undiscounted payments is disclosed in

note 40 to the financial statements.

EREBEHARAURNFTNHERESH
DT A5 AR P EE 40 KR ©
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16. LEASES (Continued)

16. HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEEEREABA B
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in () REZHTEIEHEHENLTEHEN
relation to leases are as follows: T
2023 F 2022 FF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT ARETFIT

Interest on lease liabilities

Depreciation charge of right-of-use
assets

Gain on early termination of leases

Expense relating to short-term leases
included in cost of services

HEBBZFIE 2,020 1,311
FREEERE
24,871 22,437
RATR I ERIRES (335) (411)
ST ABRIS A AN A 10 BAFE &
BREMRZ 2,398 3,458

Total amount recognised in profitor ~ FMEZEREIEEE
loss 28,954 26,795
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (d HEMNBRESREABRENTBERE

35(c) to the financial statements.

17. GOODWILL

B E 35(c) ©

17. &

2023 & 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AR®ETT

Cost, net of accumulated impairment, at
the beginning of the reporting period

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34)

Disposal of subsidiaries

Impairment

R E R - Mk R+

A 581,824 581,824
U BE B B A =) (Bt et 34) 49,141 7,990
HERBAF - (7,990)
TRE (349,385) -

Cost, net of accumulated impairment, at

R ERROKA - kR R5H

the end of the reporting period BB 281,580 581,824
Cost at 31 March 3 A31 BRI AR 630,965 581,824
Accumulated impairment at 31 March M3 A31 BN REIRE (349,385) -
Net carrying amount at 31 March M3 A 31 BHEREFHE 281,580 581,824
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17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
attributable to KingNine Holdings Limited (“KingNine”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “KingNine Group”) which are
principally engaged in the provision of back-office services
(primarily provision of customer service solutions, and setting
up of contact service systems and centres), comprehensive
marketing and agency services and data centre services. As
at 31 March 2023, the recoverable amount of the KingNine
Group cash-generating unit (“CGU") has been determined
based on a value-in-use calculation and this valuation was
performed by an independent qualified professional valuer.
The calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management of the Group
covering a 5-year period. The KingNine Group’s cash flows
beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a perpetual
growth rate of 3% (2022: 3%). This perpetual growth rate
is based on the KingNine Group’s historical growth and
relevant industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the
average perpetual growth rate for the relevant industry.

Key assumptions used for the value-in-use calculation are as
follows:

Revenue growth and perpetual growth rates

Revenue growth rates were estimated ranging from 3.3%
to 26.0% (2022: 7.1% to 32.3%) per annum for the
KingNine Group CGU throughout the 5-year budget plan,
as determined by management with reference to the
historical rates in prior years, adjusted by management’s
outlook of expected market development. Cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated by using a
perpetual growth rate of 3% (2022: 3%).

17.

EE e
BERERR

%R E TS O &S ) 2 B B 1 KingNine
Holdings Limited ([KingNine |) & E Bt & A &)
(#:78 [KingNine & & |) - ZZER Al X EHXE
REUEEERG(FERBEPRBBAFTR
AR BRI R R A L) « 2HE
RARIRARTE R EIE O BRTS - 7R 2023F 3 A
31H  KingNine R B ¢ EEL S ([REE
EBA) A E S EIREREETE S
FETEBRAMERE LS EREEGERD
BT ZETERAERAEEEEE LA
MERFHYBEENR S REEA -
KingNine &R @ L F HAR LASNIR @M E LKA
KB R 3% (20224 : 3%) HH - %K
BB R R TIREKingNine EEHE R IER K
HEATEEREAME - WERRE AT

AEEREERANIERRAOT

WAER R KEERFE

NEBER2EFTFRL L RETTIREIERE
HARMBSHENBHARNERAAFTEE
T2 © KingNine (e BIR & EE A B AL AU A
BERMGFTNTEFF33%E26.0% (2022
F:71%%E323%) NHEEELZ4F
MESIEERMEE @ YIREEEEMNTELD
MEERASETHE - AFHEHRER
2 EAKEEEEI% (2022F : 3%) 0
LAHEE o
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17.

170

GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Discount rate

Discount rate was estimated to be 23.4% (2022: 23.7%)
which is before tax and represents the current market
assessment of the risks specific to the KingNine Group CGU,
taking into consideration the time value of money and
individual risks of the underlying assets that have not been
incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The discount rate
calculation is based on the specific circumstances of the
Group and its operating segment and is derived from its
weighted average cost of capital (“WACC"). The WACC
takes into account both debt and equity. The cost of equity
is determined using the Capital Asset Pricing Model
("CAPM"). The CAPM depends on a number of inputs
reflecting financial and economic variables, including risk-
free rate and a premium to reflect the inherent risk of the
business being evaluated. These variables are based on the
market’s assessment of the economic variables and
comparable listed companies with business scopes and
operations similar to those of the CGU. The cost of debt is
based on the interest-bearing borrowings the Group is
obliged to service. Company specific risk is incorporated by
valuer’s professional judgement and experience, including
the consideration of unlisted company risk premium and
business risk in sustaining the future growth.

Such estimation is based on the KingNine Group CGU'’s past
performance and management’s expectations for the
market development.

17. BE®)

BB RERH (@)
BB E

Bh IR K 5t 523.4% (2022 4F : 23.7%) °
ZBHIRE IR FAT B 5 KingNine £ @R & E
EBEMFERRARITHESTE  EFEE
FEEHNEREERESREMTPLEY
MEEEEENER R - BHIRE TR AL
ERELES OB EIBRE  THAHE
MEFHESERA ([MEFEHESKAE]) °
IEFHE SRAR RETE RELS o BRIERK
NEBREAREETEREN([EREETER
NDETE - EAEETEEANTVANZ K
MR BT 7% R A E 0B A BUR - BIERE R
PR K R E ¥R 2 BB RBARE
ZEEENENERESEUAREREHE KR
EBLUNESEAEMNEE ETARSE
MHFEME - EEHKATDBREAIEREE
EEBOTEMEENE - AARNETERR
R{EEMNEEHE R ERMAZE - EF
BIEZRAR LA B REGE R AR R R E
BEEERR

BRAME TIRE KingNine R BIR S E £ B
ZBERRREEEHMISERZEREDL -
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17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Discount rate (Continued)

Due to unfavourable operating performance of the
KingNine Group during the year ended 31 March 2023,
the recoverable amount of the KingNine Group CGU at
31 March 2023 was RMB542,286,000 (2022:
RMB879,088,000), which was lower than the KingNine
Group's carrying amount (before impairment) of goodwill
and other assets including intangible assets at 31 March
2023 with an aggregate amount of RMB891,671,000 (2022:
RMB853,159,000), resulting in an impairment loss on
goodwill of RMB349,385,000 charged to profit or loss for
the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

Sensitivity of value in use to reasonably possible changes in
key assumptions:

Revenue growth rate

A decrease/increase in the revenue growth rate of 5%
would result in a decrease/increase in value in use by
RMB17,678,000/RMB18,059,000.

Discount rate

An increase/decrease in discount rate by 1% would result in
a decrease/increase in value in use by RMB50,994,000/
RMB57,236,000.

Based on the sensitivity presented above, the directors of
the Company considers it reasonably possible that a 5%
decrease in revenue growth rate would result in an
additional impairment of RMB17,678,000 and a 1%
increase in discount rate would result in an additional
impairment of RMB50,994,000.

17. BE#)

BB RERH (@)
BBEEE)

A 7R KingNine 5 B A & £ 202343 A31 H
I FEAEERIBRIE  KingNine B3R &
EABEMMR202343 A31 BH A Y E & 58
A AR #542,286,0007T(20224F : AR
879,088,0007T )+ 1K M KingNine& & 7%
2023F3A3MAN M EBEREMEE(R
FEPEE)NEEEIRBER) G &
A R #891,671,00070 (20224 : A R #
853,159,0007T ) + B B & £20234F 3 A 31
HIEFEEBENBRMEERERBARE
349,385,000 7T (2022 4F : #&) o

FRABESARRZRNSEA R Z MUK
Z

WA B RE

BEERKAMBAZRERTRE, 5% &8
BEREBERD, AR 17,678,000
7T,/ AR 18,059,000 7T °

BARE

BEIR R EH TR 1% @B HEFEER
A /800 A R 850,994,000 T A R &
57,236,000 T °

AR ENEINBXRE ARAREERAE
F Ut A8 R & 5% ] RS BER MR E A
R#17,678,000 T * MAGIRE EF1% A g8
BEERINRE AR 50,994,000 7T °
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

18. Hh\ELEE

Customer  Technology Development
Brand relationship  know-how Patent cost Software Total
il
i EFER CE S E4] R BH a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETE AREFT  ARETR AREFT  ARETE AREFT  ARETE
31 March 2023 2023F3831R
At 1 April 2022 R202F4R18
Cost A 61,900 60,700 44,100 2,39 19,799 26,145 215,040
Accumulated amortisation  E5HEESE - (12,646) (12,863) (2,3%) - (3,059) (30,964)
Net carrying amount REFE 61,900 48,054 31,237 - 19,799 23,086 184,076
Costat 1 Apri 2022, et R2022E4F 18K
of accumulated A B ZE
amortisation i 61,900 48,054 31,237 - 19,799 23,086 184,076
Additions NE - - - - 17,545 920 18,465
Transfers & - - - - (28,553) 28,553 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries  WEEHER A
(note 34) (st 34) - - - - - 3,00 3,002
Amortisation provided ERNERER
during the year = (8,671) (8,820) - - (7.971) (25,462)
Costat 31 March 2023, et~ 7 2023F3 A31BK)
of accumulated R - MR 25
amortisation B 61,900 39,383 2417 - 8,791 47,630 180,121
At 31 March 2023 R2023E3A318
Cost KA 61,900 60,700 44,100 2,3% 8,791 58,660 236,547
Accumulated amortisation  E5HESE = (21,317) (21,683) (2,39) = (11,030) (56,426)
Net carrying amount REFE 61,900 39,383 2417 - 8,791 47,630 180,121
31 March 2022 2022F3A318
At 1 April 2021 R201NE4R18
Cost AR 61,900 60,700 44,100 2,3% 24,642 - 193,738
Accumulated amortisation ~ Z3t - (3,974) (4,043) (1,028) S - (9,045)
Net carrying amount R FE 61,900 56,726 40,057 1,368 2,682 - 184,693




KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> £ #}- 45 45 [ 4 A FR A 7]

2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT 4F#}

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fok 3 S 255 e e B

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % 202343 A31 HILF/E

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 18. EEFEE &)
Customer  Technology Development
Brand  relationship  know-how Patent cost Software Total
£
) EFBR BEAR 7 BREA gt @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  AR¥Fr  AREFfr  AREFr
Costat 1 Aprl 2021, netof ~ #2021E4 B 18K
accumulated amortisation AU - M 25t
& 61,900 56,726 40,057 1,368 24,642 - 184,693
Additions AE - - - - 20,025 1277 21,302
Transfers &y - - - - (24,868) 24,868 =
Amortisation provided EREsHEEE
during the year - (8,672) (8,820) (1,368) - (3,059) (21,919)
Costat 31 March 2022, net 1420223 A 31 B
of accumulated KA - MR 25
amortisation # 61,900 48,054 31,37 - 19,799 23,086 184,076
At 31 March 2022 R202%3A318
Cost K& 61,900 60,700 44,100 2,3% 19,799 26,145 215,040
Accumulated amortisation 25K - (12,646) (12,863) (2,39) = (3,059) (30,964)
Net carrying amount RRFE 61,900 48 054 31,237 - 19,799 23,086 184,076

The brand is considered by the management of the Group
as having indefinite useful life because it is expected to
contribute to net cash inflows to the Group indefinitely. The
brand is not amortised, and its recoverable amount has been
assessed together with the goodwill arising from the
acquisition of the KingNine Group, details of which are set
out in note 17 to the financial statements.

As at 31 March 2023, in addition to the brand, the Group'’s
other intangible assets included customer relationship,
technology know-how, and software with carrying amounts
amounting to RMB39,383,000, RMB22,417,000 and
RMB12,036,000 (2022: RMB48,054,000, RMB31,237,000
and RMB14,444,000), respectively, arising from the
acquisition of the KingNine Group, and their respective
remaining amortisation periods were 5 years, 3 years and 5
years (2022: 6 years, 4 years and 6 years).

AEEEEERAmEELERAERAES
HIHREEREERARAREFRES
MAFEE o Zm e B - Ko eS8
B i# [F U BB KingNine SR B PTE A BRI 8 —HF
Al FHIBE TS AR T

R2023F3A31H ' BREIEIN - REBM
EmEFEERRREFPBE  HITEHEMNE
E#E - BREES B & A K% 39,383,000
70~ ARB22,417,0007T & A KR # 12,036,000
JC(20224F : A R #48,054,0007C + A R #
31,237,000 T X A R % 14,444,0007T) + T3 A
IWEE KingNine £ BIMELA - HZ B0 T
SHERD BRI A5 - 3FRS5F(2022F : 64 -
4ERGHF) o

173



KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> £ #}- 45 45 [ e 4 A R A ]
2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT 4F#}

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&30 B 0% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &% 202343 A31 HILFE

19.

174

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

19. RBERTNKRE

2023 & 2022 FF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT T ARBFT

Share of net assets EIHEEFE - 1,277
Goodwill on acquisition e B Y e - 4,706
- 5,983

In June 2021, the Group acquired 20% interest in & T
X Ak 15 % Bk % B BB 2 7 (Guangzhou Kunyuan Culture
Media Co., Ltd.* (“Guangzhou Kunyuan”)), which was
established and operated in the PRC and principally engaged
in the provision of short video content production and
related services, at a cash consideration of R\MB6,000,000
pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement. The Group was
able to exercise significant influence over Guangzhou
Kunyuan because the Group had the power to appoint one
out of three directors of Guangzhou Kunyuan under a
shareholders’ agreement/article of association, and the
Group had appointed one director of Guangzhou Kunyuan.
The Group had accounted for its interest in Guangzhou
Kunyuan using the equity method since June 2021 until the
Group partially disposed of its 17% interest in Guangzhou
Kunyuan in June 2022 and the Group no longer appointed
any director of Guangzhou Kunyuan. The loss of Guangzhou
Kunyuan shared by the Group for the year was RMB12,000
(2022: RMB17,000). As at 31 March 2023, the Group held
3% interest in Guangzhou Kunyuan which was accounted
for as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss as
disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.

*  For identification purposes only

MR2021F6 A ' AEBERIEEERZNIRS
KB AR ¥ 6,000,000 7T 4g BE 72 R Bk S &
R BN T U B EREBR AR ([E
NI 1) 20% - Z AR EEHERME
RRESENARERIEEIRTS - BRIRIERE
sk ARG ERMER  AEEEEZTEMN
HIT=REEFHN—F - WAKEREEM
HITITFEERTE N  AREEZRE—RE
INITTES - NEEE 2021456 A AR
mABEREMNR THESAR  EE4ASE
B 70202256 A &5 & KR EMNEHITH
17% t e M AN S BTN BEEEMN T A E
BE AL - NEERF ARG ENSBITEER
A AREE 12,0007 (20224 + AREE 17,000
JT) ° H2023E3 A31H  AEEFEAEMN
HITH) 3% RS - WIR TS TRER M o 24 BTt
BARBERATEFABENSMEE
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EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT
FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The Group held equity interests in certain unlisted entities
established in the PRC as at the end of the reporting period.
The directors of the Company have elected to designate
these investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income as they considered that recognising short-term fair
value fluctuations in the investments in profit or loss would
not be consistent with the Group's strategy of holding these
investments for long term investment purpose and realising
the performance potential in the long run. The valuations of
these investments were carried out by an independent
professional qualified valuer at the end of the reporting
period. During the year, the fair value changes in these
investments resulted in a loss amounting to RMB 15,264,000
(2022: Nil) which was recorded in other comprehensive
income.

20. EERBAFEFTAHMEER
HNERRE

RRERR  AEEFEA TRABKIA
FELEMEEAORE - ARREFERIESZ
EREETEREAFEFALMBEAE R
FAARERABNEBEZFRERALENEHA
FEEBDGEAERFEZEREERPIE
EEMRERRERBEBINRBET 8-
ZERENHERBLEEASBRMGHEMR
MEHRET - FRN - ZERENATFER
EhBHETE A R ¥ 15,264,000 7T (2022 £ -
) ST A 2 EUES o

INVENTORIES FE
2023 & 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT AREFT
Hardware and facilities g 14 B2 5%t - 1,371
Accessories, phones and packages foft - EEREE 30 6
30 1,377
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 22. FEWERFR
2023 & 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT AREFT
Accounts receivable JE UG BR X 605,941 488,330
Impairment VeI (6,629) (3,071)
599,312 485,259
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ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

The Group generally allows a credit period of within three
months to its customers upon issuance of customer billings.
The directors of the Company are of the view that there
have been no significant increase in credit risk of default
because the amounts are from customers with good credit
rating and continuous repayment. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit
quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and
scoring attributed to customers are reviewed periodically.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its accounts receivable balances.
Accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the date of services
rendered and net of loss allowance for impairment, is as
follows:

22. EWERR (&)

AEE-RETEXFPEZHEPKRERS
ERARNEER - RRAREZRR/ENE
BRI EAEIE N TRRZERIERE
AERIFEEFBEFEETNES - £#EX
ERHEFZH  AEEGHEEETFH
FEER YRELZREPHERERE - BT
BEFZEELR MG EHmE - K&
190 0 4 ot L PR MR R AR e B (R R Bk
HipERIgoatEit - BRERRRRE -

RBEHR - ARSI R (LIRS B B & 4
BORE R R B R AR T

2023 F 2022 &

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT T ARBFT

Within 60 days 60 BN 233,016 185,244
61 to 120 days 61Z 120 H 134,923 121,507
121 to 180 days 121 £ 180 H 61,860 51,909
Over 180 days 180 B A E 169,513 126,599
599,312 485,259

Details of impairment assessment of accounts receivable are
set out in note 40 to the financial statements.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's accounts receivable with
an aggregate gross carrying amount of RMB250,000,000
(2022: RMB20,000,000) were pledged as security for the
Group's bank loans, as further detailed in note 30 to the
financial statements.

FE W BR FORE AT (A SR IR SR B S 3 = M
40 °

MR2023F3A31H AEBEEEAEAE
A R #250,000,00070(20224F : A R &
20,000,0007T) K EWEE RE BIFIE R AR &
ERITEROER - #—PF BRI B R
KMFEE30 ©
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22. EWBRR (&)

FEWBRFOR ERR R HE T

2023 & 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT
At beginning of the reporting period R E B 3,071 310
Impairment losses, net (note 7) REEE - FRE (M 7) 3,558 2,761
At end of the reporting period REEHR 6,629 3,071
PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. ERRIE  HtEWRIER HAth
AND OTHER ASSETS =
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT ARBEFIT
Current; ViEIE
Prepayments TR FRIE 34,181 22,078
Due from former subsidiaries JEUS AT BT B A B FIE 29,195 33,625
Deposits and other receivables e N H e IE 40,659 42,711
104,035 98,414
Impairment B (23,519) (9,784)
80,516 88,630
Non-current; EMB
Prepayments for a land T TR IR 3,289 -
Rental and management fee deposits e kEBEES 4,253 672
7,542 672
88,058 89,302
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24,

23. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. ERRIE  HtEWRIER H At
AND OTHER ASSETS (Continued) EE®)
Included in the amounts due from former subsidiaries before 3R ER FEWRIN B A RSB B E AR
impairment above are an amount of RMB29,195,000 (2022: 29,195,000 7T (2022 4F : A R ¥ 23,000,000
RMB23,000,000) which is interest-bearing at a fixed rate of TR ETEFFR6%TE - EBIEA KR BIR
6% per annum, unsecured and repayable on demand. As at ZREE - R2022F3 A318 - EUETHT
31 March 2022, the amounts due from former subsidiaries BARFIENEIE AR 10,625,000 A
also included RMB10,625,000 which was interest-free, BB -~ EIEKLRBERERERE -
unsecured, and repayable on demand.
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of FEUL BB B A Rl F0 I8 & H b fE W R IB B BB
amounts due from former subsidiaries and other receivables EEREE T ¢
are as follows:
2023 F 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
At beginning of the reporting period RS B ) 9,784 3
Impairment losses, net (note 7) EEE  FRE (BaE7) 13,735 9,781
At end of the reporting period R EEHAR 23,519 9,784
Details of impairment assessment of financial assets included STATERRIE - AR R E Mt & Ea
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets are set TREEERERT LB EH N RN T
out in note 40 to the financial statements. 40 °
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 24. BAFEFABENEREE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2023 F 2022 5
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Listed equity investments SRR E 3,952 4,580
Unlisted equity investments JE TR E 7.116 300
11,068 4,880
The listed equity investments included listed securities in LITHREREBEEELTELARYK
Hong Kong of RMB1,320,000 (2022: RMB1,804,000) and 1,320,0007T (2022 4F : A% 1,804,0007T)
listed securities in the United States of America of LEMNREZRE EmES ARE2,632,000
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24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The unlisted equity investments were the Group’s minority
interests in five unlisted companies engaging in marketing,
promotion or live broadcasting businesses in Mainland
China.

The listed equity investments were classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss as they were held
for trading. The unlisted equity investments were classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as the
Group has not elected to recognise the fair value gain or
loss through other comprehensive income.

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS

24. AR EFAEBEZENEREE &)

3 LT A A S W F AR B A
WETIBEE  BEREELBOELTA
SEPs G ik

EHRSEREDFHERES Mo BER/RAF
EFf ABmNERMEE - AR AS BT EE
BEAEMEmREERA R ERS - Bk
ERgERENBR/RAHERFABaNS

25. RERBCEB/YUREREFR

2023 F 2022 5

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%F T AREFT

Cash and bank balances B MIR1TE 166,754 86,047
Less: Pledged deposits for customer B EERERENTR

contracts (3,057) =

Cash and cash equivalents ReKIREEEY 163,697 86,047

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents of the Group denominated in RMB placed in
Mainland China amounted to approximately RMB65,782,000.
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement and Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised
to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates ranging from 0.01% to 2.75% (2022:
0.01% to 2.00%).

RIRE IR « AEBRA R A ARG
ENResABEEEVWHAEARE
65,782,0007T ° AR BEAHHIRAEM
B AT RIR AR B A SINE & IR R
LaEE EERMNESTERTE  NEBEE
FIREREEITINEEBHRITEARE R
MEBHEME o

RITREEENTF0.01%E2.75% (20224
0.01% £2.00%) B & H iR 1717 2 F K12 )%
E)F| R ERERA B o
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26. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 26. FE{JBRRX

An ageing analysis of the accounts payable as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the date of service received,

RERR - BNRFIZEZIRG B Hr0k
e

is as follows:

2023 F 2022 &

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT T ARBFT

Within 60 days 60 HIR 5,320 7,657
61 to 120 days 6121208 3,009 548
121 to 180 days 121 =180 H 133 285
Over 180 days 180 BIA 3,055 2,856
11,517 11,346

The average credit period on accounts payable is 30 days.
The accounts payable are non-interest-bearing.

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

FEABRRNFHEERH30H o BAKRN

BRE -

27. EtENRERETE A

2023 F 2022 FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARBEFIT
(Restated)
(#=&E7)
Current: ViEIIE

Other payables H A T FRIE 39,281 13,104
Payroll payables JERTE 58,921 44,081
Other tax payables HAth I 6,561 2,339
Deferred income RIEUT A 457 -
105,220 59,524

Non-current; E
Deferred income FEIEUT A 1,275 -
106,495 59,524

Ht B RIBHFIEEHR0R - Eft
BNRBER/RE

The average credit period on other payables is 90 days.
Other payables are non-interest-bearing.
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CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The Group received advance payments from customers of
value-added telecommunication services. Contract liabilities
that are expected to be settled within the Group’s normal
operating cycle are classified as current based on the
Group’s earliest obligation to transfer goods or services to
the customers. Revenue recognised during the year ended
31 March 2023 that was included in the contract liabilities
at the beginning of the reporting period amounted to
RMB2,097,000 (2022: RMB1,406,000). The increase in
contract liabilities from RMB1,406,000 at 1 April 2021 to
RMB3,252,000 (restated) at 31 March 2022 was mainly due
to the increase in short-term advances received from
customers in relation to provision of customer service
solutions. The decrease in contract liabilities from
RMB3,252,000 at 1 April 2022 to RMB845,000 at 31 March
2023 was mainly due to the decrease in short-term advances
received from customers in relation to provision of customer
service solutions.

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION AND
CONSIDERATION PAYABLES

In the prior year, on 15 October 2020, the Company
acquired 100% of equity interests of the KingNine Group
for a consideration of RMB1,012,224,000, comprising cash
consideration of RMB646,149,000 and consideration shares
of RMB366,075,000.

28.

29.

BHER

AEBMEFWEE (58 E RS/ T K
IE o FEEIS N AL B EE&ELERRNEEN
BHEE  ERAKEMEFPEEERIR
BHRFEEBLIEARSBE - RELZE 2023
F3A31HIEFEEERYA (GT A RS H
TIMEHEE) B AR 2097,0007T (2022
F: AR ¥1,406,0007C)° & 4 B FEMH
20214 A1 B8 A K ¥ 1,406,000 7T 32 A0
£20229F3 A31HA AR 3,252,000 7T (4
25 TEARBIEHEPREHEAFE
&P WEA G R FIE IR - 2408
fEH2022F4 A1H 8 A K# 3,252,000
A E2023F3 A31 B ARES45,0007T ¢
FERRRREEFPREBASRMARS
B 19 52 ERBA TR A BTN

FRARERESKE

R E—FE 7202056108158 * AR F]
LA(B A RE1,012,224,000 T (B1FIE S K
B8 AR ¥ 646,149,000 7t R RERR D AR
366,075,000 7t ) Y288 KingNine £ & 100% f%
T o
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CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION AND
CONSIDERATION PAYABLES (Continued)

Cash consideration

The valuation of the consideration payables was carried out
by an independent professional qualified valuer. Cash
consideration of RMB390,000,000 was settled at the
acquisition date. The remaining cash consideration of
RMB280,000,000 was scheduled to be settled by the
Company in four instalments of R\MB70,000,000 each on 31
July 2021, 31 July 2022, 31 July 2023 and 31 July 2024 in
accordance with the terms stipulated in the sale and
purchase agreement. The fair value of the consideration
payables as at 15 October 2020 is approximately
RMB256,149,000, which is based on the present value of
the consideration payables discounted using the discount
rate of 4%. The corresponding annual finance costs for the
year ended 31 March 2023 of RMB6,187,000 (2022:
RMBS8,662,000), calculated based on the discount rate of
4%, was set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of the
consideration payables are RMB135,686,000 (2022:
RMB199,499,000), of which RMB70,000,000 (2022:
RMB70,000,000) and RMB65,686,000 (2022:
RMB129,499,000) is considered current and non-current
portions, respectively, which are due to the sellers of the
acquisition transaction, i.e., NINEGO Corporation and
FUNGHWA Ltd. NINEGO Corporation is owned as to 40.6%
by HU Shilong and 59.4% by LIU Yingying (spouse of HU
Shilong); while FUNGHWA Ltd. is wholly-owned by ZHOU
Fang. Both HU Shilong and ZHOU Fang are registered
shareholders of Dalian Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd.
under the contractual agreements as detailed in note 41 to
the financial statements, and NINEGO Corporation and
FUNGHWA Ltd. are therefore regarded as related parties to
the Group.

Consideration shares
The fair value of the shares issued was determined by

reference to their quoted market price of HK$0.66 at the
date of acquisition.

29. IARERESRE @

ReRE

BYBEAERGHEMEYEMREETT
H1E - ] e R E AR 390,000,000 #A
WEAHESE B TRERBARY
280,000,000 7T 5T &l B AN A AR 15 B B %
HER RN 2021%F7A318 ~ 202247
HA318 202347 A31H &2024%7 A 31
BoME - FHI AR 70,000,000 7T ©
R2020F 10 A 15 BENRENAFEL A
AR # 256,149,000t © JhE A ER A BLIR R
4% BRI REMNBES L « RAHEE
4% FTEREZE2023F3 A31 BIEFERRE
JEFEEB KA B ARY6,187,0007T(2022
F: AR¥8,662,0007T) © SNB S HEH
FE8 e

M2023F3A31H ENRKEMNKEE
A AR ¥ 135,686,000 (2022%F : AR
199,499,0007T) + E A A K ¥ 70,000,000 7T
(20224 : AR #70,000,00070) K A R#&
65,686,000 T (20224 : AR# 129,499,000
7o) D RIER AR B RIERBIE D - HE
T U BE X 5 E 75 (BININEGO Corporation
K FUNGHWA Ltd) ° NINEGO Corporation 3
A BE R B4 (FAMTREMELME) HEHF 40.6%
}59.4% : MFUNGHWA Ltd. /8 A & & &
E -t REREASRES OB ®E(GFRY
BHERM T4 B ARNESEREBHERD
BER A A K ERLKRE B IENNEGO
Corporation & FUNGHWA Ltd. #15 /& 74~ & &
RIRAEE 5 o

RER®D

EBTRODNAFEDELERENEER
HAEY T35 (B 0.66 BILEE °
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29. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION AND

CONSIDERATION PAYABLES (Continued)
Contingent consideration

Certain founders of the KingNine Group (the “Founders”)
have undertaken to the Company pursuant to the sale and
purchase agreement that the audited consolidated profit
attributable to the equity holders of the KingNine Group
would not be less than:

(i) RMB60,000,000 for the financial year of the KingNine
Group commenced on 1 April 2019 and ended on 31
March 2020;

(i)~ RMB90,000,000 for the financial year of the KingNine
Group commenced on 1 April 2020 and ended on 31
March 2021;

(i) RMB120,000,000 for the financial year of the
KingNine Group commencing on 1 April 2021 and
ended on 31 March 2022;

(vy  RMB150,000,000 for the financial year of the
KingNine Group commencing on 1 April 2022 and
ended on 31 March 2023; and

(v RMB180,000,000 for the financial year of the
KingNine Group commencing on 1 April 2023 and
ending on 31 March 2024.

In the event that the actual amount of the audited
consolidated net profit attributable to the equity holders of
the KingNine Group for any guarantee period is less than
the guaranteed profit in respect of such guarantee period,
the Founders are required to compensate the Company by
paying the Company an amount in cash equal to ((A — B)/C)
xD)-E

Where

A = the sum of: (i) the amount of the guaranteed profit in
respect of such guarantee period; and (ii) the amount
of the guaranteed profit in respect of each guarantee
period preceding such guarantee period,;

29. RN ERENKE @

HANE

KingNine £ B3 Fal# A ([BIH A ) BRI
EBW@&AA A REG - KingNine 548
ANELEFZZE & TEER

(i)  KingNinet E 20194 1A &
2020F3 A31HIEMFBRFEEMHAR
# 60,000,000 7T

(i) KingNine%s B ;2020F4 A1 H B =
2021 F3 A3 HIEMBRFEEMAR
90,000,000 7T, :

(i) KingNine& B H2021F4 18 &£ =
2022F3A31HIEMIIBREENAR
# 120,000,000 7T :

(iv)  KingNinefs B 2022 F4 A1 H B =
20233 A3 HIENBHEEMAR
# 150,000,000 7T : &

(v)  KingNine%s B 2023 F4 A1 H B =
20243 A31BHIEMIREENAR
# 180,000,000 7T °

i AR EHAE A KingNine (£ BliE 515 B A
JE(L IR EAZ AR A 4TI ali’%i%’ﬁffﬁﬁé;%%
HRARE RS - FEHAIRABG TFAR
e ﬁiﬁiﬁ%l‘ﬂﬁ@ﬁ?%fﬁﬁﬁdﬂﬁ%ﬁé
(((A-B)/C)xD)-EmES &S -

Hep
A= ()% HRE B A9 OR B0 A 2 88 ¢ B (i)

A% 1R 78 B Al & R E HA R 9 4R a’é‘ £ 7
TR
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CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION AND
CONSIDERATION PAYABLES (Continued)

Contingent consideration (Continued)

B= the sum of: (i) the actual amount of the audited
consolidated net profit/net loss attributable to equity
holders of the KingNine Group for such guarantee
period; and (ii) the actual amount of the audited
consolidated net profit/net loss attributable to equity
holders of the KingNine Group for each guarantee
period preceding such guarantee period,;

C = RMB600,000,000 (i.e., the sum of the amount of the
guaranteed profit in respect of each guarantee
period);

D= RMB779,392,971 (i.e., the consideration less the
amount of the consideration paid, or payable, by the
Company to Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company
Limited, one of the sellers);

E= the sum of the amount of any such compensation
which has been paid by the Founders in respect of
each guarantee period preceding such guarantee
period.

Subject to the compliance of all applicable laws and
regulations (including the GEM Listing Rules and The Hong
Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers), in the event that
the sum of the actual amount of the audited consolidated
net profit attributable to equity holders of the KingNine
Group for each guarantee period is equal to or more than
RMB1,000,000,000, it is expected that:

the Company would pay the sellers an additional
consideration in the amount of RMB150,000,000,
subject to the Stock Exchange’s grant of the approval
for the listing of and permission to deal in the
additional shares, and would settle such payment by
issuing additional shares to one of the sellers on the
10th business day after the date on which the audited
consolidated financial statements of the KingNine
Group for the last guarantee period is approved by the
board of directors of KingNine; and

29. IARERESRE @

HARNRE (#)
B= (i)a% R Hi M #Y KingNine £ B ## &5 5§

EARGREREAMTBEFE
FERR SR (i) R B A &R
ZHIRI M KingNine s Bl ER 5B A JE
EEBZEAEH/ BEFENER
SREZHN

A R # 600,000,000 7T ( BN & (R 2% B i
MRZBE RSB ZH)

AER#779,392,971 7 (BIR B AR
7] B [ =k F& [ Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo
Capital Company Limited * =5 2 —)
IRHHRESTE)

B3 A B AN 5% R 5 HA T A& R 72 B
MNERERARESE M -

HEETHBERAZ AR (B GEM LT
BARFERRWERAFTRADRRIET -
fied &R 38 HA I B9 KingNine SR Bl i s i B A JE
HREBZGEENNERSB 2 MER LR
B AR % 1,000,000,0007T + TEHA

ARBHRAE BT NEIMMEA
FE# 150,000,000 7T - MEZBASHE SZ L
ERBINEN EMREE - W BN &KIE
RE B KingNine R B & BIZAR &
B3R R EKingNine EF € 8t/ 2 B
BEN0EE X BB B/EITHEIND R
BhXN&ZHE &
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29. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION AND

CONSIDERATION PAYABLES (Continued)
Contingent consideration (Continued)

i. such additional shares would be issued at an issue
price per share equal to the volume weighted average
closing price per share for the 30 consecutive trading
days up to and including the last trading day that is
five business days immediately prior to the date on
which such additional shares are allotted and issued.

The valuation of the contingent consideration was carried
out by an independent professional qualified valuer. The fair
value of the contingent consideration as at 31 March 2022
was insignificant, on the basis that profit guarantee could
be fulfilled by the KingNine Group in respect of each
guarantee period and that the audited consolidated net
profit attributable to equity holders of the KingNine Group
for each guarantee period equal to or more than
RMB1,000,000,000 could not be fulfilled by the KingNine
Group. The fair value of the contingent consideration as at
31 March 2023 was estimated and determined to be
RMB110,371,000, comprising current and non-current
portions of RMB41,481,000 and RMB68,890,000,
respectively, on the basis that profit guarantee for the years
ended 31 March 2020, 2021 and 2022 have been fulfilled
by the KingNine Group; while the profit guarantee for the
year ended 31 March 2023 was not fulfilled by the KingNine
Group, and the profit guarantee for the year ending 31
March 2024 could not be fulfilled by the KingNine Group as
determined by the Monte Carlo simulation model under the
income approach, further details of which are set out in
note 39 to the financial statements, and that the audited
consolidated net profit attributable to equity holders of the
KingNine Group for each guarantee period equal to or more
than RMB1,000,000,000 could not be fulfilled by the
KingNine Group.

29. ARARERESFKRE#

FARRE @)

i. RERIMNMDBRERBITERT
BITESNERERSAEERE
ZEFBINEDECE BT ZERAE
EERANRERSH(BEZR) 8K
3 E IR Y HIE -

BYBEAERGEMBETRAREN G
- R2022F3 A31 B AKREH QA FEE
WAREK » THEH KingNine 5 [ 7 5t & 2 1R
HARS 3= Ak FIIAE AR - M KingNine &£ B4 54 =
B & HE (R HAR KingNine £ #2515 B A B (L
KEZEAGNERKBEARE
1,000,000,000 7T ° sk AR B 72023463 A
BSTEHMATERMGTEEEAARE
110,371,0007C * BERE MIERE D 5D
Rl A A R #41,481,000C B A R ¥
68,890,000 7T * JHE A KingNine 5 B E #£ X
BZE 20204 ~ 2021 F & 2022F3 A31 A1k
FEHDERRTE ¢ M KingNine S£ B AR Z K
HZE2023F3A31HIEFERGFRE
MIZRSEE RERBERFTET - KingNine
EEEXIRBWRERZEREZ2024F 3 A
31 BIEFEREFIRE @ #E— T BHR Y
TR B339 B KingNine £ [ £ 5% 32 i
KingNine &R B S R I E T Z IR A =
BEABGBENERKBBARYE
1,000,000,000 T °
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29.

30.

186

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION AND
CONSIDERATION PAYABLES (Continued)

Contingent consideration (Continued)

The share purchase deed dated 10 September 2020 provides
for an express set-off right of the Company which allows
the Company to set off any contingent consideration
compensation against any each consideration which has not
been paid to NINEGO Corporation. Accordingly, at 31 March
2023, the contingent consideration compensation
attributable to NINEGO Corporation was set off against the
corresponding consideration payables to NINEGO
Corporation, resulting in current and non-current portions
of consideration payables of RMB28,519,000 (2022:
RMB70,000,000) and RMB5,255,000 (2022:
RMB129,499,000), respectively, and non-current portion of
contingent consideration of RMB8,459,000 (2022: Nil).

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

29. IARERESRE @

FARRE (@)

HHIA202049 A 10 B KRR 2245 1 & K
AT AT SRE - IR RIAEA A
R {E (8 3K 85 F [ # K X FNINEGO
Corporation #) & BB Bt - 720234 3
A 318 ° NINEGO Corporation JE{E 8 AR (B
8 2 HLFE {1 NINEGO Corporation B8 &K
B ELEERNRENREMERE D
2 RlAE AR 28,519,000 7T (20224 : AR
#£70,000,0007T ) & A K #5,255,0007C
(20224 : AR¥129,499,0007T) * MA K &
WS AR ENIEREIFH D A ARES,459,000
JL(2022 6 : £#) o

0. S ERITREABER

2023 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥FT ARBTT
Bank borrowings repayable: REEMIRITHER
Within one year —&FR 68,500 48,500
Other borrowings repayable: M ZAEEEN
On demand RER - 27,000
Within one year —&FR - 65,279
In the second year RE—F 177,144 -
177,144 92,279
245,644 140,779
Analysed into: PR
Current liabilities mEAE 68,500 140,779
Non-current liabilities EREBEE 177,144 =
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS (Continued)

The Group’s bank borrowings at 31 March 2023 were
interest-bearing at fixed rates ranging from 4.35% to
4.65% (2022: 4.4% to 4.85%) per annum, and secured by
certain accounts receivable of the Group amounting to
RMB250,000,000 (2022: RMB20,000,000) and the personal
guarantees of RMB160,000,000 (2022: RMB60,000,000)
provided by a director and his spouse of a subsidiary of the
Company.

The Group's other borrowings at 31 March 2023 were due
to a related company which is an entity indirectly controlled
by the Company’s ultimate controlling party, of which
principal amounts of RMB60,000,000 (2022:
RMB60,000,000) and RMB70,000,000 (2022: Nil) were
interest-bearing at fixed rates of 12.0% and 13.5% (2022:
13.5%), respectively, per annum, unsecured and due to
mature on 31 March 2025 (2022: unsecured and repayable
within one year), and a principal amount of RMB27,000,000
(2022: RMB27,000,000) was interest-free, unsecured and
due to mature on 31 March 2025 (2022: interest-free,
unsecured and repayable within two years with a repayment
on demand clause).

0. stESRITREMER &)

AREB R 20234F3 A31 HHRITEZIZN
F4.35%%4.65% (20224 : 4.4%Z%4.85%)
METEFFNERE  WARERE TEK
8E 20 A R 1 250,000,000 7T (2022 € : AE
#20,000,0007C ) & &K 2 7 — @ W B
REN—REEREMBIRENEAE
R A R #160,000,000 7T (2022 F : A R #&
60,000,000 7T ) {EHKIF o

AREEMN2023F3 A31 B EMER ARE
N—HEBRAR(BAARAHKRESR
MEZHNER) EAAScEARK
60,000,000 7 (2022 4F = A & ¥ 60,000,000
7T ) & A B # 70,000,000 7T (2022 4 : £ )
D RIREEEFE12.0% 5 13.5% (20224 :
13.5%) &M 2 ~ EIE A K A58 20254 3 A 31
HEE(2022F : MR AR —FRHNE
#) kAT ARE?27,000,0007T (2022
& AR¥27,000,0007T) AR L« EIKHE
N % 1A 202593 A31 8 B H1(2022F : &
B EEARARMTEANEE UHEERE
SKIERBGRER) ©
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31.

188

DEFERRED TAX

31. IEiE

The movements in gross deferred tax assets and liabilities

during the year are as follows:

Bi1E

Fair value
adjustments
of intangible
Impairment assets arising
of accounts from
Unrealised  and other acquisition of
profits  receivables  subsidiaries Others Total
I B
ERES AREEN
REMEK BREE
REREH HEHE ATERE Hte @t
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETTL
Gross deferred tax assets/(liabilities) at 72021 F4 B 1 E E’J'LL
1 April 2021 WBAE/(BfE) A% 5,488 3,232 (23,802) (16) (15,098)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to HRVACIIED TE A
profit or loss (note 11) BRI (M 11) (369) (1,434) 2,623 = 820
Gross deferred tax assets/(liabilities) at 7202243 A31 B} 2022
31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 F4818 E@LU}‘@’IE
BE/ (B 65 5,119 1,798 (21,179) (16) (14,278)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to A/ (s E B
profit or loss (note 11) BRI (M 11) (175) 746 2,624 805 4,000
Gross deferred tax assets/(liabilities) at 72023 3 A 31 EI HIESE
31 March 2023 WEAE/ (AR LS 4,944 2,544 (18,555) 789 (10,278)

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset
on an individual entity basis and the Group’s net deferred

ETEEMREENBBECRENEREE
i - MAKRERERSMBHRERZ2IR0E

=

tax assets and liabilities presented in the consolidated EMIBEERABFELAT :
statement of financial position are as follows:
2023 £ 2022 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT AR®TT

Net deferred assets RIEEEFE 8,277 6,917
Net deferred liabilities FEE FEFRE (18,555) (21,195)
(10,278) (14,278)
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31. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately RMB481,627,000 (2022: RMB390,532,000),
subject to agreement by the Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department, that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland
China of RMB116,995,000 (2022: RMB12,804,000) that will
expire in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses and other deductible temporary differences as
they have arisen in the Group’s entities that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses
can be utilised due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the following items:

31.

EERBIE ()

AEEREEEEMVEBBRORARK
481,627,0007T(2022 4 = AR 390,532,000
L) REANBRAR - TERHAIEER
HE T BB AR ARRERB@F - A%
ETAERTEANBELINFHABRARE
116,995,000 7T (2022 4F = A% 12,804,000
70) - R —ERF AR B E R R ER
B A

7R [ 3 8 2 1R S LA AT FR S e =
BERAECHREE  REASZEFERNRE
b AT FNRE By 2 R OR B 2B R — BRI RIAY R
SEERS - BARRARIOD AR r] A
1 BERA T AR BEHR FE AR T A Al A F
RS

WA TR B BRELERAEE ¢

2023 F 2022 F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREFr

Tax losses MIBEE 598,622 403,336
Deductible temporary differences AT R = R 727 -
599,349 403,336

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is
10%. The Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

RIEF B EMEHE - AP B A K
SNEIRE B ERIINRIREE TR BB
#10% BTEFNFL © %A E B 20081 A1 H
AR - WEAMN2007E12 A31BERNE
F o fia AP B A HE B SN IR & B P AE R ERE R
AIAMBGL B EARENTEINRE -
MALEMS - BAREELE10% - Bt - &
EEERZERNTERNMAIHMB AT S
20084 1 A1 BRREAMAF T IR RE
BUANTEFORL
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31.

32.

190

DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 31. IELEBIE (8)
At 31 March 2023, no deferred tax has been recognised for MR2023F3 8318 HERAEENH
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted A B S B B A B B AN TR FN AR A R BE H &8
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the AT FE B TBII R FE B R IE - ANA AlE
Group's subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the ERE  ZENB AR T KAIRER O] &5 5K
opinion of the directors of the Company, it is not probable DIKZEEF o N2023F3A31H  EHR
that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the o A M B B A RI A% & S 8 i 1 R FE AR
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary ETEHEAEENETR=28EES LY
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in B A R 306,046,000 7T (20224 : AR
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not 212,914,0007T) - ZEHERERBEBRENL
been recognised totaled approximately RMB306,046,000 at FEZTFLERER AR A RRBAER25%
31 March 2023 (2022: RMB212,914,000). These temporary M EFRERBEERGN  SFEHENTBRE
differences are subject to the CIT rate of 25% upon their MizE41 o
transfers to Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd. via the
contractual arrangements as further detailed in note 41 to
the financial statements.
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the 2N &) [A) B AR EROIR A R B3 A B A5 R AT P S
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders. TER-
SHARE CAPITAL 32. RA&
2023 F 2022 FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#¥FT AREFT
Authorised: VETE
10,000,000,000 (2022: 10,000,000,000) 10,000,000,000 A%
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (2022 4 : 10,000,000,000 f% )
FIMEEO0.01 B LA @A 87,661 87,661
Issued and fully-paid: BEBETRAR :
4,776,019,590 (2022: 4,188,519,590) 4,776,019,590 fx
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (2022 4 : 4,188,519,590 %)
SREEO0.01 BT L BAR 40,442 35,395
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SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 32.

A summary of movements in the share capital and share
premium account is as follows:

& NE)

BRAR RO G ERESERIAT

Number Share

of shares Share premium
in issue capital account Total
ERITROHE BA  BROEER Hat
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARKEFIT AREFIT AREFIT AREFIT

At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 7 2021F 4818 -
and 1 April 2022 2022F3A318 %

2022F481H 4,188,519,590 35,395 944,878 980,273
Issue of shares 217D 587,500,000 5,047 196,837 201,884
Share issue expenses R B1TR > - - (16,638) (16,638)
At 31 March 2023 720233 A31H 4,776,019,590 40,442 1,125,077 1,165,519

On 15 July 2022 (after trading hours), the Company entered
into subscription agreements with two subscribers pursuant
to which the subscribers have conditionally agreed to
subscribe for and the Company has conditionally agreed to
allot and issue a total of 587,500,000 subscription shares at
a price of HK$0.4 per subscription share. The share
subscription transactions were completed on 2 August
2022.

The ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in
dividends, and to share in the proceeds of winding up the
Company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid
on the shares held.

RESERVES 33.

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 95 of
the financial statements.

Share premium
Share premium represents the proceeds received in excess

of the nominal value from share issuance, net of any directly
attributable transaction costs credited to share premium.

R2022F 7158 (R ZREE) + NAF]
HRZREAR L RE DR - B BEA
BIRHRERE  MARRBIKGR A%
N 3174 $£587,500,000 IR (5 - RBE
BAERABERHBLET BRHRERS
2202268 A2 HEM °

EARE TRHAASEREDEHERN - I
AR ARNDBER N ERELLLHIN KRR
JERRFTISTRIA o

E 4
AEENRFERBEFE 2 BHESERE
BH2IRMBRREBE LA ESE
Bk

B AR ME

BR 15 ik (B 15 MR 18 BRAD B8 7T 2 P18 3R (31

BREMERBERXZKA)BHEERD
BEF AR E(E
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33.

192

RESERVES (Continued)
Contributed surplus

Contributed surplus represents the excess of the nominal
value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
the reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s
shares on GEM of the Stock Exchange, over the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange thereafter.

Statutory reserve

Statutory reserve represents the amounts set aside from the
retained profits by certain subsidiaries established in the PRC
and is not distributable as dividend. In accordance with the
relevant regulations and their articles of association, the
Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are required
to allocate at least 10% of their after-tax profit according to
the PRC accounting standards and regulations to legal
reserves until such reserves have reached 50% of registered
capital. These reserves can only be used for specific purposes
and are not distributable or transferable to loans, advances,
cash dividends.

Revaluation reserve

Change in fair value of equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated within the
revaluation reserve within equity. The Group will transfer
amount from revaluation reserve to retained profits when
the relevant equity instrument is derecognised.

Translation reserve

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
subsidiaries not operating in Mainland China are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e., Renminbi)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case,
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
translation reserve.

33.

i
o PN=p-o

AR BRI AR BB D 7B 2 PT GEM E
MARIEEARBEONE QRO HERR
FLULETT IR B BITH AR R E{ER
$I7E -

EERE

ETE IR R B SR T M B A R R
BaMPBEHnes  BETAERKRED
& o RBHEBERLESEAR - ARFR
B S RO BB 2 R A E ik B g Rt £ A
REHIEENBRBRRENRD10%DEE
AERE EERSTHREEIEMELSN
50% &1k - ZRERBERTBARNEERE - T
ADRKEEEER  BRIBERE -

Effhf#E

BEEREBEAFEMAREMEE RSN ERT
AR FEEHRNEMEEKSER - IR
RENMEGFHEANRA - HiAAEETA
RILER  AEEeScREEMARKEER

EREMEH]

B 5

REFEEMBHRRME - AEELIENF
BAEE s MBARCEENBENER
RERENHEERT ERERRELRE
B2z2BEEIARYE) - WARZHIRR
ThR % B 2 P E REITIRE - BRIFER
Rz A IR AER B AERR - RULE
AT BIRARRZSE B 2RITER - FIE
HEZERZR(NA) TN E A 2w AR
R WERERFFHRA
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

During the year, the Group acquired a 100% interest in
Puyang Zhiyu Technology Co., Ltd.* (¥R S BEHEAR A
Al, "Puyang Zhiyu"), Pingxiang Kingwisoft Rongzhi
Technology Co., Ltd* CE B & Z @ Z R B R A A,
“Pingxiang Kingwisoft”), Puyang Qinglv Technology Co.,
Ltd.* CERS B 4RI AR A, “Puyang Qinglv”), Shenyang
Qingzhou Technology Co., Ltd.* (B H SRR BR A A,
“Shenyang Qingzhou”), Shenyang Weiyu Technology Co.,
Ltd.* (BFEMEERRER A A, “Shenyang Weiyu”), Yifeng
Customer Relationship Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.*
(mEREFBEER(LE)ERAFA, “Yifeng Customer”),
Shanghai Jiesheng Business Services Co., Ltd.* (- /& ## &
5 75 BR 75 48 FR A |], “Shanghai Jiesheng”) and Beijing Hui
Future Technology Co., Ltd.* (It RERKEHHE B R A A,
“Beijing Hui"”) from individual third party entities or
individuals at an aggregate cash consideration of
approximately RMB26,600,000. These acquisitions were
made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its
businesses of value-added telecommunications and related
services which were the principal activities of the acquiree
entities.

*for identification purpose only

34.

EBE

FR - AEBERERE =S EEHER AL
WIS EGE BRI BR AR (ESEEE]D -
FREEMEREBRAR(CER2E]) -
EBSHEEERAR(EEEL]) &5
SARERAR(ESGEAL) BG5S
BEARAR(VESERE]) mEBEFER
ERE(EB)AERAR(ZERF]) - L5k
BERERBERAR ([ EERERE]) RItRE
RAEBEAR AR (NI RE]) #100% #
= BIRERELH A AR 26,600,000 7T °
ZEREAAEBEREIZESEE RIEER
BEK(BHBBEER 2T EEK) R —

o e
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued) 34, ¥ 56t
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the WHEEENERQINE BN A 3B E E
acquiree entities as at their respective dates of acquisition RBaEHNA EPTEZZDT ;

were as follows:

Puyang  Pingxiang Puyang  Shenyang  Shenyang Yifeng  Shanghai Beijing
Thiyu  Kingwisoft Qinglv  Qingzhou Weiyu  Customer Jiesheng Hui Total
BREZ  NEEE  BRER  ERER  EBEE  HEEF  LEEE 178 it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000  AMBOO0  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000  AMBOO0  RMB'000
NERTL  NERTR ARRTT  ARRTr  AEETn  ARETr  ARRTT  ARETT  ARETR

Property and equipment EE 11728 - - - 373 462 147 - 17348
Right-of-use assets fFRELE 1636 - - - - 1,902 5,140 - 8678
Other intangble assets EhayEE 79 - - - 63 = 2,900 - 300
Prepaid tax RiIRE - - - - - f 3 4 45
Accounts receivable JEEES - - - = = 9935 6,697 11,022 27,654
Prepayments, other receivablesand ~ Tf13UE * EENGUER

other assets EfhaE 2601 - - - 1454 178 m 1,260 5815
Financial assets at fair value through  (FATEF A BERI 2R

proft orloss gE - - - - - - - 1,000 1,000
Cashand cash equivalents ReRAEZEN 20 - - - JE| 1829 3,804 75 5,751
Accounts payeble EfE (4,094 - - - (61) - (1289 - (17004
Other payables and accruals E R RETER (23349) - - - (48l (12891) (5,025) 9176 (65313
Lease liablites g8k (1528) - - - - (2,168) (5861) - (9,557)
Totalidentified net assets(iabilies) EARIFEE/(BE)EE  (12906) = - - (9.663) (152) (3442 4m (22541)
Goodwill on acqisition WEtES 15,906 - 300 300 12663 752 3442 15,778 49,141
Satisfed by cash WE2EH 3,000 - 300 300 3,000 - - 20,000 26,600
Analysed into; Ah:

Prepaid in the prioryears ERBRERRN - - 170 170 - - - - 340

Paid during the year BERZH 2,000 - 130 130 3,000 - - 4000 9,260

Payable as at 31 March 2023 ARABEIANA

2f 1,000 - - - - - - 16,000 17000

Acquisiton date YR 14 September 1 Apri 13 June 24June 19 September 130y TAugust 30 December

2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022
W% W% W% Pk W% W% e W0E
9A148 4R1R 6ABE  6AMB  9A19B  7A1A 8A1A  12A30A

The fair values of the accounts receivable and other USRS B AR - RIS B S A B AR SR R Ho A
receivables of the acquiree entities as at the date of FEWRIEM A FEERES 8 EUER K R H A
acquisition were same as their respective gross contractual FEWGRIE R & KBS REAER °

amounts of accounts receivable and other receivables.
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued) 34. ¥ a6t

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of EHRWERBATNIRSRESTHT -
subsidiaries is as follows:

Puyang Pingxiang  Puyang Shenyang Shenyang  Yifeng Shanghai Beijing
Zhiyu Kingwisoft ~ Qinglv Qingzhou ~ Weiyu Customer Jiesheng Hui Total
BRER WHEE BBER EBEA EREE BMEF LEER 4R8 &t
RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB0O0  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000
ABBTT NBRTT ARRTT ARBTL ARKTL ARETT AREKTT ARETL ARKTR

Cash consideration during theyear ~ FRRERE (2,000 = (130) (130 (3,000) - - (40000  (9,260)
Cashand bank balances acquired ~~ BEVERE RFT4EH 20 = = - bE 1,829 3,804 75 5,751

Net inflow/(outflow) of cash and cash st ARBREEEHES
equivalents included in cash flows ~~ EEHEEREES

from investing activiies EmiEA/ (i)
FE (1,980) - (130) (130) 2,977 1,829 3,804 (3.925) (3509)
The amounts of revenue and profit/(loss) of the acquiree BEEZEREBRHNAKR BT EEARE
entities since their respective dates of acquisition contributed B F A= R EBBERO K K EF, (&
to the Group’s revenue and loss for the year were as B)SEWT :
follows:

Puyang Pingxiang  Puyang Shenyang Shenyang  Yifeng Shanghai Beijing
Zhiyu Kingwisoft ~ Qinglv Qingzhou ~ Weiyu Customer  Jiesheng Hui Total
RRER WHEE BBER ABEA EREE BEEF LERR 48 &t
RMB000  RMB00  RMB0O0  RMBO0O  RMB'000  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000
NEBTT NBMTT AERTT ARRTT ABKTL ABMTT ARETT ARRTT ARKTR

Revenue BA - 180 1132 - - - WM 9 53

Profitloss) since acquisitions Wik (B8 558 1,809 (172) 186 496 998 3701 1988 27984

Had the acquisition taken place at the beginning of the year, MU BB N ETHETT  REBRERN W&
the Group's revenue and loss for the year would have been EEAZNT

as follows:

Puyang Pingxiang  Puyang Shenyang Shenyang  Yifeng Shanghai  Beijing
Zhiyu Kingwisoft ~ Qinglv Qingzhou ~ Weiyu Customer Jiesheng Hui Total
BREZ R BRE& EREA IRME HEEF LBRER  1RB Eh
RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000
ANEETT \ERTTL NRETR ARETT ARETL ARBTT ARETT ARETL ARETT

Revenue N 8880622 888622 888622 888622 888622 888622 894616 905545 911539
Loss for the year FRER (47,720 (236,014)  (236,065) (235,686) (241,603) (236587) (237.454) (237984) (257,015)
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 35. MEREREBRME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) EEFRERS
During the year, other than disclosed elsewhere in the FR GEOBHRREMIBOTEESE
financial statements, the Group had non-cash Sh s REBGEFTHE TR AR
additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of BENEBERBNIHESFTED AR
RMB35,034,000 (2022: RMB46,265,000) and A R #35,034,0007T (2022 F : A K
RMB35,034,000 (2022: RMB46,265,000), respectively, #% 46,265,000 7T) K& A R #& 35,034,000
in respect of lease arrangements for buildings. TL (2022 % : AK¥ 46,265,000 7T) °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) MEETBHELENEEES
financing activities
Interest-
bearing bank
Consideration and other Lease
payables borrowings liabilities
FFRBRITR
EBARE HAbER HESE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARKTT ARETT

Carrying amount at R2021F4 818/

1 April 2021 FRmEE 260,837 29,000 28,017
Changes from financing cash B &5 &7 & &

flows (70,000) 104,685 (26,657)
New leases e = = 46,265
Interest expenses FI BRI 8,662 7,094 1,311
Lease termination HERIE - = (9,988)
Carrying amount at M2022F3H31B K

31 March 2022 and 20224 5188

1 April 2022 AREE 199,499 140,779 38,948
Changes from financing cash EEEIR SR EEH)

flows (70,000) 87,601 (28,507)
Set off against contingent EIHH A RE

consideration (101,912) - -
New leases g - - 35,034
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B BT B A &) - - 9,557
Interest expenses F BRI 6,187 17,264 2,020
Lease termination HEKIE - = (8,630)
Carrying amount at 7 2023F3 A31HK

31 March 2023 AREE 33,774 245,644 48,422
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 35. REBREREXMT &)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
() Total cash outflow for leases () HERSHRLERE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the HARESRERNEER S RHE 2
statement of cash flows is as follows: RN
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARETT

Within operating activities KREEHHEN 2,398 3,458
Within financing activities B EBEE R 28,507 26,657
30,905 30,115
36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. AR5
In addition to the acquisition transaction in the prior year M BF A& SRR MTzE 20 P sF i 49 3B 13 & 8 Uk BE
and the corresponding contingent consideration and T 5 R IBESARKE R IEMKEB A EMEE30
consideration payables detailed in note 29 to the financial Frefat g AR EE R TEEE A BRI -
statements and the personal guarantees in relation to the RNEFBNERNEBE S AL

Group's bank borrowings detailed in note 30 to the financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with
related parties during the year:

(a) Compensation of key management () ~EBETEEEEBEAENMS
personnel of the Group
The directors and chief executives of the Company are ARREERESTBRABEAAEE
the key management personnel of the Group. Details TEEHEBAR - EFZ2HBRE
of their remuneration are disclosed in note 9 to the R REMEEQ o

financial statements.
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

198

(b) Loans from a related company

In May 2022, ZZ Travel Development Investment
(Qingdao) Co., Ltd.* (FHEIKEFRZELE (FS) R
A A]), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Beijing Tongguan Capital Management
Co., Ltd.* (dbRBEEAREEABRAR]), an entity
indirectly controlled by the Company’s ultimate
controlling party, entered into a loan agreement
pursuant to which Beijing Tongguan Capital
Management Co., Ltd. agreed to provide a loan of
RMB70,000,000 to ZZ Travel Development Investment
(Qingdao) Co., Ltd. for its working capital purpose.

On 30 March 2023, Dalian Kingwisoft Technology
Co., Ltd., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and ZZ Travel Development Investment
(Qingdao) Co., Ltd. entered into supplemental loan
agreements with Beijing Tongguan Capital
Management Co., Ltd. pursuant to which the
repayment dates of loans due from the Group to
Beijing Tongguan Capital Management Co., Ltd. with
an aggregate principal amount of RMB130,000,000
and the corresponding interest payable of
RMB20,144,000 were extended to 31 March 2025,
and the annual interest rate of such loans reduced
from 13.5% to 12.0%, and another loan with a
principal amount of RMB27,000,000 remained to be
interest-free.

Further details of the aforementioned loans from
Beijing Tongguan Capital Management Co., Ltd. as at
the end of the reporting period and the corresponding
interest expenses are set out in notes 30 and 8 to the
financial statements, respectively.

*  for identification purpose only

36. EBEEA RS (&)
(b) EWEKLATER

MR2022F5H ' ARRIZEEZER
BAEREKRERZERE(ES)ER
AEEAD B RS 5 B E
ERIABEEAEREER AT
EXipaE Bt kRBEEARER
ERARIREMFEREREIRE (F
5)BRAFRE AR 70,000,0007T
MER  AEEZEEES -

M2023%F3HA30H - KRB ZEES
EMBARNESERSRIERHNE
BARIRPEREFRERE(ES)E
BAREILRBEEAEREEGRA A
RN ER B B NEELE
RIATRBEREEER AT RS 42
% A R #5 130,000,000 7T M 48 & FE {5 A
B AR¥20,144,000 T E A & X H
BERZ=2025F3 A31H ' Z5EXR
MEFEH135%FE12.0% © AR
S % A AR 27,000,000 TH 2 —%
BERNARE -

RBEHR - EARBIERBEEAR
ERARAANERLERNEFX
BV — P RE1E O BB B 7% R MY R
30 8-
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37. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged for the years ended 31
March 2023 and 31 March 2022.

The Company’s directors review the capital structure on a
periodical basis. As part of the review, the Company’s
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
Company'’s directors, the Group balances its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debts
or the redemption of existing debt.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings divided by the
capital which is the total equity of the Group. The gearing
ratios at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

37. EXER

NEEERHEERARERAE B T2 8 i
BIRFECE  RRNERBECESNESER
AREEREEER NEZ=2023F3 A
31EN2022E3A831BIEEE  AEEY
BEEREE IS TR o

ARREBEEEHRIEARE - (FREEN
—BD ARREFEER T EARRANINALKE
BSHEEXRHBENRR - REARREFNHE
BER AEEFEERMNEE - BITHERE
EIEERMD AR BETHERBEREEHEES
N FEEREEANRE -

AEEERAELREREA - BELER
S BIRTT R ELA (BRI A A (B A SR L
WEFEH - RIS RN BB EMT

2023 £ 2022 F

Interest-bearing bank and FHEERTT R A M A K
other borrowings (RMB’000) (ARBTIT) 245,644 140,779
Total equity (RMB’000) EmeE(ARETT) 1,025,857 1,091,253
Gearing ratio BELE 23.9% 12.9%
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORIES

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

38. RERIETWEMTA

SRR TANKREENT

follows:
Financial assets tREE
2023 2023 £F
Financial
assets at fair Financial
value through  assets at fair
profit or value
loss — through
mandatorily other
designated comprehensive Financial
as such income — assets at
upon initial equity amortised
recognition  investments cost Total
RAVE
FFABEN
tREE—
BHRDLS  RATETA
BREEER Ht2EKE REBHB AR
BRATEGA HEemEE-— TEN
BEMemEE BRRE SRIEE @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Equity investments designated at & E AZ A FEFT AL
fair value through other FEBRNERERE
comprehensive income = 300 = 300
Financial assets at fair value BATES A B
through profit or loss SHEE 11,068 - - 11,068
Contingent consideration HARE 8,459 = = 8,459
Accounts receivable JEMER R - - 599,312 599,312
Financial assets included in STATRNFIE - EfhEk
prepayments, other receivables ~ FEAREMEEN SR
and other assets BE - - 34,906 34,906
Pledged deposits ERER - - 3,057 3,057
Cash and cash equivalents Re RReFEY - - 163,697 163,697
19,527 300 800,972 820,799
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38. HEHETHWERMIE#)

Financial assets (Continued) SRIEE &)
2022 2022 &F
Financial
assets at fair Financial
value through assets at fair
profit or value
loss — through
mandatorily other
designated  comprehensive Finandial
as such income — assets at
upon initial equity amortised
recognition investments cost Total
RATE
AT AR
TREBE —

BEHRE  BAFERA
BR&kEER HttRERE — REERA

BAFERA HESEEE— AHEM
BRmEmAE B A TRAE A
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETT

Equity investments designated at
fair value through other

HE AR AFER AL
2EREOEDRE

comprehensive income - 15,564 - 15,564

Financial assets at fair value BATEFABENS R
through profit or loss EE 4,880 = = 4,880
Accounts receivable FEUER X - = 485,259 485,259

Financial assets included in STAERNFUR - HfbfEl

prepayments, other receivables ~ FEREMEEN SR
and other assets BE - = 67,223 67,223
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEED - = 86,047 86,047
4,880 15,564 638,529 658,973
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

202

CATEGORIES (Continued)

38. REHETHEMIE®)

Financial liabilities SRBEE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
REBERITENSREE
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBTFT
(Restated)
(F&&E75)
Accounts payable FEATBRER 11,517 11,346
Financial liabilities included in other T A A ETRIE R ERT B AR
payables and accruals SRIBE 39,281 13,104
Consideration payables ERRE 33,774 199,499
Interest-bearing bank and other T ERIT R EMERK
borrowings 245,644 140,779
Lease liabilities HEAE 48,422 38,948
378,638 403,676
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 39. €T E v AFERAFERER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s

AEEemTAREEERFERERE

financial instruments, other than those with carrying ERIN) EEEENAFERT -
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as
follows:
Carrying amounts Fair values
IRMEE ATE
2023 F 2022 2023 2022 4%
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFr ARKEFTT AR¥FR ARETT
Financial assets SREE
Equity investments designated ~ #87E A& AFETA
at fair value through other HEh 2R
comprehensive income BRI E 300 15,564 300 15,564
Financial assets at fair value BAFEF AR
through profit or loss EREE 11,068 4,880 11,068 4,880
Contingent consideration AR E 8,459 = 8,459 -
Long-term receivables RAAEWRIR 4,253 672 3,800 641
24,080 21,116 23,627 21,085
Financial liabilities cRAas
Consideration payables FERRE 33,774 199,499 33,774 199,499
Interest-bearing bank and other &1 B R1T & E AL fE 5K
borrowings 245,644 140,779 236,083 140,779
279,418 340,278 269,857 340,278

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged deposits, accounts receivable,
current portion of financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets, accounts payable, and
current portion of financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

EEECHMRENAESEEY ERF
o YRR FTATRN IR - B AR EUGK
AREMEENSREERB D - BAK
REGTARMENREBEREFERNTRE
ERBMONAFEREREERS  £2
HRZETAMNIIHBEE -
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39.

204

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on
quoted market prices. The fair values of unlisted equity
investments have been estimated using a market approach.
The key assumptions applied in the calculation using a
market-based valuation technique are the comparable
companies, price to sales (“P/S”) multiples and discount of
lack of marketability (“DLOM"). Comparable companies are
actively traded in stock market and the multiples are publicly
available. Also, to adjust the fair value difference between a
publicly traded company and a private company, an
independent valuer engaged by the Group has applied the
option price model to estimate the DLOM. The directors of
the Company believe that the estimated fair values resulting
from the valuation techniques, which are recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position, and the related
changes in fair values, which are recorded in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, where applicable, are
reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate values
at the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of contingent consideration is determined
using the Monte Carlo simulation model under the income
approach.

The fair values of long-term receivables, consideration
payables and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

39. ERMTAZAFERAFEER

(%)

EREEMNBBENAFENIZBESESA
X5 (CRHZBR B ERIN FRAIRBZ T A
MERBEARR - U TIERBRRARMEFTAF
:

tHREREZ A FHEIRED S RE
H o FLmERRE 2 AHEIMERMISA
bt o A AT S RERN A ERMERE
PIEANEIEZERKXA/ALEBLA  MHEX
(IR ) BB R BRZ TSR T ([ ER
ZMERAMESE]D - AL RBEBRENS
X ZER ARSI AFRES W B
ABEMAREMARBZEANRFEE
£ AEEZENEYLEMERAEE
RBEVEFTREZ MIHRBIETE - ARFE
ER(E - HERMASEHIIRRGE BN
ARHEFT A HERIRN B 2@
YWes (AnER) WA A FEZSBESIE - B
RBEMRBRAENEE

FRREBZ R FHEDRBRAEZERRER
RRHRIVEE

RERMFE - BARENRE BRITRE
tERO A FEIMEREFBRLUGRK - E8
JR\Be B FIEA R B B &) T AR RAT RIS R RAL
RRHARREREFERFH
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments categorised within Level 3
together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at the end

of the reporting period:
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % 202343 A31 HILF/E

39. ERMTAZAFERAFEER

(&)

ATARBERARIERE=FNEHTE
BENEXTAIBRRGABERZERTE
BURE DT :

Significant Sensitivity of fair value

Financial instrument unobservable input  Value/range to the input

ERFTUHE

$MTA AR B BE  ATEERARBOSBE

Market approach

5%

Unlisted equity investment at Average P/S multiple  0.97 10% increase/decrease in multiple
fair value through other of peers would result in increase/decrease in
comprehensive income of fair value by RMB27,000
RMB300,000

BRAFEFAHEMEAKREN RRXARFHMER 097 S8 EF TR 10% S8R AFE
JELMHERREARE =8 En R AR ¥ 27,000 T
300,0007T

Discount for lack of 23% 1% increase/decrease in discount
marketability would result in decrease/increase in
fair value by R\MB4,000
MRZ s nEtTE 23% P LEF TR 1% S8R AT ER
D/ A R# 4,000 7T

Unlisted equity investments at ~ Average P/S multiple  0.64 to 11.61 10% increase/decrease in multiple
fair value through profit or of peers would result in increase/decrease in
loss of RMB7,116,000 fair value by RMB 18,000 to

RMB295,000

BRATVEFABENELTE RRXRARFHMHEE 064%E11.61 BB LA TE10% BERATE

=RE AR 7,116,000 7T 58 0, M AR ¥ 18,000 TE A

Discount for lack of
marketability

BRZ 5 A M TR

23% t0 29%

23% E29%

R # 295,000 7T

1% increase/decrease in discount
would result in decrease/increase in
fair value by RMB3,000 to
RMB38,000

P EF TR 1% S ER A FER
LA R 3,000 TEARE
38,000 7T
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 39.
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

EMITRZAFERAIFEHER

(%)

Significant Sensitivity of fair value
Financial instrument unobservable input  Value/range to the input
BERTAEE
£EIA A& BE EE AT EHBABBNHRE
Monte Carlo simulation model
RIFRERKIRE
Contingent consideration Volatility rate 54.55% 5% increase/decrease in volatility
(fair value portion) of would result in increase/decrease in
RMB68,890,000 fair value by RMB1,711,000/
RMB2,080,000
IARE (A FERD) ARE KEHE 54.55% RENE EF TR 5% I ERATE
68,890,000 7T #hn,/ A AR 1,711,000 7T,
AR# 2,080,000 7T
Discount rate 2.19% 1% increase/decrease in discount
would result in decrease/increase in
fair value by RMB 1,498,000/
RMB226,000
= 2.19% LA TR 1% BERAFE

S g AR 1,498,000 7T,
AFR#226,000 7T

The discount for lack of marketability represents the
amounts of premiums and discounts determined by the
Group that market participants would take into account
when pricing the investments.
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 39. €T A A AFERLAFEER
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement

(&)

DNFEER

TRIFAEEERIANATEAEE

hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: -
Assets measured at fair value: BRATEENEE :
As at 31 March 2023 H2023F3H31H
Fair value measurement using
ERAUTHENATLETE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
i EATEBE EAFAUEE
miEHE BWARE WARE
(F-B&R) (BFZER) (F=EHR Ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARKTT ARKTT ARMETT
Equity investments designated 57 AR AFEF AK
at fair value through other 2 E e M i
comprehensive income HE = = 300 300
Financial assets at fair value BRATFEFABRZD
through profit or loss TREE 3,952 - 7,116 11,068
Contingent consideration HARE - - 8,459 8,459
3,952 - 15,875 19,827
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 39. €@ T A A AFERLAFEER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEEEHK B
As at 31 March 2022 R2022F3H31H

Fair value measurement using

ERATEENAFEE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERE BEAAEE EANATEER
minRE AR AR
(F—EH) (E=EH) (E=EH) BEr
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Equity investments designated 18 AR AFEFTA
at fair value through other Hi 2= R
comprehensive income ®E - - 15,564 15,564
Financial assets at fair value BATER A B
through profit or loss TREE 4,580 - 300 4,880
4,580 - 15,864 20,444
The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 RERN - E=MAFEFE2EHHNOT ¢

during the year are as follows:

2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AE®F T
Equity investments designated at fair value —#5F A& 7\ FEFFA Efth
though other comprehensive income PEN IR RE
At 1 April R4H1H 15,564 1,328
Total losses recognised in other REM 2SR E BB
comprehensive income (15,264) =
Equity interest retained upon disposal of & Mi/& A RIRR B8 A9 A4
subsidiaries - 300
Equity interest acquired under accounts  HRIEEUBR KA E e HEUUE Y
receivable settlement arrangements % - 13,936
At 31 March K3A31H 300 15,564
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 39. €T A A AFERLAFEER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

(&)
P EERE)
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBTIT

Financial assets at fair value though profit &7\ F1EFF A8z AY

or loss TEEE
At 1 April R4818 300 =
Total losses recognised in profit or loss RIBR RN E BB (484) =
Acquisition of subsidiaries W BB A A 1,000 -
Purchases BE 5,400 =
Equity interest retained upon disposal of & Ei & A 7],/ BB A A6

an associate/a subsidiary RE YRR 900 300
At 31 March M3H31H 7,116 300
Contingent consideration (fair value HARE (LN FESS)

portion)
At 1 April R4H1H - -
Total gains recognised in profit or loss RIBRER W =B 68,890 -
Set off against consideration payables EIHEN B (60,431) -
At 31 March M3HA31H 8,459 -

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2022: Nil).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s long-term receivables,
consideration payables and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings for which fair values are disclosed as
RMB3,800,000, RMB33,774,000 and RMB236,083,000,
respectively (2022: RMB641,000, RMB199,499,000 and
RMB 140,779,000, respectively), are categorised within Level
2 (2022: Level 2).

FR cHEERSHREBENRAFETSIT
NG —REEE — o EER - MEE A
BB = (20224 &) o

MR2023F3A31H "EE R FED
®E A AR 3800000 AR
33,774,000t & AR #236,083,00070(2022
F: AR¥641,0007T + AR¥ 199,499,000
7T & A R #140,779,000 7T ) B & HA & U 7%
H ENRERBRITREMERSES
FEHQ0202F : FH) -
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40.

210

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's risk associated with its major financial
instruments include credit risk, liquidity risk and market risks
(foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk).
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner. There has been no change
to the types of the Group’s exposure in respect of financial
instruments or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risks.

Credit risk

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an
internal credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. The Group’s major customers are mostly
reputable large entities.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 32% (2022:
24%) of the total accounts receivable was due from the
Group’s largest debtor and 78% (2022: 61%) of the total
accounts receivable was due from the Group’s top five
debtors as at 31 March 2023.

At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of
the financial assets of the Group as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position best represent
their respective amounts of the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which could cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties.

40.

MRREEEERBE

AEBEETZSRTARBONRREIEE
ERk - RBETRRRTHELR(INEE
B FRERRREBERE) o AT
BEZEZRBOERK - EEBHZFARE
TTEEREE  UERKLEEZRIEE
Hie o AEBEM SR T AMAERR 2 ER
KEEERTERR 2T ABBELS -

FERR

ERZERAHELZA - AEESRAAE
FEENDEGHEBEEPNEEER X
REZBEFPHEERE - RTEFZEEL
BREFDBFRAMA - HEEREFE T
BE - URERRIRBRETER DA MET -
AEENEEEPAZHAEER TR

= o

B =

MR2023F3A31H ARERERETE 2
32% (2022 % : 24%) REAEBEZKED
AR EWBRFRAREE 2 78% (2022 F 1 61%)
REAEBRAKREBA  BAEEHEEF
EER -

REBEHR - ARERGEMBHMRRARE
IR EENRAERERTEHF IR
EETEEMBSAEERZMBIBRNER
=BIEERRZEEELE -



KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> £ #}- 45 45 [ 4 A FR A 7]

2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT 4F#}

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fok 3 S 255 e e B

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % 202343 A31 HILF/E

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Financial assets subject to external credit rating

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group
assessed 12-month ECL for bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default and loss given
default of the respective credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12-month ECL for bank balances is considered to
be insignificant.

Financial assets subject to internal credit rating

In order to minimise the credit risk for accounts receivable,
the management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, accounts receivable are generally grouped under a
provision matrix according to internal credit risk grading
assessment based on shared credit risk characteristics by
reference to factors, such as repayment histories and current
past due exposure. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under expected credit loss model for
each reporting period.

For financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets, the management of the Group
makes periodic collective assessments as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of receivables based on
historical settlement records and past experience.

BEEREEEERBE®)

EERREE)
BEIIBEETRYZHMEE

HRZEHF I REBRREERBRTRE
SR B EBRENORT  RRITESRZ
EERBAER - ARBEE2EINBERTR
BEZMEBEENCRTREMENRER
BHBBENENFARITESRNI12EARE
HEEER - REBFHERE - RITEHRH
REAEREEERKESTEK -

BERABEETRZHMEE

BERERUERZEERR  AREE
EEJEE%/JE XEGFEEEEEERE 5
B R E B EIR T - ARERERERER LT
U EIEIETS o 1AM - BUIRRR—REE
B HE R M E PR A H AR SR
= REERAZEERBRFBELHNAEE
EERRRENREEE T ETOME -
A - AERERSHREDBRREEREERS
BRFVETTRIERE °

LAt ATEN IR - B RUGRIA R Bt B &
MEREEMS - AREEEEENELE
o8 OB - E B R RAER & &
Wk IE RO R R B 1 o
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Financial assets subject to internal credit rating

(Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

40.

MEEREEE

&R

ZRBUGR (#)

BERBEETRZEHEE (&)

AEBEHNABEERRFRFHEEATER

comprises the following categories: B
Accounts
Category Description receivable Other receivables
bl 9t BA FE W AR K H b fE W RROR
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL—not  12-month ECL
does not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired
(VR HFEIWENVRRERE  BXYEBEMAAHKIE 2HREHREEFE 12EAEREEER
— WEEERE
Watch list The counterparty frequently repays after due Lifetime ECL—not  12-month ECL
dates but usually settle in full credit-impaired
REE HFEIREFERINBHREN  HRERBEE 2HEMEEEE 2 B ATEEME EEE
— WREERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL—not  Lifetime ECL — not
risk since initial recognition through credit-impaired credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
2=3 FRAMEUENERSINE R EERRE 2HEHEEEE 2HRAGEER
A HERR LA R ERE 18 AN — WEEERE — WEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating that the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL — credit-
credit-impaired credit-impaired impaired
Eia BERBRNEELNREERE THEREESE 2HEHAGEERR
— EERE — EERE
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. FIKEREEEERBE ®)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EER &)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of the TR A EBBEETEBEEBRTI N
Group's financial assets which are subject to ECL SREEMNEERBAE :
assessment:
As at 31 March 2023 #2023F3H31H

Internal credit rating
External AHERFR
credit rating Lowrisk  Watchlist  Doubtful Loss Total
MBEETR ERk BRLE 2 B -
RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFRT

Cash and cash equivalents BeRBLEED 163,697* - - - - 163,697
Pledged deposits BEAER 3,057* - - - - 3,057
Accounts receivable FEUER 3
Gross amount k] - 426,909 161,892 16,801 339 605,941
Loss allowance BiERE - (345) (2,549) (3.396) (339) (6,629)
- 426,564 159,343 13,405 - 599,312
Other receivables Hth e Ua
Gross amount k] - 30,455 - 6,042 21,928 58,425
Loss allowance EERE - (23) - (1,568) (21,928) (23,519)
- 30,432 - 4,474 - 34,906
Total st 166,754 456,996 159,343 17,879 - 800,972
Average loss rate THEEE - 0.08% 1.57% 21.73% 100%
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. BIXEREEBERBEK &)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERb &)
As at 31 March 2022 R2022F3H31H

Internal credit rating

Extema| ng%gg@&
credit rating Lowrisk  Watch list Doubtful Loss Total
MEPEETR ERER  BERE TR BR it

RVMBO00  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEN 86,047* = = = = 86,047
Accounts receivable FEWUER T
Gross amount mE - 450,278 15,053 22,999 - 438,330
Loss allowance EEEE - (177) (131) (2,763) = (3,071)
- 450,101 14,922 20,236 - 485,259
Other receivables HbfEseRI8
Gross amount fEk] - 43,382 - - 33,625 77,007
Loss allowance BiEkE - (23) = = (9,761) (9,784)
- 43,359 - - 23,864 67,223
Total st 86,047 493,460 14,922 20,236 23,864 638,529
Average loss rate THERE - 0.05% 0.87% 120%  13.8-100%
* The Group’s major bank balances are deposited at banks with @ AEB K EERITERTFHRRNFELRTRABEK
investment grade according to The Standard & Poor’s rating. B RBIHIIRAT
The loss rates are estimated based on historical observed B R Jh IR IR FE W R IE A TE ST EE HA N B3R 1
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are BEERELARGE UHRBERBETERAN
adjusted for forward-looking information that is available B AR ESHATEEERMEL AR - &
without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly HBEe TR A UERE B TREI
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information FIHRAEREE R 2 B o

about specific debtors is updated.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The following table shows a movement of ECL that has
been recognised for accounts receivable under the simplified

&R

40. BiIREMEEREREE &)

TRIVREREBOEEUERR T AR
MEREEERNES -

approach:
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2 HITE A 2 HITEHE
FEEEE FEEE
(W EERE) (E8RE) et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARFIT AREFIT AREFIT
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4 A8 1H 310 - 310
Provision of ECL TEHEEEEEE 2,761 = 2,761
At 31 March 2022 and M2022%3A318 %
1 April 2022 202294 8 1H 3,071 - 3,071
Provision of ECL T EHEREE 3,219 339 3,558
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3 HA31H 6,290 339 6,629

215



KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> £ #}- 45 45 [ e 4 A R A ]
2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT 4F#}

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 0 I 5 e % B

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &% 202343 A31 HILFE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. IR EEEEREE @)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERK &)
The following table shows a movement of ECL that TRIRD BT ATEL A - EithfEUFRIE
has been recognised for financial assets included in FEMEENSREERANTEREEEER
prepayments, other receivables and other assets: ZEE

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month (not credit- (credit-
ECL impaired) impaired) Total
2 HATEHA

FEER EURM

REAEY (AERFE FEESE
FEEBR RE) (FERE) # et
RMB'000 ~ RMB’000  RMB‘000  RMB'000
ARBTIT ARETT ARWTT ARETT

At 1 April 2021 R2021F4 818 3 = = 3
Provision of ECL BRI EHERE 20 = 9,761 9,781
At 31 March 2022 and MW2022F3 /318K

1 April 2022 20224 F81H 23 = 9,761 9,784
Provision of ECL TBEREEEEEE - 1,568 12,167 13,735
At 31 March 2023 7R2023F3 A31H 23 1,568 21,928 23,519
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. IBEKREEREEREE @)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk nBESRR
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors ABEERDESRRE  AEEERNERE
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed HBERATENR S RESEEYWKFE - LA
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s ARNEFRSEREHES NRERESRENE
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash Ao
flows.
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at RBEER - AEESHEENIHBERGR
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual BAEEEANTHNEEHEBIEENES
undiscounted payments to be made on the earliest date on HARBEBATEE) AT -

which the Group can be required to pay, is as follows:

As at 31 March 2023 R202343531H

Less than Over 1 year

1 year or and less

on demand than 5 years Over 5 years Total
DR1EF BiB1F
FRER RINSF BiB5F st

RMB’000  RMB’'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETT AR®TT ARETT AR¥TT

Accounts payable FERTRRER 11,517 = = 11,517
Financial liabilities included in &+ A & (< 5008 K fE
other payables and accruals ~ stEFAMNTRAE 39,281 = = 39,281
Consideration payables ERRE 28,519 5,463 = 33,982
Interest-bearing bank and FTERITREAMEK
other borrowings 69,212 208,994 - 278,206
Lease liabilities HERE 23,628 31,159 716 55,503
172,157 245,616 716 418,489
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40.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

BEEREEEERBE®)

REBETEE®)

As at 31 March 2022 20223 H31H
Less than  Over 1 year
1 year or and less
on demand than 5 years Over 5 years Total
DR F @1 F
FIREK  RIRSF Ha38 5 F Foh
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&&E75) (&=75))
Accounts payable FEfTRRSX 11,346 = = 11,346
Financial liabilities included in &1 A Efth JE 15 /08 K J&
other payables and accruals FFEANEREE 13,104 = = 13,104
Consideration payables FERRAE 70,000 140,000 = 210,000
Interest-bearing bank and T RRIT R EAME K
other borrowings 140,779 - - 140,779
Lease liabilities HEaE 22,115 18,975 - 41,090
257,344 158,975 - 416,319
Foreign currency risk SN ) e

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk is mainly
attributable to those financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, cash and
cash equivalents and financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals denominated in the currencies other
than the functional currency of the entity to which they
related. The management manages and monitors this
exposure to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

AEEHBROINERRTEHRE ABREER
DREE B N BB SHEM T AR R -
Hit BUKIAREMEENSREE B
KR FEBY ARG AR A B SRR K R
ERMERAGB EEEEETERER
B - DARELR MBS B R SREVE E 181
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency

40. IR EMEBEEERBE @)

HhEELRR (49)

RBERR - NEBUIMNEGTENEEEE

denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the rEEaEMNERENT :
end of the reporting period are as follows:
2023 & 20224
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE =L BE afs
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARMFT ARMTT ARMTE
United States Dollars ETT 1,288 2 10,290 =
Hong Kong Dollars BT 100,652 4,594 28,741 7,497
101,940 4,596 39,031 7,497

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the functional currencies’ exchange rates of respective
entities, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's profit/(loss) before tax arising from the monetary
assets and monetary liabilities denominated in the currencies
other than the functional currency of the entity to which
they related.

TRINTRIBERREMAE M E BT
HEHERT - ERUEREREER S
MEBITENEEEEREBREMELEN
AEERT TG (B18) $IAAME AL
BB ZAENBEEPNGURE -

Increase/ 2023 2022

(decrease) in Increase/ Increase/

functional (decrease) in (decrease) in

currencies’ loss before  profit before

exchange rates tax tax

2023 F 2022 F

Thee e ER FRBE A5 18 R A0 % F

EFH(THE) & GR2) & R

% RMB’000 RMB’000

% ARBTFT ARBTFT

United States Dollars ETT 5 (64) 515
(5) 64 (515)

Hong Kong Dollars BT 5 (4,803) 1,061
(5) 4,803 (1,061)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances. The Group's
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings were not at
floating rate.

The directors of the Company consider the interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances is insignificant and
therefore no sensitivity analysis on such risk has been
prepared.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from held
for trading investments classified under financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss. The Group’s equity price
risk is mainly concentrated on equity instruments operating
in securities and brokerage and internet industry sectors
quoted in the Stock Exchange and National Association of
Securities Dealers Automated Quotations.

If the equity prices of the held for trading investments had
been 5% higher/lower (2022: 5%) at the end of the
reporting period, the Group’s loss before tax for the year
ended 31 March 2023 would decrease/increase by
RMB 198,000, and the Group's profit before tax for the year
ended 31 March 2022 would increase/decrease by
RMB229,000 as a result of the changes in fair value.

0. IEMEEEEREE &)

AR E

AREBNMEER T BEPRIBITEARESL
MR B - AERERET B RTT REMER
W IFRFBFEE R -

RABEEZTR BT BIRITHABRA AN X
BRI AEAX - B % e A R SR
BT -

S ERER

AEBEGYBEREATEFABZN SR
BEZRKFEBEREMELZRAEERR
%o AEBENRERREBRRTEBRA R
AMETIE S B ) RE R AL A R B RTTR

HALER o

WMIBEEEREZEGBERNREHR L
Tt/ TFE5% (20224 : 5%)  KEBEE
20233 A31 B IEFE 2 R R E 8 &R
L IEMARE198,0007T - EAREEHE
20223 A31 B L FE 2 B A &) #§ B
NEEZE ML, B ARE229,0007T °
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4. XRANHBRAFE

COMPANY
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end RIBEHR AR EZENB AR ZEE BN
of the reporting period are as follows: T
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and registered  attributable to the
Name operations share capital Company Principal activities
HEMRYL/ MR B#T  AAREGER
A% EENH L&/ EmRA Bk TEER
203F  2022%F
KingNine Holdings Limited Cayman Islands US$1,548 100 100  Investment holding
KingNine Holdings Limited HEis 1,548 T 100 100 REER
Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 100 100  Investment holding
CERENMRARAR hEl/ BRI 10,000,000 57T 100 100 BEER
Dalian Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
("Dalian Kingwisoft”) services
AELZREMERINER AT hEl/ERE  AR%100,000,0007T 100 100 $RA1E A RE
(TR&EeE])
Shenzhen Kingwisoft Data Services PRC/Mainland China RMB33,500,000 100 100 Provision of data centre
Co., Ltd.* services
AT EREEEREERAR  PE/PENM AR¥ 33,500,000 70 100 100 REBBRLRY
Qingdao Nanyou Information PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
Technology Co., Ltd.* services
EEHBERRINERAR hEl/ B AR 10,000,0007T 100 100 fRfE RS
Dalian Kingwisoft Internet Service PRC/Mainland China RMB 100,000,000 100 100 Provision of back-office
Outsourcing Co., Ltd.* services
AESERBRERBICERAF B/ PEAE AR 100,000,0007 100 100 1R4% &R
Chengdu Rongzhi Hudong Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100  Provision of comprehensive
Co., Ltd.* marketing services
RBREEHREERAR L/ RER AR 10,000,000 7T 100 100 REZEEHERS
Wuhan Kingwisoft Technology Co.,  PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
Ltd.* services
RELERENMRAERRA hE/ B AE# 10,000,000 7 100 100 fRfHE 8 R%
Leshan Kingwisoft Technology Co., PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
Ltd.* services
2 ERENRERAT hE/HER AR¥ 10,000,000 70 100 100 HREtHE AR
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41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

41. XA T E R RFHE @)

COMPANY (Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and registered  attributable to the
Name operations share capital Company Principal activities
HEMAL R BT AAREGER
a8 EENE LB/ amRE Bt TERER
203F 20225
Kunshan Kingwisoft Information PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
Technology Co., Ltd.* services
RLEEEEMRERAA B/ B AR 10,000,0007 100 100 1RA4H&E RS
Chengdu Kingwisoft Data Services PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 100 100 Provision of back-office
Co., Ltd.* services
K EREBBREER AR hEl/ B AR 10,000,000 7 100 100 1RA% A RS
Luzhou Kingwisoft Technology Co., PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 100 100 Provision of back-office
Ltd.* services
BN ERESEREERAR h B/ E R AR 10,000,000 7 100 100 REERERS
Xiangyang Kingwisoft Internet PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
Technology Co., Ltd.* services
EL B EMBREBRAR B/ E R ARK#10,000,0007T 100 100 RA4% S R%
Dalian Zhiyin Internet Technology Co., PRC/Mainland China RMB28,000,000 60 60  Provision of back-office
Ltd.* (“Dalian Zhiyin") services
AEBREBARRERAR((KE FB/ RER AR 28,000,000 7 60 60 #RE% AR
BiR])
Mianyang Kingwisoft Internet Service  PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 100 60  Provision of back-office
Co., Ltd.* services
BEEEERERBER AR B/ E R AE#10,000,0007T 100 60 Rt A RS
ZZC Corporate Services Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100  Provision of corporate
services
PHERCERBERAR 0 1%L 100 100 FREERRRH

*  These are subsidiaries of DalLian Kingwisoft.

Except for KingNine Holdings Limited, the equity interests of
the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly held by the

Company.

The English name of the above principal subsidiaries
registered in the PRC are for identification purpose only.

* RERFRANEDZRNEAF]

o

B KingNine Holdings Limited 7h

MEARZBESHARBBERSE -

iR B R = R M B A BRI R X AT

EHEA -

L EZE
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PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

The subsidiaries listed in the above table are, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

Contractual arrangements

Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“DaLian Kingwisoft Group”), which are among the entities
acquired in the acquisition transaction completed on 15
October 2020, engage in business of provision of value-
added telecommunications services that is subject to
restrictions imposed by relevant PRC laws on foreign
investors of foreign-invested telecommunication enterprises
which engage in the provision of value-added
telecommunications services.

Due to such restrictions under the relevant PRC laws, and as
advised by the PRC legal adviser of the Company, it was not
viable for KingNine to directly hold any equity ownership in
the DalLian Kingwisoft Group. Instead, KingNine, in line with
common practice in industries in the PRC subject to
restrictions imposed by the PRC laws on relevant foreign
investors and/or foreign ownership on foreign-invested
enterprises, achieves effective control over, and receives the
entire economic benefits generated by the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group through a series of contractual
agreements entered between Kingwisoft Technology Co.,
Ltd. (the "WFOE"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
KingNine established as a wholly foreign owned enterprise
in the PRC, on one hand, and each of the DaLian Kingwisoft
and its registered shareholders, on the other hand (the
“Contractual Arrangements”).

41.

ARATNKE QR FE @)

BEEE/
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o M fte MM B A RFHIE  EFR

ﬁrﬁ'lgﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬁémﬁ °
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B |) A1 2020510 A 15 B e U EE X
PUEENER Y —  HNSFREEES WE
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BEEERFENINEHIREEELEMNINRZE
HRIPR A o

AR ERE P EAEIE TR A BR &) R
A AR R BAZEB TS A KingNine B
BEAESEEENEMBREL T E ]
1T MR - BEZ P BEEEEEINEIRE
&N HHNE T ERINE BT RERE N 2 R
Frii PR A AR B 1T 3 — MR 1B ] - KingNine & 18
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KingNine AR B S BINE 2 BB ¥R
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41.
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PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Contractual arrangements (Continued)

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Group has
rights to variable returns from its involvement with the
Dalian Kingwisoft Group, has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the Dalian Kingwisoft
Group, and is considered to have control over the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group. Consequently, the Dalian Kingwisoft
Group is considered to be subsidiaries of the Group and the
financial statements of the Dalian Kingwisoft Group are
included in the Group's consolidated financial statements
from 15 October 2020.

However, there are uncertainties regarding the
interpretation and application of current and future PRC
laws and regulations which could affect the Company’s
ability to exercise control over the DaLian Kingwisoft Group,
its right to receive substantially all of the economic interest
generated by the DaLian Kingwisoft Group, and its ability to
consolidate the financial results of the DaLian Kingwisoft
Group into the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
The Company believes that, based on the legal opinion
obtained from the Company’s PRC legal adviser, the
Contractual Arrangements are legally binding and
enforceable and do not violate current PRC laws and
regulations.

41.

AATHWKE QT FE®)
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THE COMPANY

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 42,

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
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KA B AR R

RTINS R BIERARERT -

2023 & 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EMEEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHTB AR E 305,252 1,012,370
Due from subsidiaries NI R 102,875 47,241
Contingent consideration FARE 8,459 -
Property and equipment LIEIS G 6 23
Total non-current assets ERENBEERE 416,592 1,059,634
CURRENT ASSETS MENE
Prepayments and other receivables TE A RI8 K E fth fE W IR 376 416
Cash and cash equivalents ReKIREEEY 92,713 11,919
Total current assets BB EERE 93,089 12,335
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE
Other payables and accruals H At T IB R BT E 2,960 1,671
Due to subsidiaries FEASTHT B A Bl FE 492 741
Consideration payables JERRAEB 28,519 70,000
Total current liabilities mE) B BB 31,971 72,412
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) RBEE(AE)FHE 61,118 (60,077)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #&ER GBI A & 477,710 999,557
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBBE
Consideration payables FESRAE 5,255 129,499
Total non-current liabilities ERBaERRE 5,255 129,499
Net assets BEFE 472,455 870,058
EQUITY s
Share capital % 40,442 35,395
Reserves e 432,013 834,663
Total equity REmiasn 472,455 870,058
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 42. KRR BB BAR AT (&)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows: RATIHERELET :
Share
premium Contributed Translation Accumulated
account surplus reserve losses Total
BRIDEERE SABK EXREE RHER @st

RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBEFT ARETT ARMTT ARETT ARETT

At 1 April 2021 RN2021%F481H 944,652 16,655 41,244 (104,592) 897,959
Loss and total comprehensive FREE R ZH

loss for the year ERRRE - = = (63,296) (63,296)
Transfers between reserves  FEfE &R - (16,655) = 16,655 =
At 31 March 2022 and 720224 3H31H

1 April 2022 ’2022%F4A1H 944,652 - 41,244 (151,233) 834,663
Loss and total comprehensive FREE K2 M

loss for the year EBEeE - = - (582,849)  (582,849)
Issue of shares BT 180,199 - - = 180,199
At 31 March 2023 M2023F3H31H 1,124,851 - 41,244 (734,082) 432,013

43. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 43. #HLEMBHREK

STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for ZEBBRARD N 2023F6 A26HEEE
issue by the board of directors on 26 June 2023. S IR T o
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non- ZAEERBEEREFTRFEZZENEE  BEF
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,  KRIFIERRERTE (8% 8 © T3 2 K EBEZ 5
as extracted from the published audited financial statements and  $&K - WAL =5 (L@ ) ) HR T »

restated as appropriate, is set out below.

Year ended 31 March

HZ3A3MHLEE
2023 F 2022 F 20214 20204 20194
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&%) (KEF) KE3) KE7)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETT ARSTT ARETFT ARETT

RESULTS £

Revenue A 888,622 734,021 264,368 15,096 3,367
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELADEF (E518) (236,956) 84,016 41,339 1,583 (242,925)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrERiEe,/ (%) 942 (12,886) (10,648) (170) (696)

Profit/(loss) for the year from FRBFECEEB D/

continuing operations (E18) (236,014) 71,130 30,691 1,413 (243,621)
Profit/(loss) for the year from FRBK I HEEHER
discontinued operations wH(E1E) - 5,825 (3,815) = =
Profit/(loss) for the year FEREFH,(EE) (236,014) 76,955 26,876 1,413 (243,621)
Attributable to; AT AL
Owners of the Company RABHEAA (230,136) 80,350 26,153 1,413 (243,621)
Non-controlling interests JEPRARIE TS (5.878) (3,395) 723 = =
(236,014) 76,955 26,876 1,413 (243,621)
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As at 31 March
®3A31AR
2023 & 20224 20214 20204 20194
(Restated) (Restated)
(&)  (F&E5)
ARBETFT ARBTFT ARETT AREFT ARETT

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Total assets
Total liabilities

EERERE
BEE
BaE

1,492,825 1,574,100 1,415,441 668,692 613,220
(466,968)  (482,847) (399,810) (20,062) (8,322)

1,025,857 1,091,253 1,015,631 648,630 604,898

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company
Non-controlling interests

ARBHEAEIEER

JEE B

1,014,166 1,071,105 999,904 648,630 604,898
11,691 20,148 15,727 = =

1,025,857 1,091,253 1,015,631 648,630 604,898
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